
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295 
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk 

Website: www.breckland.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 

Committee - CABINET 

Date & Time - MONDAY 20 SEPTEMBER 2021 AT 9.30AM 

Venue - THE BRECKLAND CONFERENCE 
CENTRE, ANGLIA ROOM, ELIZABETH 
HOUSE, WALPOLE LOKE, DEREHAM, 
NR19 1EE 

 
THIS MEETING WILL BE STREAMED LIVE VIA THE LINK BELOW AND WILL BE ACTIVATED AT 
THE START OF THE MEETING 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 
 

The Cabinet 
  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Philip Cowen 
Cllr Paul Hewett 
 

Cllr Mark Robinson 
Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 
 
Democratic Services  
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Friday 10 September 2021  

Public Document Pack

mailto:democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/Streaming-of-committee-meetings


 
Cabinet 

20 September 2021 

 

 

 

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

1. MINUTES  4 - 7 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2021. 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.   
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972. 
 

 

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

 The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council. 
 

 

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting. 
 

 

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM)  

 

 To consider the grants put forward (if any).   
 

 

8. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME (LCTRS) FOR 2022 - 2023  8 - 15 

 Report of Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance, Revenues 
& Benefits. 
 

 

9. LOCAL PLAN REVIEW  16 - 77 

 Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member 
for Economic Development & Growth. 
 

 

10. NORFOLK STRATEGIC FLOOD ALLIANCE - STRATEGY  78 - 99 

 Report of Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Waste and 
Environment. 
 
 
 
 

 



Cabinet 
20 September 2021 

 
 
 Page(s) 

herewith 

11. QUARTER 1 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021-22  100 - 107 

 Report of Councillor Philip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance, Revenue 
and Benefits.  
 

 

12. CONSTITUTION – CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES  108 - 138 

 Report of Councillor Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Planning, Leisure 
and Contracts. 
 

 

13. THETFORD TOWN CENTRE THRIVING PLACES PROGRAMME AND 
THE MAHARAJAH RANJIT & DULEEP SINGH PARK  

139 - 142 

 Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader and Executive Member 
for Economic Development & Growth. 
 

 

14. NEXT MEETING   

 To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on Monday 
15 November at 9.30am in the Conference Centre, Elizabeth House, 
Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE. 
 

 

 



 
 
 

 

1 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

CABINET 
 

Held on Monday, 26 July 2021 at 9.30 am in 
Breckland Conference Centre, The Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 

Dereham, NR19 1EE 
 
 

PRESENT  
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Claussen (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Gordon Bambridge 
Cllr Paul Hewett 
 

Cllr Ian Sherwood 
Cllr Sarah Suggitt 
Cllr Alison Webb 
 

 
Also Present  
Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen 
Cllr Vera Dale 

Cllr Philip Morton 
Cllr Peter Wilkinson 
 

 
In Attendance  
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place & Delivery and Monitoring 

Officer 
Anton Bull - Procurement & Contracts Manager 
Ryan Pack - Innovation and Change Business Partner 
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader 

 
 
 Action By 

 

  
63/21 MINUTES   
  
 The minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2021 were confirmed as a 

correct record.  
 

  
64/21 APOLOGIES   
  
 Apologies were received from Councillors Cowen and Robinson.  
  
65/21 URGENT BUSINESS   
  
 None.  
  
66/21 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
  
 None.  
  
67/21 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   
  
 The Chairman welcomed all non-Members present to the meeting.  

4

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet 
26 July 2021 

 
 

2 

 Action By 

 
  
68/21 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)   
  
 The Chairman had attended a flag raising ceremony to celebrate Norfolk Day, 

which celebrated all things Norfolk.  He thanked everyone who made the 
County the fine County that it was. 

 

  
69/21 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)   
  
 The Executive Member for Housing, Health and Communities, Councillor 

Alison Webb informed Members that the following applications had been 
received for approval during July: 
 

 Beetley Parish Council £1,874 to improve play facilities. 
 

 Ashill Parish Council £1,923 to provide a new notice board on the village 
green. 

 

 Shipdham Parish Council £1,900 to carry out a range of improvements at 
the WI hall. 

 

 Iceni Partnership £4,982  to relaunch a weekly lunch club in Swaffham. 
 

 Brisley Village Hall £5,000 to re-roof the village hall. 
 

 Sporle Pavilion £5,000 to improve play facilities. 
 

 Caring Friends for Cancer Mid Norfolk £2,085 to purchase additional 
equipment for its loan library. 

 

 Croxton Village Social Club £5,000 to contribute towards a major 
refurbishment of the club. 

 
Members spoke of their appreciation to the Executive Member and her team 
and said the grants would continue to transform and inspire communities. 

 

  
70/21 Q1 21/22 PERFORMANCE REPORT   
  
 In the absence of the Executive Member for Customer, Digital and 

Performance, the Innovation and Change Business Partner presented the 
report to Members that provided an overview of the Council’s performance for 
the period of 1st April to 30th June 2021. 
 
It was highlighted that the Overview and Scrutiny Commission had requested 
further information on the reporting of complaints, specifically on areas the 
complaints covered.  It was also highlighted that the staff turnover rate was 
particularly high, but this had been down to the recent cessation of the shared 
partnership with South Holland District Council.   
 
The Executive Member for Property and Projects felt that the issue with the 
staff turnover was a technicality and reference could have been made to that 
fact within the report. 
 
The Deputy Leader asked if any changes as a result of the Worksmart 20:20 
project would be included within the next report.  The Innovation and Change 

 

5



Cabinet 
26 July 2021 

 
 

3 

 Action By 

 
Business Partner said that whilst there had not been specific performance 
indicators specified information would be included within the Quarter 2 report. 
 
Members noted the contents of the report. 

  
71/21 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP   
  
 The minutes from the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership meeting 

held on 22 June 2021 were noted. 
 

  
72/21 NEXT MEETING   
  
 The arrangements for the next meeting on 20 September at 9.30am in the 

Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham were noted. 
 

  
73/21 EXCLUSION OF PRESS & PUBLIC   
  
 RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 

the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1,2,3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to 
the Act. 

 

  
74/21 SHARED PROCUREMENT SERVICE   
  
 The Executive Member for Planning, Leisure and Contracts, Councillor Sarah 

Suggitt, presented the report that considered a business case to enter into a 
shared arrangement with other local Councils. 
 
Members supported the proposal that looked to achieve financial savings 
whilst supporting local businesses where possible and would provide focus 
on social and environmental issues. 
 
Reasons for Recommendation 
The business case concluded that the do nothing option would not bring any 
additional benefits and the federated model would bring some benefits but 
the greatest benefits could be achieved through fully sharing procurement 
services and combining the teams of all three councils together.   
 
Options 
The business case explores 3 options: 

1. Do nothing 
2. A “federated model”  
3. A hosted service  

 
RESOLVED that: 
1) The Council creates a shared procurement team hosted by Breckland 

Council to deliver a procurement service to all Councils who agree to 
become members of a shared procurement service. 
 

2) Authority be delegated to the Executive Director Place and Delivery to 
approve the final agreements with other councils, budgets and staff to be 
transferred from the other councils along with setting a saving target for 
the shared procurement service to deliver.    

 

 

6



Cabinet 
26 July 2021 

 
 

4 

 Action By 

 
Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:  
 
3) That Council agrees to increase the establishment of the Council through 

the transfer of procurement staff from other local authorities.  
 
 
The meeting closed at 10.08 am 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 

7



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance, Revenues & Benefits  
 
To: Cabinet, 20th September 2021  
 
Author: Adrian Mills, Head of Benefits & Council Tax Billing, ARP 
 
Subject:  Breckland Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2022 - 2023 
 
Purpose: To review the 2021 scheme and consider options for the Local Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2022-23 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 

1. To consider the annual review of the LCTRS scheme for the 2022-23 year and approve 
undertaking consultation on the options below, with a final report back to Cabinet in 
January to approve final scheme changes: 

 Option 3 - Reducing the capital threshold to £10,000 and abolish tariff income 

 Option 5 - Introducing a fixed rate deduction of £7.40 for non-passported non-
dependants 

 Option 6 - Streamlining the claim process 

 Option 7 - Increasing tolerance for Universal Credit data re-assessments 
 

 

1.0 Purpose  

Each year the Council is required to review its Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(LCTRS). This report provides an annual review of the 2021 scheme and provides several 
options to consider in relation to recommendations for scheme amendments for 2022-23. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 We are now in the nineth year of LCTRS; a locally set scheme that replaced the previous 
nationally set Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme from April 2013. 

2.2 In 2013-14 the Council took advantage of a one-off Government grant that compensated in 
part for the reduction in Government funding for the Working Age scheme that year. This 
meant that the maximum LCTRS awarded was the 91.5%. 

2.3 For 2014-2015 to 2017-18 the Council retained the original scheme, except that allowances 
and premiums (the amounts of income from state-administered benefits such as Jobseekers' 
Allowance) were increased in line with other benefits such as Housing Benefit.  

2.4 For the 2018-19 scheme the Council consulted on a proposal to harmonise the scheme with 
DWP welfare reforms introduced for Housing Benefit and LCTRS for Pensioners and 
introduced closer links to Universal Credit data share for claims, thereby removing the 
requirement to make a separate claim. This was subsequently approved and introduced. 

2.5 For 2019-20 the Council kept the same scheme as for 2018-19.  

2.6 For 2020-21 the Council introduced a fluctuating earnings rule to the treatment of Universal 
Credit (UC). A weekly tolerance level of £15 (£65 monthly) was introduced to reduce the 
number of monthly reassessments impacting customers every time a revised Universal 
Credit notification is received. 

2.7 For 2021-22 there were no changes implemented and the 2020-21 scheme was retained. 

8

Agenda Item 8



3.0    Matters to consider 

3.1 Councils are required to review their LCTRS schemes annually and consider whether any 
changes need to be made. Where it is determined to retain the existing scheme, this must be 
decided by 11 March of the preceding financial year. 

3.2  Where councils decide that they wish to amend their schemes they need to consult 
preceptors and stakeholders prior to a wider consultation to inform a final scheme design by 
28 February of the preceding financial year and the final report will need to be submitted to 
Cabinet in January 2022. 

3.3 The current Breckland Working Age LCTRS scheme provides a maximum benefit of 91.5% 
for working age claimants and the scheme also fully protects War Pensioners.  The aim in 
designing the scheme was to achieve a balance in charging an amount of Council Tax to 
encourage customers back into work whilst setting the amount charged at an affordable and 
recoverable level during the year.   

3.4 A statutory scheme applies to Pensioners who can receive up to a maximum100% reduction 
of their Council Tax bill. 

   

4.0    Scheme review  
 
4.1 The Council could determine to retain the 2021-22 scheme in its current form.  However, as 

no changes were made last year, and it was decided that any further modelling of potential 
changes would be deferred for consideration this year, we have outlined several options 
below. 

          
          Options to consider - financial savings           
 
4.2    OPTION 1 - Increasing the contribution rate to more than 8.5%.  

The potential savings to the collection fund to be realised by increasing the minimum 
contribution rate to 10%, 15% or 20% and the number of claimants affected are detailed 
below: 

 

Options Saving 
Customers 

gaining 

Customers 
with 

reductions 

Increase in liability to 10% £89,378 none 4,933 

Increase in liability to 15% £385,671 none 4,933 

Increase in liability to 20% £678,578 none 4,933 

 
 
4.3    However, the possible increase in Council Tax charged by the Council would be less than the 

additional costs of recovery incurred (additional staff, postage and enquires to customer 
services), and in most cases we would not be able to recover the debt in year by deduction 
from DWP benefits and therefore this is not recommended, as detailed in Appendix A. 

 
4.4 The impact of Covid-19 must also be considered, as we would expect that the impact on 

household budgets and rising unemployment would affect individuals’ ability to pay into the 
2022-2023 financial year.  

 
4.5    If this option was proposed it should be noted a 12-week consultation period would be 

required. 
 
 
 

9



4.6 OPTION 2 - cap LCTRS entitlement to Band D liability. 
 This would realise savings to the Collection Fund of around £39,803 per year and would 

result in 73 customers who reside in Band E properties or higher having their liability 
calculated on the cap at Band D. A breakdown of those affected is shown below: 

   

Option Saving 
Customers 

gaining 

Customers 
with 

reductions 

Cap LCTRS entitlement to Band D liability £39,803 none 73 

 
 
5    Options to consider - improving the customer journey 
 
5.1    OPTION 3 - reduce the capital threshold from £16,000 to £10,000 and abolish tariff income. 
         This option would result in: 

 A simplified scheme reducing the burden on customer and evidence requirements 

 Reduced number of claim adjustments as there would be no requirement to notify 
changes in capital of £250 or more 

 More streamlined customer experience and reduced processing times for universal 
credit claims as tariff income details are not provided in DWP data share records 

 Targeting help to those most in need as those with less capital will receive increased 
awards and those who no longer qualify will have more than £10,000 capital 

 
5.2 Simplification would enable us to provide quicker decisions to such customers as the need 

to manually calculate tariff income would be removed. 
 
5.3 This option focuses on improved customer journey and although indicating some savings it 

is likely to be relatively cost neutral as detailed in the table below: 
 
5.5 An administrative consequence of this proposal would be that our ability to increase 

automation and provide decisions to customers in one day would be extended to those with 
non-dependants, as the need to request follow up details would be removed. 

 
5.6  We would retain existing protections for customers entitled to a severe disability premium 

meaning they would continue to be exempt from non-dependant deductions. 
  
5.7  This option focusses on an improved customer journey and reduction in administrative 

burden and although indicating some savings the proposed deduction rates have been 
modelled to provide a relatively cost neutral option as detailed in the table below: 

 

Option Saving 
Customers 

gaining 

Customers 
with 

reductions 

Capital upper threshold £10,000 with no tariff income £12,584 20 15 

 
 
5.8      OPTION 4 -reduce the capital threshold from £16,000 to £10,000 but retain tariff income 
             This option would result in 

 Support would be provided to those most in need; those customers with less than 
£10,000 capital. 

 Customers would still be required to provide proof of any capital between £6,000 and 
£9,999. The burden would remain with the customer to meet these evidence 
requirements. 

10



 Processing times for universal credit claims would not be reduced as capital details 
would need to be requested as this information is not provided on DWP data share 
records  

 

Option Saving 
Customers 

gaining 

Customers 
with 

reductions 

Capital upper threshold £10,000 retain capital tariff  £12,584 none 15 

 
 
 5.9  OPTION 5 – introduce a fixed rate non-dependant deduction. 
         This option would result in: 

 Reduced burden on customer and evidence requirements 

 Reduced number of claim adjustments as there would be no requirement to notify 
changes in non-dependant income.  This is something the customer is not always 
aware of or able to obtain verification of themselves 

 The functionality to verify and receive automatic income updates from DWP and HMRC 
does not extend to non-dependants meaning verification is always a manual process 
and the onus is solely on the customer to identify and report changes for their adult 
household members 

 More streamlined customer experience and quicker processing times for Universal 
Credit claims as DWP do not gather details of non-dependant’s income and the 
responsibility on the Local Authority to obtain this missing information delays claim 
processing 

 Delays in and failure to provide non-dependant income details results in incorrect 
LCTRS awards, often impacting council tax collection and arrears 

    

Options Saving 
Customers 

gaining 

Customers 
with 

reductions 

Fixed non-dep deduction £5.30 for all non-deps £12,064 228 122 

Fixed non-dep deduction to £7.40 for those not passported £3,447 121 123 

  
The first option above applies one fixed rate deduction of £5.30 for all non-dependants 
based on the current average deduction rate, including those on passported benefit, whilst 
the second option above retains a nil deduction for non-dependants in receipt of passported 
benefits but introduces a fixed rate deduction of £7.40 for non-dependants based on current 
average. 

 
5.10  OPTION 6 – Streamlining the claim process 
 
5.11  DWP signpost everyone claiming Universal Credit (UC) to their Local Authority to make a 

separate application for LCTRS.  However, whilst our scheme was amended to allow us to 
treat DWP notification of UC outcome as a claim, we often receive separate customer 
claims. 

 
5.12 Simplifying the claim process to improve the customer journey can be achieved through 

introducing the following classes of applicant who can claim LCTRS:  
 

a. those in receipt of a legacy (pre-UC) DWP benefit  
b. those claiming or already in receipt of UC  
c. customers not required to claim UC, such as war pensioners and widows  
 

11



We expect this proposal will minimise customer engagement, improve speed of 
administration and improve processing times for customers by: 

 Clarifying the customer journey by removing any confusion that a separate claim is 
required 

 Reducing customer burden to provide evidence through making a non-UC claim 

 Removing requirement for both DWP and Local Authority to verify same income details 

 Maximising customer income by signposting customers to claim Universal Credit 

 Makes full use of DWP data share functionality 
  
5.13 Data analysis undertaken for the first quarter of this financial year has identified only three 

customers have applied directly to the Local Authority without being in receipt of a legacy 
benefit or UC or whilst also making a fresh claim for UC at the same time.  Implementing 
this change would signpost all three to claim directly with the DWP, resulting in two of them 
being entitled to UC and LCTRS and one not being entitled to UC, but still being entitled to 
LCTRS.  Therefore, whilst a small sample, the data suggests two thirds of the customers 
we would signpost to claim UC, as they haven’t already done so, would be better off as a 
result and so would not need to make a separate claim to us for LCTRS. 

  
 
5.14 OPTION 7 – increase tolerance for Universal Credit data re-assessments 
 
5.15 In April 2020 a tolerance rule of £65 per month was introduced which meant we no longer 

reassessed income changes of less than £15 per week for UC customers. 
 
5.16 UC is designed to be paid monthly, calculated on the customer’s circumstances, including 

Real Time Information (RTI) earnings data from HM Revenue and Customs. Given 
customers’ circumstances, especially earnings, fluctuate, this leads to significant volumes 
of monthly revised UC awards sent to the Council by the DWP 

 
5.17 Due to the tolerance rule such customers have seen a reduction by one third in Council Tax 

adjustment notifications, as well as a reduction in direct debit amendments and the need to 
request a refund. This has provided greater certainty to customers to enable to them to 
manage their payments and household budgets, with it being well received and working as 
expected. 

 
5.18 The introduction of a fluctuating earnings rule has been particularly beneficial given the 

significant increase in the COVID-19 workload for Anglia Revenues Partnership, which 
peaked at a 500% increase compared to the same point last year, before reducing to 200% 
and now starting to return to normal levels.  

 
5.19 A review of the tolerance rule suggests increasing the figure from £65 per month to £100 

per month would further reduce the need for re-assessments from a third to a half, thereby 
providing more customers with stable payment arrangements, fewer adjustments and 
improved financial certainty. By retaining the discretion to review exceptional cases we will 
be able to override the rule in the case of a single beneficial change being reported.  
However, we are yet to see a case where discretion has been needed with the current £65 
tolerance, given most cases have monthly fluctuations reported which evens out any impact 
of applying the tolerance over the course of a year. This enhancement would increase the 
current tolerance by a further £8.00 a week.  

 
 
6.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 
6.1  Our recommendation would be to focus on the customer journey options and consider      

implementation of: 

12



 Option 3 - Reducing the capital threshold to £10,000 and abolish tariff income 

 Option 5 - Introducing a fixed rate deduction of £7.40 for non-passported non-
dependants 

 Option 6 - Streamlining the claim process 

 Option 7 - Increasing tolerance for Universal Credit data re-assessments 
 

7.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 

These options are recommended to improve the customer journey and reduce customer 
contact and the burden of evidence requirement. 
 

8.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
           The expected benefits are detailed against each option for consideration       
 
9.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
 Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk  Management; 
 Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
 Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
 of these headings, these are identified below. 
 
10.0 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
   

If it is agreed to accept the proposals detailed in this report, a consultation exercise will 
need to take place in the Autumn with a consultation period of 6 weeks. 

 
The consultation will take the form of an online customer survey, asking stakeholders for 
their views on the proposals and any unforeseen impacts. The link to the survey will be 
made available on the Council and ARP websites, sent to all stakeholders and preceptors.  

 
10.1    An Equality Impact Assessment will be needed if changes are proposed   

 
10.2    An Equality Impact Assessment is not required to retain the existing scheme.  

 
11.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
11.1  All. 
 
12.0 ACRONYMS  
 
12.1 DWP – Department for Work & Pensions 
12.2 HB – Housing Benefit 
12.3 LCTRS – Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
12.4     UC – Universal Credit 
 

Background papers: See the Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section 

 
Lead Contact Officer 

13

file:///C:/Users/Amills/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Revenues/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///C:/Users/Amills/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Revenues/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Name and Post:  Adrian Mills, Head of Benefits & Council Tax Billing, ARP 
Telephone Number: 07984 255437 
Email: Adrian.mills@angliarevenues.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No  
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A: Recoverability of minimum liability % against DWP deductions  

 

14



BRECKLAND
Potential Income

Band D 1,321.47£       151.47£          278.01£               98.73£             98.92£             1,948.60£       
67.82% 7.77% 14.27% 5.07% 5.08% 100.00%

Share
Savings County Adult SC Police Breckland Parish Total

89,378.37£        60,613.18£     6,947.62£       12,751.76£         4,528.55£       4,537.26£       89,378.37£     
385,671.17£      261,548.23£  29,979.27£     55,024.35£         19,540.86£     19,578.46£     385,671.17£  
678,578.79£      460,187.58£  52,747.78£     96,813.96£         34,381.65£     34,447.82£     678,578.79£  

Recoverability
Band B County Adult SC Police Breckland Parish

1,027.81£                          117.81£              216.23£          76.79£             76.94£             1,515.58£       costs Total payable DWP AoB
surplus or 

deficit
8.5% £128.82 £75.00 £203.82 £195.00 -£8.82

10.0% £151.56 £75.00 £226.56 £195.00 -£31.56
15.0% £227.34 £75.00 £302.34 £195.00 -£107.34
20.0% £303.12 £75.00 £378.12 £195.00 -£183.12

Appendix A: Recoverability of minimum liability % against DWP deductions

Current 8.5% liability reduction
10% liability reduction - 13/14 AA
15% liability reduction - 13/14 AA
20% liability reduction - 13/14 AA

15



 

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Paul Claussen: Executive Member for Economic Development and 

Growth  
 
To: Cabinet: 20 September 2021 
 
Author: Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control 
 Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 
 
Subject:  Local Plan Review  
 
Purpose: To seek Cabinet’s approval for changes to the proposed approach in 

respect of the Local Plan review  
 
 

 

Recommendation(s):  
 

(I) That a Single Policy Partial Review of Policy INF 03 is prepared in 
parallel with a Substantive Review of the whole Local Plan as 
outlined in Section 4 of the report 

(II) That timetables for both the Single Policy Partial and Substantive 
reviews are approved as set out in the revised Local Development 
Scheme 

(III) That further work is undertaken and continued challenge and 
monitoring to agree the ongoing financial resource required for the 
preparation of the Single Policy Partial  and Substantive reviews of the 
Plan  

(IV) That the Statement of Community Involvement is approved for public 
consultation for a period of 6 weeks 

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Breckland Council adopted the current Local Plan on 28 November 2019. Policy INF 

03 of the Plan makes specific reference to the need for the Council to undertake a 
Partial Review of the Plan with regard to housing, non-travelling gypsy and travellers, 
accessibility of homes standards and economic development. This would be 
submitted for examination November 2022.  
 

1.2 The Examination into the Plan took place in 2018. As part of the examination process, 
the Council specifically requested that the Inspector recommend any main 
modifications (MMs) necessary to enable the Plan to be found sound and capable of 
adoption. In February 2019 the Council proposed and consulted on a series of Main 
Modifications to the Plan. One of these was to include a new Policy in the Plan 
requiring an immediate review of the Plan on key issues pertaining to housing, 
gypsies and travellers, internal space standards and economic development 16

Agenda Item 9



(MM160).  
 

1.3 Following the adoption of the Plan in November 2019 the Council’s Local Plan 
Working Group considered a range of options that were available in respect of the 
Review of the Plan. These were then considered by the Council’s Cabinet in June 
20201. The Cabinet explored the options of whether a full review would be preferable 
or whether it would be practical or reasonable to prepare a Partial Review alone, or 
as a sub-set of a full review and agreed that on balance, and in light of the critical 
risks and issues set out in the Report, to undertake a full review of the Local Plan.   
 

1.4 The Council also approved a Local Development Scheme setting out the timetable for 
the full Review2.   

 
1.5 There are a number of changes which have occurred since the Local Plan was 

adopted and since the Council committed to undertake a full review of the Plan in June 
2020 which have potential implications for the Local Plan review and its timetable. 
These are as follows and further detail is set out in Appendix 1 to this Report.  
 

 Uncertainty and delays to the publication of the housing requirement and delays 
to work on the revised Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment (SHMAA)  

 The Review would not accord with the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and need for a minimum 15-year time horizon for strategic policies and 
at least 30 years for larger scale developments such as new settlements or 
significant extensions to existing villages and towns; 

 The A47 improvements near Dereham are yet to be commenced and have been 
delayed since they were considered by the Local Plan Inspector in 2018.  

 The definition of Gypsy and Travellers was subject to a High Court challenge 
until July 2021.  

 The introduction of local internal space standards would require a new plan wide 
viability study that could impact on other key parts of the Plan 

 There are a number of other considerations that have emerged since the Council 
resolved to undertake a Full Review of the Plan in June 2020 including the need 
for a clearer understanding of the implications of Covid 19, First Homes, 
planning reform and the Environment Bill. 

 
1.6 Taken together, it is now considered that completing the Partial Review of the Plan 

within the timescales set out within Policy INF 03 are, and always were unachievable. 
Officers have held informal meetings with civil servants from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) and the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) 
to discuss this and has sought confidential legal advice on possible options. It is 
important to note that the views of the Planning inspector from PINS were a personal 
view and that they may not be supported by fellow inspectors. These are referenced 
in the reminder of this note where applicable. 

 
 

                                                
1 
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s56398/cabinet%20report%20LDS%20june%202020%20cabinet%20draft
%20final.pdf 
2 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/16518/Local-Development-
Scheme/pdf/Local_Development_Scheme_final_June_1_2020.pdf?m=637475361356970000 

17

https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s56398/cabinet%20report%20LDS%20june%202020%20cabinet%20draft%20final.pdf
https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s56398/cabinet%20report%20LDS%20june%202020%20cabinet%20draft%20final.pdf
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/16518/Local-Development-Scheme/pdf/Local_Development_Scheme_final_June_1_2020.pdf?m=637475361356970000
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/media/16518/Local-Development-Scheme/pdf/Local_Development_Scheme_final_June_1_2020.pdf?m=637475361356970000


 
2 WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE LOCAL PLAN REVIEW? 

 
2.1 For the reasons outlined above and in Appendix 1, the circumstances are very different 

to those at the time the Local Plan was adopted. A particular issue is the lack of clarity 
regarding the housing need for Breckland. The Local Plan Inspector had, understandably 
sought to try and ensure that the review was carried out speedily but at this time he was 
unaware of the delays and circumstances that have arisen subsequent to the Plan being 
adopted.  

 
2.2 Policy INF 03 of the adopted Local Plan as currently worded represents a significant risk 

to the Council as having key elements of the Plan an out-of-date plan would leave the 
Council vulnerable to unwanted applications and appeals.  The Council needs to have a 
high degree of confidence that whatever it puts forward would be supported at 
examination. It is not feasible to be able to submit in November 2022. In addition and 
considering the unforeseen issues in 2020 pertaining to the delays in the publication of 
the new housing numbers, decisions to delay the joint SHMAA and the uncertainties 
arising from the proposed reforms to the planning system it would have not been 
possible to meet the November 2022 deadline even if a Partial Review had commenced 
immediately following the adoption of the current Plan in November 2019.  

 
2.3 The Council is required to undertake a review of the whole plan every 5 years. As well 

as those set out in the June 2020 Cabinet Report, there are several other considerations 
that necessitate a full review of the Plan including the implications of the new Planning 
and Environment bills. It is still unclear as to the detail of these and timings for 
implementation, but it remains important that progress on the Review is carefully 
considered to minimize risk of abortive and costly work being undertaken. It is 
considered that work can progress on the evidence base and earlier stages of the plan 
preparation, including Housing Needs, design coding and the Call for Sites consultation.  

 
3 Local Plan Review: Options 

3.1 There are 3 options open to the Council. 

I. Undertake a ‘single policy’ Partial Review that seeks to amend the wording of 
Policy INF 03 and remove the date by which the Partial Review should be 
submitted for examination to reflect the submission date proposed for the 
Substantive Review.   

II. Undertake a Full Review of the Plan only.  

III. Undertake the Partial Review as set out in Policy INF03 and a full review of the 
Plan within 5 years in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework  

3.2 Option iii is not considered realistic or preferred as it would not represent the most cost-
effective option for the Council as some of the required expenditure would be duplicated 
(production, legal and examination costs) and the timescale set out in Policy INF03 is 
not achievable.   

3.2 The Single Policy Partial Review option offers a potential way forward which if 
successful would remove the risk of the plan being out-of-date, although it is not without 
its own risks. There is no guarantee that an Inspector would regard such an approach 
as being ‘sound’. In these circumstances the statement that the policies would be out-18



of-date would still form part of the policy. A similar Single Policy Review approach has 
recently been successfully completed in North West Leicestershire.  

3.3  If the Council is to undertake a Single Policy Partial Review of the Plan then the 
inspector carrying out the review will need to be satisfied that: 

• The matters identified in INF03 are being expeditiously addressed as part of the 
full review. 

• That there are good reasons why the time limit set in INF03 in respect of the 
matters to be the subject of the review are no longer necessary or appropriate. 

• Leaving the deeming “out-of-date” provision in INF03 in place would be an 
unnecessary barrier to plan-led decision-taking because the ‘normal’ 
presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in 11d) of the NPPF is 
the better way of determining whether policies in a development plan are up-to-
date or out-of-date. 

• The Duty to co-operate is satisfied. 

• The Single Policy Partial  review has been subject to sustainability appraisal.   

3.4 It is essential that the Council should commit to a timely Substantive Review for the 
Single Policy Partial Review to be successful at examination. Therefore, a timetable for 
the Substantive review will be prepared with a view to this taking place in parallel with 
the Single Policy Review of Policy INF 03. This is included as part of this report to 
Cabinet and will result in a new Local Development Scheme (LDS). 

3.5 The Single Policy Partial Review would have to go through the normal process (i.e. 
consultation, submission, Examination) and be “sound”, legally compliant and subject 
to sustainability appraisal. But the unforeseen changed circumstances arising since 
adoption of Policy INF 03 as set out above point to this as being a possible way forward. 

3.6 The Substantive Review of the Plan would need to consider those issues set out in 
Policy INF 03, regarding Policy HOU 01 ‘Development Requirements’; Policy HOU 08 
‘Provision for Travellers and Travelling Showpeople’; Policy HOU 10 ‘Technical Design 
Standards for New Homes’; and Policy EC 01 ‘Economic Development’ along with other 
aspects of the Plan is considered appropriate.  

3.7 As there is no possibility of carrying out the Partial Review foreshadowed by INF03, 
any Single Policy Partial  review would need to be based on it being deleted or re-
worded. The risk of key elements of the Plan being deemed ‘out of date’ represents a 
significant risk to the Council. The risk is not just financial but also reputational. If parts 
of a Plan are ‘out of date’ then the following process would apply in respect of 
considering a relevant planning application (the tilted balance): 

 Apply rules of s.38(6) -any determination must be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations point otherwise; 

 If the application is in line with an up-to-date plan and no other considerations 
indicate otherwise, permission should be granted (para 11(c) of the NPPF); 

 If the above doesn’t apply, consider whether there are any relevant development 
plan policies and if so whether they are out of date (11(d) NPPF); 

19



 If this applies, look to whether any of the NPPF policies give a clear reason for 
refusing the proposal (11(d)(i) footnote 6). If so, permission should be refused 
(subject to s.38(6)); 

 If this does not apply the decision taker should apply the titled balance (11(d)(i) 
footnote 7 and s.38(6)). 

Footnote 7 makes it clear that policies are to be treated as out of date where a local 
authority cannot demonstrate a 5 year supply or meet the Housing Delivery Test. If the 
Council can therefore demonstrate a 5 Year Supply of housing land then this would 
remain an important factor in considering applications. It does not follow automatically 
that just because one of the policies for determining an application is out of date, the 
tilted balance must be applied and permission granted. Policies should be viewed 
together and an overall judgement made whether the policies as a whole are out of 
date. 

3.8 Leaving Policy INF03 in place when the Council has no ability to meet its requirements 
could cause confusion at best and poor decision-taking at worst during the 
determination of planning applications.  There is a good case for a single policy Partial 
Review of the plan to delete it or amend it. But that will be a burden on the financial and 
‘people’ resources of the Council.   

3.9 Leaving Policy INF03 in place and concentrating solely on a Full Review is an option.  
The Council could publicise its intention to do so, its reasons, and the consequences 
for decision-taking to all stakeholders well in advance of the November 2022 ‘deadline’ 
to ensure clarity for stakeholders. This would mean that key parts of the Plan would be 
out of date after November 2022 with the associated risks outlined above.  

3.10 Committing to a Single Policy Partial Review(and by default the Substantive review) 
now will result in some risk to the Council from the uncertainties currently facing the 
planning system that may result from the proposed planning reforms that are outlined 
in this Report. It will be important that potentially abortive and costly work on the Plan 
is avoided but that the plan progresses within a reasonable yet realistic timeframe.  The 
Local Development Scheme may have to be revised once the implications of the 
reforms are better understood.      

3.11 The Substantive Review will extend the plan period beyond 2036, at least to 2041 but 
possibly longer, to ensure that any strategic policies look ahead at least 15 years from 
adoption as required by the NPPF. This work would need to continue in parallel to the 
Single Policy Partial Review. By concentrating only on a Substantive review and looking 
to plan ahead to 2041 or 2046 but missing the November 2022 deadline gives the 
Council an opportunity to delay beginning the process and thereby reducing the risks 
posed by the uncertainties of the proposed planning reforms but this approach poses 
a significant risk for the adopted Local Plan in view of the provision in Policy INF 03 for 
key aspects of the Plan to be considered out-of-date from November 2022. This could 
result in both development and reputational risk in higher numbers of speculative 
applications for housing across the District being submitted resulting in increased 
pressures and workloads for Development Management and a greater risk of appeals 
being allowed. Whist the completion of a Substantive review by November 2024 cannot 
be guaranteed, a successful Single Policy Partial Review would ensure that, under the 
current NPPF, the Plan will remain up to date until November 2024.    

 20



4 The Preferred Option 

4.1 It is proposed to: 
 

 Amend Policy INF 03 and the supporting text of the adopted Local Plan. This is 
referred to as the ‘Single Policy Partial Review’. 

 Continue to work on a more Substantive Review to address the longer-term 
development needs of the district, including those issues set out in Policy INF 03.  

 
4.2 The Single Policy Partial Review would relate solely to Policy INF 03 and supporting 

text seeking amendments to extend the November 2022 date to match the agreed 
Local Development Scheme for the Substantive Review (once completed).  Officers 
consider that this approach provides for a more robust approach. This option includes 
also continuing to work on a more Substantive Review which will extend the plan 
period beyond 2036, at least to 2041 but possibly longer to ensure that any strategic 
policies look ahead at least 15 years from adoption as required by the NPPF. This 
work will continue in parallel to the Single Policy Partial  review.  

 
4.3 The Single Policy Partial Review would seek the following amendments to Policy INF 

03 and supporting text along the following lines: 
 

Policy INF 03: Existing Text 
 
Policy INF03 sets out the Council’s commitment to undertake an immediate Partial 
Reviewof the Plan, with regard to housing, non-travelling gyspy and travellers, 
accessibility of homes standards and economic development. This shall be completed 
and submitted for examination 3 years after the date of adoption of this Plan or by 
November 2022, whichever is soonest.  

 
Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review  
 
The Council will undertake an immediate Partial Review of the Plan, with regard to 
the following matters:  
 

 Policy HOU 01 Development Requirements (minimum): To consider 
housing need and the subsequent strategy for meeting the identified need.  

 Policy HOU 08 Gypsy and Travellers: To consider the needs of non 
travelling gypsy and travellers and identify suitable provision to meet such 
a need.  

 Policy HOU 10 Technical Design Standards for New Homes: To consider 
the accessibility of homes standards.  

 Policy EC 01 Economic Development: To consider the effect of the 
dualling of the A47 on the Plan’s economic strategy.  

 
The Partial Review of the Plan will be submitted for examination 3 years after the 
date of adoption of this Plan or by November 2022, whichever is soonest. In the 
event that the review is not submitted for examination by this time, then the 
Council’s policies that relate to the supply of housing, economic development and 
gypsy and travellers will be deemed to be out-of-date.  

 
 21



Policy INF 03: Proposed Text 
 
Policy INF03 sets out the Council’s commitment to undertake an immediate full review of 
the Plan and to submit it by November 2026.   

 
Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review  
 
The Council will undertake an immediate full review of the Plan. The full Partial 
Review of the Plan will be submitted for examination by November 2026.  
 

 

4.4 The Single Policy Partial Review would have to go through the normal process (i.e. 
consultation, submission, Examination) and be “sound”, legally compliant and subject 
to sustainability appraisal. But the unforeseen changed circumstances arising since 
adoption of Policy INF 03 as set out above point to this as being a way forward. 

 
4.5 It is also proposed to engage the other Norfolk and adjoining authorities under the Duty 

to Cooperate on this approach. 
 
4.6 Officers have taken external legal advice which supports such an approach. The 

Advice considers that leaving Policy INF03 in place when the Council has no intention 
or ability to meet its requirements could cause confusion at best and poor decision-
taking at worst during the determination of planning applications.  There is a good case 
for a Single Policy Partial Review of the plan to delete it or amend it. But that will be a 
burden on the financial and ‘people’ resources of the Council.   

 
4.7 The Advice also considers that since there is no intention of carrying out the Partial 

Review foreshadowed by INF03, any Single Policy Partial Review should be based on 
it being deleted or amended. If the full review takes longer than 5 years (November 
2024) policies within it will become out-of-date as a matter of planning judgment, then 
that is a matter that can be considered in applying the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development in paragraph 11 of the NPPF in decision-taking on planning 
applications. 

 
4.8 Officers have also considered a similar approach carried out by North-West 

Leicestershire Council that has recently completed a single Policy Review of its Local 
Plan that also required a Partial Review of the Plan within a specified timeframe. That 
Council also committed to a Substantive review of its plan at the same time.  

 
4.9 It should be appreciated that this approach is not without its own risks. Despite some 

reassurances being received from PINS there is no guarantee that an Inspector would 
regard such an approach as being ‘sound’. In these circumstances the statement that 
the relevant policies in the Plan would be “deemed to be out-of-date” would still form part 
of the policy. However, it would not have any effect as the requirement elsewhere in the 
policy for the plan to have been submitted would have been complied with; policy INF 
03 does not require that the review be found ‘sound’. 

 
5 Timetable 

5.1 If the above option is supported then it is important to agree the timetable for 
preparation of both the Single Policy Partial  and Substantive reviews.   22



5.2 The timetables for both the Single Policy Partial  and Substantive reviews need careful 
consideration. Critical factors in agreeing timetables are as follows: 

• Available financial resources 

• Available staffing resources 

• It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that is supported by both a financial 
and staff resource that will minimise risks to delivery.  

• It is also critical that the Council sets a timetable for the Substantive Review that 
can satisfy an inspector, considering the Single Policy Partial Review, that the 
council is committed to completing a Substantive review within a reasonable 
timeframe.  

• It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that reflects possible changes to the 
planning system and does not commit to potentially abortive and costly work too 
early in the preparation process or seek to progress the Review too quickly. This 
needs to be balanced with the current expectation in the NPPF that requires 
Plans to be reviewed every 5 years (November 2024).   

 Resources for Single Policy Partial Review 

 
5.3 The Single Policy Partial Review must follow the same statutory stages as a full 

review. This would be a truncated process comprising: 
 

• Publication of the Council’s intent to Review Policy INF 03, making it clear that it 

has reviewed whether the Policy needs updating and the reasons why it does in 

accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF.  

• A clear statement that the approach will be twin tracked, considering Policy INF 

03 in the shorter term and the Plan, as a whole, by the date agreed in the new 

Local Development Scheme for the completion of the Substantive Review. 

• Compiling the appropriate Evidence base 

• The publication of its intentions with appropriate supporting documentation and 

an updated Local Development Scheme will form the Regulation 18 stage. This 

will require notifying various bodies and persons of the subject of a local plan 

which they propose to prepare and invite representations from them on what a 

plan with that subject ought to contain.  This will require setting out how Policy 

INF 03 would be modified.   

• Preparation and consultation on the Regulation 19 Plan including Sustainability 

Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality Impact 

Assessment work 

• Examination  

• Adoption 

5.4 It is estimated that the Single Policy Partial  Review will cost approximately £60,000. 
The major costs for this Review will be for the Sustainability Appraisal, examination 
and legal costs to support the Council. This will primarily be in the financial year 
2022/23  

 
5.5 The Single Policy Partial Review can be undertaken by the existing staff resource and 

using the existing budget. 23



 
 Process for a Substantive Review 
 
5.6  The Substantive Review must, under the current process, follow these statutory 

stages:  
 

• The first stage of plan-making (Regulation 18 Notification) requires the 

notification to interested parties of the proposed subjects to be included in the 

Local Plan, and to invite comments. 

• Identification and consultation on the scope of the Plan by identifying issues and 

opportunities, and translating these into aims, objectives and an overall vision 

for the District and each of the larger settlements.  

• Appraisal of a range of policy and site options and publication and consultation 

on preferred choices for inclusion in the First Draft Local Plan consultation 

document. This includes all alternative options considered to enable people to 

see why a particular approach has been chosen. 

• Regulation 18 also includes preparation and consultation on Plan including 

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality 

Impact Assessment work 

• Regulation 19 is where the proposed policies and site allocations are published 

in a Final Draft Local Plan document.  

• Following consultation, the Final Draft Local Plan will be submitted to the 

Secretary of State for independent examination. 

• Regulations 22-26 of the Local Planning Regulations involve the submission of 

the Draft Local Plan to the Secretary of State for independent examination, the 

examination hearings and subsequent consultation on any required changes to 

the Plan before it can be adopted for use - if it is found to be ‘sound’ by the 

Inspector. 

Future Resources and Timetable 
 
5.7 In order to agree a robust timetable for the Substantive review it will be critical to have 

sufficient financial and staffing resources committed by the beginning of the next 
financial year (April 2022). To minimise the risk of the Single Policy Partial Review 
being found unsound at examination, it will be critical for the Council to agree a robust 
timetable for the completion of the Substantive Review, at the same time as the 
timetable for the preparation of the Single Policy Partial  Review. It will be important for 
the Council to have submitted the Single Policy Partial  Review for examination before 
the November 2022 date set out in Policy INF 03.  

 
5.8 In accordance with the NPPF local plans should be reviewed every 5 years. This 

needs to be balanced with the fact that both the process for preparing and content of 
the Plan will change over the next 2 – 3 years and the timetable should be flexible 
enough to take account of these changes. Over the next year it is likely that the 
Council will have better information on the implications of the planning bill and likely 
content of the plans and processes including greater digitisation and methods of 
community engagement. This can be fed into a review of the Local Development 
Scheme as required. 
 
 

24



Costs for Substantive Review 
 
5.9 The following are the estimated costs for the Substantive Local Plan Review. Whilst it 

is impossible to estimate costs with 100% accuracy, the following are based on 
experience from previous similar work. The costs are considered to be the minimum 
required to meet the statutory requirements of the Review as well as those required to 
meet the Council’s own objectives It is important to note that costs are based on the 
current process for preparing a Plan and that this may change in the future depending 
on the content and timetable for the introduction of any future planning reforms. In 
particular the rollout of digitization, the requirements of the Environment Bill and new 
design coding. 

 
5.10 Costs can be separated into the following key elements: 
 

Evidence base: Required to underpin the policies and proposals to be included in the 
new Plan. It is clear that the new Plan will need to consider new allocations / growth 
zones for development, including housing, employment and gypsy and traveller 
accommodation. It is also clear that design and environmental issues, such as 
biodiversity will be key considerations in the new planning system. The evidence base 
would need to be completed prior to the publication of the draft plan and so would need 
to be front-loaded into the early years of the plan preparation. 

 
5.11 Under the planning reform proposals in growth areas will benefit from a status akin to 

having outline planning permission. In order to demonstrate suitability and delivery the 
Council could require promoters / developers to undertake specific studies to 
demonstrate suitability and timely delivery, including for example on transport, utilities 
including water and power supplies. It is important to note that until the planning 
reforms become clearer this approach cannot be guaranteed and that the Council may 
have to bear some of the costs. These costs are impossible to quantify and would 
depend on the location and scale of the proposed growth areas but would likely be 
between £50,000 and £100,000 per growth area. The Council will explore this through 
the Call for Sites exercise that will be undertaken in the next few months. There will, 
however, be benefits for those developers who secure sites in allocated growth areas 
as the slimmed down requirements for obtaining full consents should reduce outlay 
and also the time it takes before development can start. These are essential 
workstreams and if joint or developer funding is not available then these costs would 
have to be met by Breckland.  

 
5.12 The evidence base requirements may change depending on any changes to content of 

plans or preparation process from planning reforms. An example of this is the 
emerging strong focus on design and beauty and digitisation that could require 
additional resource. Paragraph 128 of the new NPPF (July 2021) states: ‘To provide 
maximum clarity about design expectations at an early stage, all local planning 
authorities should prepare design guides or codes consistent with the principles set out 
in the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code, and which reflect local 
character and design preferences’. Another area will be the requirements of the 
Environment Bill (delayed until the Autumn) including for example enhanced Green 
Infrastructure (GI), Biodiversity Netgain and Biodiversity Netgain Credits in addition to 
Local Nature Recovery Strategies. The list provided is considered to represent what is 
considered essential irrespective of future changes to the planning system. In this 
regard, it maybe that there may be some central funding available for other planning 25



reforms or that Breckland could work jointly within the County with other local 
authorities to share costs on some areas of work. These include the following: 
 
• Digitisation and an effective consultation strategy and smart mapping.  

• Design Coding including 3 stages of public consultation   

• Local Nature Recovery Strategy  

5.13 Again, these costs are impossible to quantify and would largely depend on the 
requirements of the planning reforms but could be in the region of £200,000 

 
5.14 The estimated costs for the Review remain whether the Review takes 3 or 8 years to 

be completed.  
 
5.15 The evidence base for the new Plan will consist of, and will be focussed on, the 

Council’s priorities for the topics to be included in the Plan. In addition to the essential 
evidence listed above the Council may want to commission other ‘optional’ evidence 
depending on what priorities it would like included in the new Plan. Examples of this 
include work relating to housing technical standards or renewable and low carbon. Any 
associated costs would need to be factored into the programme.  

 
5.16 Some other evidence is and will be prepared by the Council as part of existing 

Breckland priorities, or as part of the work of the Norfolk Strategic Planning Group, at 
an annual cost of £10,000 per annum, as well as with other agencies and 
organisations. Examples of this can be found at Appendix 2 of this Report.  

 
5.17 As a minimum the estimated expenditure for the evidence base is £350,000 
 

Production Costs: Costs associated with its preparation to ensure that it’s preparation 
follows Regulation and in order that it has the best chance to be found sound at a 
future examination. A real focus of the proposed reforms is a ‘need for speed’ through 
the introduction of digitisation and smart mapping requirements The ambitious 
proposals include a suggested statutory target of 30 months to put in place new local 
plans, measured from the date on which the necessary legislation is brought into force. 
This would be extended to 42 months in the case of local planning authorities who 
have adopted a new local plan within the three years prior to the legislation coming into 
force, or, at the requisite time, have a local plan submitted for examination. If this 
proposal remains the date that the legislation comes into force (ie: either before or after 
28 November 2022) will inform the timetable for the Substantive Review.  In order to 
achieve these ambitious targets, it is suggested that the content of the local plan 
should be reduced, with the majority of the development management policies being 
drawn instead from national policy, contained in the NPPF. In addition, some of the 
most controversial elements of the plan-making process such as the duty to co-operate 
and the sustainability appraisal (SA) system could be abolished.  

 
6.18 Production costs can be informed by the amount of public consultation that the Council 

commits to at the various stages of the Plan’s production. The Regulations set out the 
minimum required but the Council could choose to undertake wider consultation 
including public exhibitions, parish meetings and developer forums at venues across 
the District. The scale of these will impact on both costs, staffing resources and the 
time taken for preparation. The costs set out below are only for the statutory minimum 
consultation requirements.  26



 
6.19 The Council is required to produce a Statement of Community Involvement (SCI). This 

sets out how the public, businesses and interested groups within Breckland can get 
involved in the creation of local planning policy, neighbourhood planning and the 
planning application decision making process. The SCI identifies how people and 
groups can engage with the planning system in the best way. Effective consultation 
enables stakeholders and the public to express their views. However, there may be 
instances where the Council has to balance all relevant issues and this may mean a 
different outcome to some of the views expressed. Where this is the case, the Council 
will be transparent in its reasoning. The Draft SCI is at Appendix 3 and if approved 
would be subject to consultation prior to being agreed.  

 
6.20 The estimated costs for the production of the new Plan cover the following areas: 
 

 Sustainability Appraisal  

 Production and consultation (minimum consultation and no external parish / town 
council public meetings)  

 Plan viability testing  

 Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 Legal Support  

 Examination  
  

6.21 As a minimum the estimated expenditure for the Production of the Substantive  
Review is £370,000 

 
Staff Resources: The new Local Plan will be produced by the Council’s Planning 
Service, with the work being led by the Planning Policy team. It is recognized that the 
current contract to provide this service is to be reviewed in 2023, before the Plan would 
be completed. However, as the outcome of these discussions cannot be prejudged the 
following is based on the current situation.  

 
6.22 At present the team comprises of  
 

• Planning Policy Manager 

• Planning Policy Officer 

• Monitoring and Research Officer  

6.23 The service is supported by the specialist technical skills and knowledge of other 
teams, including legal and Housing.  

 
6.24 Officers have established officer working groups both within Breckland and County and 

it will be essential to forge closer working relationships with external agencies including 
those responsible for flooding and water management and the environment and key 
power networks.  

 
6.25 To produce a Substantive review within the timescales set out in this report and the 

accompanying Local Development Scheme will require an additional staffing resource 
at bots Senior and Principal level. It is considered critical that to produce an informed 
and robust Plan, staff resource should be dedicated to Breckland and based locally on 
a full time basis for the whole period of production. This continuity and ownership is a 
critical factor in plan delivery both for members and the wider community.  The cost of 27



the additional staff resource is estimated at £50,000 per annum for Senior and £60,000 
for Principal. It is considered that recruitment to these posts should be as follows: 

 

 Principal Planning Officer (October 2021 – November 2027): £360,000 

 Senior Planning Officer (October 2022 – November 2027): £250,000 
 
6.26 The reasons for this are to ensure that there is sufficient resource to guide the plan 

making process through its key resource intensive stages of development that are 
timetabled to begin towards the end of 2022. The addition of a Principal Planning 
Officer will enable the Single Policy Partial Review to be progressed and the addition of 
a Senior Officer from October 2022 will enable continued work on the Substantive 
Review whilst the Single Policy Partial Review progresses through examination. The 
delay to the recruitment of the Senior post will also enable the Council to have a better 
understanding of the implications of the emerging planning reforms so that it can seek 
to recruit a resource with an appropriate skillset.   

 
6.27 The recruitment of suitably qualified planning policy officers with recent experience of 

local plan preparation would bring the available resource to a level that is more 
comparable to other Norfolk Districts. For information a Table setting out the current 
resource in other Norfolk Districts is in Appendix 4 to this Report. Additional resource is 
essential as this will allow for appropriate management of the project as well as an 
ability to continue with other existing workstreams including the joint working through 
the Norfolk Strategic Planning Group including work on the GI RAMS, Climate Change, 
4G/5G Broadband Infrastructure and Elderly Person Accommodation and Support 
Needs Studies as well as Breckland focused work including Monitoring, Brownfield 
Land Register, Supplementary Planning Document preparation, Design codes, 
Neighbouring and other consultations, Planning Reform, Great Crested Newts Brief on 
new District Licensing Scheme, Water Resources East and Norwich Western Link and 
A47 Dualling work 

 
6.28 As a minimum the estimated expenditure for the staffing Resources for the 

production of the Substantive Review is £ 610,000 
 
6.29 The total estimated cost for the production of both the Single Policy Partial and 

Substantive Reviews as set out in the Local Development Scheme is £1.410.000 
 

6.30 Table 1 sets out the estimated costs on an annual basis and compares this to the 
agreed and projected budget. It highlights a shortfall of £562,000 over the production 
period.  It is therefore critical that costs are continually challenged especially as the 
implications of the proposed planning reforms become clearer.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 28



Table 1: Summary of Costs   

  Substantive Review 
Partial 
R|eview 

 
Totals 

Budget 
Shortfall 

  
Evidence 
base 

Production 
Costs 

Staffing 
Resource 

  
Duty to 
Co-
operate  

  

  

2021/22 110,000 10,000 30,000 10,000 10,000 170,000 
248,000 78,000 

2022/23 120,000 15,000 85,000 50,000 10,000 280,000 
100,000 -180,000 

2023/24 120,000 25,000 110,000   10,000 255,000 
100,000 -155,000 

2024/25   60,000 110,000   10,000 170,000 
100,000 -70,000 

2025/26   80,000 110,000   10,000 190,000 
100,000 -90,000 

2026/27   80,000 110,000   10,000 190,000 
100,000 -90,000 

2027/28   100,000 55,000   10,000 155,000 
100,000 -55,000 

Totals 350,000 370,000 610,000 60,000 70,000 1,410,000 848,000 -562,000 

 
Timetable 

 
6.31 The following proposed timescale for the preparation of both the Single Policy Partial  

and Substantive reviews take account of the following key factors 
 

 The need to balance speed with the uncertainties around planning reform 

 The need to ensure that adequate funding is available 

 The need to ensure that there is appropriate staff resource available to undertake 
the work 

 The need to ensure that the existing plan is ‘out of date’ for as short a time period 
as possible 

 
6.32 It is important to note that the timetable may need to be reviewed depending on the 

outcomes of the proposed planning reforms and continued availability of appropriately 
skilled staff and or financial resources required to prepare a robust plan.  

 
6.33 Table 2 below sets out the proposed timetables to produce the Single Policy Partial 

and Substantive Reviews. This has been considered in conjunction with the Team’s 
need to continue with existing separate workstreams and their associated timetables 
for both existing workstreams and likely new areas including for example, local Design 
Guides, now incorporated into the NPPF as well as workstreams coming from the 
Environment Bill e.g. Local Nature Recovery Strategies. It is considered that these 
balance the need for speed with the necessity to be prudent given the uncertainty 29



around the emerging planning reforms. If approved this timetable would be published 
in a new Local Development Scheme. This is in Appendix 5 to this Report.   

 
6.34 The proposed approach is dependent and takes account of the following factors: 

 
• Requires recruitment of a Senior and a Principal Planning Officer to the Team. This 

is uncertain given the shortage of qualified planners and the difficulties in recruiting 

planners especially in this part of the country.  

• That the Planning Policy Team remains fully staffed throughout the preparation 

process  

• A total budget of £1,410,000 is available between now and the year ending 2028. 

This represents an overspend of £562,000 based on existing and projected annual 

budgets (£848,000) 

• This budgetary requirement will be continually monitored and challenged and may 

change as a result of the Planning Reforms, where for example, additional 

resources for digitisation and smart mapping may be required 

• The proposed end date of 2027 allows for flexibility to accommodate changes that 

may result from the planning reforms 

• Will require a smooth process through Working Party, senior officers and Members 

• Minimal consultation is undertaken to meet statutory requirements. 

• The current plan would be considered ‘out of date’ for 3 years 

• The Single Policy Partial  Review is at moderate risk of failure at examination 

 

Table 2: Proposed Timetable 

Local Plan Review Timetable) Partial Substantive 

   

A Commencement of Preparation Q3 2021 Q3 2021 

 Time Taken 1 month 1 month 

B Scoping of the Review Q3 2021  Q3 2021 – Q1 2022 

 Time Taken 1 month 3 months 

C Prepare revised local development 
scheme (Cabinet approval) 

Q3 2021  Q3 2021  

 Time Taken 2 months 2 months 

D Prepare and consult on Statement of 
Community Involvement (Cabinet 
approval) 

Q3- Q4 2021 Q3- Q4 2021 

 Time Taken 2 months 2 months 

E Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
and preparation (including consultation) 
(Prepared externally) 

Q4 2021 -Q4 2022 Q1 2022 -Q3 2026 

 Time Taken Throughout process Throughout process 

F Collation of evidence base Q3 2021 -Q4 2021 Q3 2021 -Q1 2024 

 Time Taken 1 month 3 years 

G Prepare Call for Sites (Working Group and 
Cabinet) 

 Q4 2021 

 Time Taken  2 months 

H Consult on Call for Sites and processing 
of responses 

 Q1 2022 

30



 Time Taken  3 months 

I First Conversation Consultation (Issues 
and Options) preparation and Cabinet 
approval (Regulation 18) 

Q1 2022 Q2 2022 – Q3 2022 

 Time Taken 1 month 6 months 

J First Conversation Consultation (Issues 
and Options) consultation and processing 
of responses (Regulation 18) 

Q1 2022 – Q2 2022 Q1 2023 -Q2 2023 

 Time Taken 2 months 6 months 

K Preferred Options and draft Plan 
preparation and Council approval 
(Regulation 18) 

 Q2 2023 -Q4 2023 

 Time Taken  9 months 

L Preferred options and draft Plan 
consultation and processing of responses 
(Regulation 18) 

 Q1 2024 – Q3 2024 

 Time Taken  9 months 

M Publication Draft Council preparation and 
approval for Submission (Regulation 19) 
(working Group and Cabinet 

Q2 2022  Q4 2024 -Q2 2025 

 Time Taken 2 months 9 months 

N Publication Draft consultation and 
processing of responses (Regulation 19) 

Q3 2022 Q4 2025 – Q2 2026 

 Time Taken  6 months 

O Approval of Submission Draft  (working 
Group and Cabinet 

Q3 2022 Q4 2026 

 Time Taken  2 months 

P Submission for examination (Regulation 
22) 

Q3 2022 Q4 2026 

 Time Taken  1 month 

Q Examination / Modifications (Regulations 
23, 24) 

Q4 2022 Q2 2027 

 Time Taken 1 month 3 months 

R Adoption (Regulation 26) (Council) Q1 2023 Q4 2027 

 Time Taken 1 month 2 months 

 
 
7 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
7.1 The Preparation of a Local Plan is a statutory requirement. Plans must be underpinned 

by an appropriate evidence base, much of which is required at an early stage of the 
preparation process to inform future decisions over development strategies and 
allocations.  

 
8 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
8.1 An up to date Local Plan is a key investment in the District that helps the Council to 

shape where developments can take place in the District to maximise environmental 
benefits and ensure the provision of appropriate transport links, provide for a variety of 
homes to meet local needs, built to an appropriate  standard, create policies that 

31



address the causes and potential impacts of climate change, and the improvement of 
biodiversity, inform providers of infrastructure the types of infrastructure and community 
facilities to benefit both existing and new residents, and support new and growing 
businesses so that people can work locally to minimise commuting. 

 
8.2 If the Council does not have an up-to-date Local Plan, development will still take place. 

However, it will not be able to use its own local planning policies to help decide where 
development should go, and will be less able to require the schools, open space and 
road upgrades that are needed to support development. 

 
9 IMPLICATIONS 

 
9.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data 
Protection;  Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; 
Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders /Consultation, 
Timescales; Other.  Where the report author considers that there may be implications 
under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 
 Corporate Priorities 

 
9.2 The Local Plan Review aligns with the following corporate priorities in the Breckland 

Corporate Plan 2020–2023. 
 

 To deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local Plan, in 
conjunction with our key partners. 

 Enable the effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs 
and aspirations to ensure that our residents including veterans have access to a 
range of housing options in the district. 

 
Staffing and Financial 

 
9.3 If Cabinet agree the recommendations, then this will mean that there would be two 

Examinations rather than the usual one. The Examinations for the wider review will 
need to come from future budgets. Additional budget is required of £562k over the 7 
years (as detailed in paragraph 6.30). These cost estimates will be further worked on 
and options to fund this shortfall will be incorporated into the budget setting process for 
approval by Council to ensure the plan is fully funded through to completion. 

 
9.4 The preparation of the evidence base for the Substantive review will be extensive. 
It will be required over the next 3 years to be able to inform the draft Plan. 
 
Risk Management 

 
9.5 Policy INF 03 of the adopted Local Plan as currently worded represents a significant risk 

to the Council as having out of date policies would leave the Council vulnerable to 
unwanted applications and appeals. The risk is not just financial but also reputational. 
The suggested approach outlined in the report offers a potential way forward which if 
successful would reduce the risk of the plan being out-of-date, although as outlined in 
the report is not without its own risks. 32



 
9.6 There are risks associated with undertaking a Substantive review of the Local Plan at 

this time.  The timetable is based on the existing planning system and the anticipated 
resources required to complete the projects. These may change as these reforms 
progress.  

 
10.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
10.1  All 
 
Acronyms 
 
PINS: Planning Inspectorate 
GTAA: Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Assessment 
PPTS: Government planning policy for traveller sites 
MCHLG: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework 
SA: Sustainability Appraisal 
SHMAA / HNA: Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment / Housing Needs Assessment 
SCI: Statement of Community Involvement 
 

Background Papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control 

Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 
Telephone Number: 07775036582 
Email: Simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk 

Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: Yes  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service.  

33

mailto:Simon.wood@breckland.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.darcy@breckland.gov.uk


 

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Paul Claussen: Executive Member for Planning  
 
To: Cabinet: 20 September 2021 
 
Author: Simon Wood: Director of Planning and Building Control 

Andrew D’Arcy: Planning Policy Manager 
 
Subject:  Local Plan Review  
 
Purpose: To seek Cabinet’s approval for changes to the proposed approach in 

respect of the Local Plan review  
 
 

APPENDICES 1, 2 AND 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 34



 

 APPENDIX 1: CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES 
 

 Uncertainty and delays to the publication of the housing requirement and 
delays to work on the revised Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment 
(SHMAA)  

 
A1.1 In his Report, the Local Plan Inspector concluded that the Council should review the 

Plan evidenced by the outputs of a new SHMAA underpinned by the 2016 based 
housing figures that were published in September 2018.The 2016 based figures had 
already been replaced by MHCLG, that in February 2019 had  announced that it 
would be undertaking a review of the methodology used for calculating the 
standardised housing figures and in the interim had reintroduced the 2014 based 
figures for the purposes of calculating the Government’s ‘Standard Method’, This 
conflicts with the content of the Inspector’s Report that requires the use of the 2016 
figure. It is considered that using the 2016 figures would have resulted in the Review 
being found unsound at examination. Furthermore, a review of Policy INF 03 based 
on the 2014 based figures would have meant that by the time of Submission in 
November 2022, the baseline for these figures would have been 8 years old and 
would likely have been superseded before the submission date. This could have 
resulted in the Council being required to undertake a further immediate review. It is 
considered that using 2014 based figures would be appropriate for councils who 
were at an advanced stage of plan preparation but not for those where a review was 
yet to begin. 

 
A1.2 The Review of the housing figures was not completed until December 2020 when 

the Government announced the outcome of it’s consultation on the standard method 
for calculating housing need. This produced a figure of 661 dwellings per annum for 
Breckland District. The transitional arrangements for those preparing plans using the 
2014 housing figures were that for local authorities who are very close to publishing 
their Regulation 19 plan, there is a three-month window to publish their Regulation 
19 plan for consultation, followed by the six months to submit. Critically, this means 
that if Breckland had commenced work on an immediate partial review of the Plan 
using the 2014 figures, it would have to have been in a position to consult on the 
Regulation 19 Plan by March 2021 and to submit by September 2021. Given the 
scope of the Review required by Policy INF 03. this would have been an impossible 
and unachievable task due to the amount of key evidence that would have been 
required, including a new Housing Needs Assessment, Gypsy and Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople Assessment  (GTAA) and internal space standards workas 
well as the statutory duty to prepare and consult on emerging formulative policies 
and proposals prior to submitting a Regulation 19 by September 2021.   

 
A1.3 The publication of this figure finally means that the Council can now commence 

meaningful work on the review of the Plan as required by Policy INF 03. However 
the Council has effectively lost 14 months of time due to the ongoing uncertainty of 
what the housing requirement would be as a basis to prepare the SHMAA and  
could not have met the transitional arrangements now confirmed by the Government 
in submitting its Regulation 19 Plan by September 2021 using the 2014 housing 
figures. Therefore, any work completed in the last 14 months would need to have 
been revisited and effectively statutory work on the Plan restarted.  

 35



A1.4 To further complicate the situation in March 2021 the Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) published new data on the affordability of housing within local authorities 
across England and Wales. This data feeds into the government's standard method 
for calculating local housing need, against which councils set their housing targets. 
For Breckland this has reduced the annual requirement to 643 dwellings per annum 
(March 2021).  

 
A1.5 There has clearly been considerable uncertainty regarding the housing requirement 

element which the review of Policy INF 03 would need to plan for. In the meantime, 
the continuing strong performance in housing delivery as demonstrated by the 
Council’s 5 Year Housing Land Supply position demonstrates that the adopted local 
plan’s requirement figure (612), that is similar to the new 643 requirement is 
sufficient to meet need arising in Breckland and reduces the need for a partial 
review.   

 
A1.6 The adopted Local Plan is evidenced by the 2016 SHMAA that was jointly 

commissioned by the Central Norfolk local authorities (Norwich City, Broadland, 
Breckland, North Norfolk and South Norfolk, together with the Broads Authority 
Executive Area) as this best reflects the functional housing market within which 
Breckland lies. At the time the Local Plan was being finalised it had been envisaged 
that the housing requirements for a review would be based upon a joint review of the 
SHMAA. During 2020 the partner authorities worked together to agree a tender brief 
for the review of this key piece of evidence.  

 
A1.7 In September 2020, as a result of the uncertainty on how best to proceed with the 

Study, following the publication of the Changes to the Planning System consultation 
Paper, it was agreed that work on this document be paused until the results of the 
consultation were published.  

 
A1.8 In January 2021 it was agreed to consider ways in which work on the Study could be 

revived following the publication of the new standardised housing figures. Although 
Breckland remained committed to the review of the Study, at these discussions both 
Norwich City, Broadland and South Norfolk confirmed that they did not want to 
commit to a full review of the SHMAA as this could undermine the progress on its 
local plan, that has now been submitted for examination. This is because the 
housing element of the Plan is underpinned by the existing SHMAA.   

 
A1.9 Due to delays out of the Council’s control, including the publication of the 

Government’s consultation paper and the more recent decision by the Greater 
Norwich Local Plan Partnership has resulted in Breckland now having to 
commission its own SHMAA resulting in unavoidable delays to any prospect of 
delivering a review of the Local Plan within the timeframe prescribed by Policy INF 
03.  

 
    The National Planning Policy Framework 

 
A1.10   The adopted Local Plan was examined under the 2012 National Planning Policy 

Framework. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published 
in July 2021.This introduced a number of new plan-making requirements, including: 

 

 a clear distinction between strategic and local policies, 36



 entry level homes; 

 a time horizon of a minimum 15 years and at least 30 years for larger scale 
developments such as new settlements or significant extensions to existing 
villages and towns; 

 a new focus on the design quality of places and on making ‘beautiful’ and 
‘sustainable’ places, through the use of plans, design policy, guidance and codes 
including the statement that all local planning authorities should prepare design 
guides or codes consistent with the principles set out in the National Design 
Guide and National Model Design Code, and which reflect local character and 
design preferences;  

 A statement that local authorities, in regard to public service infrastructure, 
should work proactively and positively with promoters, delivery partners and 
statutory bodies to plan for required facilities and resolve key planning issues 
before applications are submitted.  

 
A1.11   Many of these new elements of the NPPF relate to the delivery of housing. When 

combined with the need for a minimum 15-year horizon and in order to comply with 
the NPPF provisions regarding strategic policies (including the overall housing 
number as set out in Policy INF 03) and for the review to continue to plan for the 
period to 2036 (as with the current plan period) it would be necessary for the review 
to be adopted by November 2021. This is a year before the requirement in Policy 
INF 03 requiring the Plan to be submitted. Allowing for the examination this would 
have meant that the Plan would have needed to have been submitted at least 12 
months prior to this date (November 2020) only 12 months after the adoption of the 
current Plan. When this is combined with the uncertainty over the housing 
requirement, such a deadline was never going to be an achievable option. The 
Council would then also be required to undertake an immediate full review of the 
Plan to take account of the need to keep plans up to date every 5 years and to 
reflect the outcomes of the forthcoming planning reforms.  

  
     Economic Development 

A1.12 The Inspector referred to the dualling of a section of the A47 near Dereham to be 
completed by 2020 and that the effect of this on the economic strategy needed to 
be considered in the partial review. This refers to the proposed dualling of the A47 
between North Tuddenham and Easton. The latest available information on the 
implementation of this scheme is that the Development Consent Order was lodged 
in Spring 2021, and the examination commenced in August. Work is scheduled to 
start in January-March 2022-23 and be completed in 2024-25. This timescale is 
considered to dovetail with a substantive review of the Plan and can be factored 
into this work.  

    Gypsy and Travellers 

A1.13 The Inspector considered that Policy HOU 08 of the Plan should be reviewed in 
respect of meeting the identified demand for Gypsies and Travellers’ Sites under 
the Planning Policy for Travellers Site guidance 2015 (PPTS).  The Council is yet 
to commission an up to date needs report for this particular issue. This work was to 
form part of the full review of the Plan as agreed in June 2020.  

A1.14 The Council is aware of a recent hearing in the High Court (December 2020: Lisa 
Smith v Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government) that 37



raises questions of significant public interest concerning discrimination against 
Gypsies and Travellers. In particular Ground 1 concerns whether the definition of 
“Gypsies and Travellers” contained in Annex 1 of the PPTS  is unlawfully 
discriminatory.  That definition excludes, from the PPTS’ ambit, any Gypsy or 
Traveller who has ceased to travel “permanently”.  That will exclude, for example, 
those Gypsies or Travellers who have permanently ceased to travel due to old age, 
disability or due to caring responsibilities.  

A1.15 In June 2021 the High Court found that the definition of “Gypsies and Travellers” is 
not unlawful. However, the timing of the judgement has meant that it is now 
unrealistic and unfeasible for the Council to complete the review of Policy INF 03 
within the prescribed timescale set out in that Policy. In the meantime, applications 
will continue to be considered on their individual merits on a case by case basis 
with reference to policy HOU08 of the Local Plan.  

A1.16 Whist it is possible that the total number of those meeting the definition and those 
not meeting it would be the same, it is important to note that only the need from 
those households who meet the definition and from those of the 'unknown' 
households who subsequently demonstrate that they meet it should be considered 
as need arising from the GTAA and that would need to be addressed through site 
allocation/intensification/expansion policies. The need for those households who do 
not meet the new definition will need to be addressed through other means such as 
the SHMAA. 

A1.17 Furthermore, the evidence base (2015) is relatively old and to rely on it could be 
challenged. Even if not, a review would be necessary in the near future to update 
the position and this could result in the Council having to identify more sites than in 
the partial review. Paragraph 31 of the NPPF states….’ The preparation and review 
of all policies should be underpinned by relevant and up-to-date evidence’. The 
Council considered that it would be prudent to await the outcome of this case and 
whether it would consequently require a change to the PPTS before commissioning 
an update to its evidence base.  

    Planning Reform 

A1.18 For some time, the Government had been signaling its intention to make radical 
changes to the planning system in England.  The Covid-19 pandemic brought 
about some immediate changes to certain aspects of planning policy – such as 
enabling pubs to offer hot food takeaway services – while other, substantial 
changes to the planning system, aimed (the Government says) at creating a new 
system suitable for the 21st century, were published for consultation on 6 August 
2020 through the White Paper Planning for the Future.  The Government also 
proposed some changes to the current planning system and launched a concurrent 
consultation about that. 

A1.19 The consultation documents proposed fundamental changes to both the content of 
future local plans and to the way that they are to be prepared. Critically, the 
consultations also set out a new proposed methodology for the calculation of the 
new standardised housing number. For Breckland this calculation would have 
resulted in an annual housing figure of 1,077 dwellings.  

A1.20 As a result of these consultations Breckland resolved to pause work on the review 
of the Local Plan until there was greater certainty on the Plan making process and 38



in particular on the housing figures. The Council did not want to embark on 
potentially expensive and abortive work on the review as the Review would not 
have progressed to a sufficiently advanced stage by the introduction of any reforms 
(suggested to be November 2021) to trigger any transitional arrangements.   

A1.21 It is considered that this decision has now been further vindicated following the 
announcement of the Planning Bill in the Queen’s Speech (May 2021). This 
confirmed the Government’s intentions to press ahead with a root-and-branch 
shake-up of the planning system with the inclusion of a forthcoming planning bill. 
The bill, which is expected to be brought before Parliament in the autumn, is being 
designed to enact planning reforms trailed in last summer’s planning white paper. 

A1.22 It is clear that councils will be required to prepare new local plans. At the LGA Annual 
Conference (July 2021) the Secretary of State for Housing stated ‘Let me be clear, 
the proposals we will bring forward later in the year will be council led. They will also 
be plan led; in fact they will emphasise plans more than ever before. They will require 
up to date plans for every local authority because that at the end of the day is the 
foundation of a plan-based system’. 

 
A1.23 What remains unclear is the degree of reform that the Government intends to 

propose to the plan making process and the timetable for introduction. The 
proposed planning reforms are facing scrutiny and there is pressure to abandon the 
proposals that are expected to be published in the autumn. The planning reforms 
are reportedly being blamed for the Conservatives' recent defeat in the Chesham 
and Amersham by-election.  Earlier this month the Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (HCLG) Select Committee published a report urging the government to 
reconsider the reforms, which include a zonal approach for planning and replacing 
Section 106 with a national infrastructure levy. 

 
A1.24 The Planning Bill comprises several key strands to create what the government says 

will be a more streamlined process. These include: 
 

 A traffic light system of zone planning 

A1.25 In August, the government recommended that a traffic light system of zone planning 
should be introduced which will classify land for either: 

 

 Growth  

 Renewal  

 Protection 

Land in growth areas will benefit from automatic permission, while land in urban 
renewal areas will be granted permission in principle. 

 

 A digital planning system  

The document-based planning system currently in effect would move to a digital 
one. This is designed to improve the speed and efficiency of application decisions 
and allow residents to be more engaged in the development of their local area. 

 

 Scrapping Section 106 
39



A new infrastructure levy has been proposed to replace Section 106, a legal 
agreement between an applicant seeking planning permission and the local 
planning authority. However, details on how the levy would work are yet to be 
outlined. The HCLG Select Committee is against this proposal and says it could 
jeopardise the availability of affordable housing in the UK.  

 

 A Design Code 

The reforms would also incorporate a National Model Design Code to improve the 
beauty, quality and design of homes in England. The code will include a 10-point 
checklist of design principles for councils to consider when approving new 
developments. The code also includes references to custom and self build, with 
accompanying guidance underlying how design codes can encourage self build and 
custom build developments.  

 
A1.26 The Housing Minister also re-iterated the commitment to the Future Homes 

Standard that will ensure that, from 2025, all new homes will be expected to have at 
least 75% lower carbon emissions and be zero carbon ready without the need for 
expensive retrofitting.  

 
A1.27 In May 2021, the Government published a Written Ministerial Statement to set out 

the Government’s plans for the delivery of First Homes defining the product as 
affordable housing. These changes came into effect in June 2021 and would need 
to be considered in the Review of the Plan.  

A1.28 The Environment Bill was introduced in the House of Commons in January 2020. It 
has since been delayed three times, with ministers stating that the Covid-19 
pandemic left too little parliamentary time for debate. The bill includes various 
environmental protection measures, these include the establishment of new 
environmental principles and legally binding environmental targets, including 
achieving net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. 

 Internal Space Standards 

A1.29 The Council acknowledges the Inspector’s requirements to reconsider these optional 
standards as part of the partial review but considers that as these are optional the 
timing of when and if this is completed is a decision for the Council and can be done 
through a full review and should not be required to be submitted by November 2022. 
If the Council wanted to introduce optional standards then the requirement to 
undertake a viability assessment on this (as required by the Inspector) could impact 
on other parts of the plan, including critically remaining housing allocations. 
Therefore, standards cannot be considered to be a discreet and isolated part of the 
plan and as such are better considered as part of a full review that would also revisit 
existing allocations and be subject to a new plan wide viability assessment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 40



 
APPENDIX 2: EXAMPLES OF THE EVIDENCE BASE THAT WILL BE AVAILABLE 
FROM OTHER SOURCES   

 
• Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework 

• Elderly Accommodation and Support Needs Study 

• 4G and 5G / Broadband Infrastructure Guidance 

• Climate Change topic paper 

• Water Resources East 

• Norfolk Green Infrastructure (GI) and Recreational impact Avoidance and 

Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 

• Norfolk and Suffolk’s Local Industrial Strategy 

• Breckland Town Delivery Plans 

• Breckland District Council: Supply & Demand Study: Commercial Property and 

Allocated Land 

• The Cambridge – Norwich Technology Corridor: Future Demand Study 

• Breckland Sustainable Strategy 

• Norfolk Local Energy Asset Representation 

• Anglian Water (Water Resources Management Plan) 

 
APPENDIX 4: COMPARATIVE STAFFING RESOURCE 

 
  

Name Population Area Parishes Resource 

Breckland 140,000 1,035 113 3 FTE1  

Broadland and 
South Norfolk 

130,000 
138,000 

552 
907 

65 
118 

9.1 FTE Shared resource 
with South Norfolk 
 
Place Making Manager 
shared with Norwich City 
 
Joint Local Plan being 
prepared with Broadland and 
South Norfolk 

Great Yarmouth 100,000 174 21 6 FTE: Includes Tree work 

Kings Lynn 152,000 1,439 101 7 FTE: Includes Community 
Infrastructure Levy work 

North Norfolk 104,000 962 121 6.5 FTE  

Norwich City 213,000 52 0 6.5 FTE 

 
 
 

                                                
1 This compares to 5.5 FTE in 2013 

41



 

 

 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 

 

 

STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT 

 
 

 

Draft For Consultation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2021 
 

42



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

Foreword 

We know that the planning functions that the Council carries out are very important to 

the community of Breckland and appreciate that many people feel very strongly about 

planning issues. Whilst plans and planning applications have the potential to benefit 

the community, we are aware that some can give rise to a range of diverse opinions. 

 
The Council believes that consultation on our planning documents and on planning 

applications is essential. We want to make it easier for you to be more involved in 

shaping plans and influencing planning decisions in Breckland in a way that is as fair, 

transparent and inclusive as possible.  

 

We want to hear what all parts of the community think of proposals put forward by 

ourselves as the Local Planning Authority, or by a developer or individual, be it a large 

allocation of land for housing development, or a small householder planning 

application for a conservatory. 

 
Consultation or engagement is not always about the community saying they support or 

do not support a particular proposal. Local people are often the best source of 

information about their local area and better decisions can be made by tapping into this 

wealth of knowledge. 

 
Councillors have a key role to play in plan-making.  They  
 

 Act as a link between planning officers and people in the community  

 Are decision-makers who discuss the plan and decide whether it is ready for 
consultation 

 Give full consideration to all comments received 
 
Whilst we cannot guarantee that your comment on an application or planning 

document will always result in the changes you want, we can guarantee that the 

Council reads every comment it receives and takes on board what the comment is 

saying when making decisions. We will explain clearly to you why we have made the 

decisions we have made. This Statement of Community Involvement is our 

commitment to engaging with the community in planning policy and development 

management. It sets out how we will consult on proposals and who we will consult 

with. It also sets out what we will do with the comments we receive. 

 
Planning affects everyone in some way, so it is important that local people understand 

the process fully and are given the opportunity to get involved. 
 

 

 

Paul Claussen  
 

Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Planning 
 

Paul.claussen@breckland.gov.uk 

 

43



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

3 

 

 

 

1 What is a Statement of Community Involvement? 

1.1 The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a document which sets out how 
and when the Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA) will engage with, and 
consult with, local communities, local businesses and other interested parties on 
planning policy documents and planning applications.  

1.2 The LPA is required to produce an SCI under Section 18 (Part 1) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 20041 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
(2021) states that Plans should:  

“be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between plan-makers 
and communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and 
operators and statutory consultees” (Paragraph 16c) 

Planning Reforms  

1.3 In August 2020 the Government published a White Paper ‘Planning for the Future’ 
for consultation which would, if enacted into legislation, have a very significant effect 
on the process, content and timetable for making local plans. In the context of the 
White Paper and need for the Council to carry out its current statutory duties as 
efficiently and effectively as possible the detailed work programme will be drawn up 
in such a way as to be appropriate under the present or proposed plan making 
regimes. The Council will keep abreast of legislative developments and keep 
residents and other stakeholders informed of the details and implications of changes 
as they arise.  

1.4 The White Paper particularly advances the case to:  

“move the democracy forward in the planning process and give neighbourhoods and 
communities an earlier and more meaningful voice in the future of their area as plans 
are made, harnessing digital technology to make it much easier to access and 
understand information about specific planning proposals. More engagement should 
take place at the Local Plan phase” (paragraph 1.12).  

1.5 The timetable for the production of the Council’s new Local Plan as set out in the 
Local Development Scheme being published concurrently with this SCI will be 
subject to change should the Government’s proposals, set out in the White Paper, be 
translated in to law, new national policy and practice guidance. The Council can 
make early and effective progress with this initial stage without wasting resources or 
time. Similarly, the SCI will be reviewed and updated as required following changes 
to the planning legislation. 

1.6 The Council is keen to involve local people in the planning process since the 
decisions we make in planning have the potential to impact upon local people and 
the places they live and work. The Council will be open and honest in the way which 
we work and make decisions and we will response to people’s needs in a fair and 
consistent way.  

                                                
1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/18 

44



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

2 Who is our Community? 
 
2.1 Our ‘community’ includes all the individuals, groups and organisations that live, work 

or operate within the District. We recognise that the different groups that make up our 
community have different needs and expectations. They also have their own desires, 
capabilities and capacity to get involved. This SCI sets out to maximize the 
opportunities for everyone in the community to be involved and their voices heard. 

 

Table1: Our Community 

Local Communities 

 

The interests of local communities are represented by county, 
district, parish and town councils, all have the capability to be 
involved. Specific interests can be represented by amenity or 
interest groups. The community is made up of individuals who 
have the ability and those who find it harder to be involved. 

Statutory Stakeholders 

 

There are certain groups that we are required to involve. These 
include Historic England, Environment Agency, Highways 
England, Natural England, Norfolk County Council and 
parish/town councils. 

Service Providers 

 

Service providers include local health trusts/clinical 
commissioning groups, schools, utility and transport providers, 
emergency services, community development organisations 
and others. All of these can be easily identified and have the 
capacity to be involved in the Local Plan process. However we 
will seek to involve them only when it is relevant for them. 

Developers And 
Landowners 

 

Developers are already involved in the planning system and will 
seek to be involved. Most can be easily identified from previous 
involvement and have the capability to be involved. 

Landowners will be keen to understand and consider the 
implications of any policies/ decisions in order to protect their 
rights to develop or protect their land and its value. Both groups 
will be supported in being more actively involved in the Local 
Plan. 

Business Sector Local businesses range in size from the self-employed and 
small businesses to larger organisations. Their capacity to be 
involved also varies. Larger organisations may have the 
capacity to get more actively involved, whilst smaller 
organisations may need support in understanding the planning 
system, how it relates to them and how they can get involved. 

Other Agencies Other organisations can provide valuable views regarding 
specific development plans. These organisations are easy to 
identify and generally have the capacity to be involved. Some 
may need support in understanding the Local Plan process and 
how it relates to their operations, so they are able to contribute 
effectively 

2.2  The LPA is committed to involving communities and other stakeholders in the 
planning process. The LPA will:  

45



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

3 

 

 

 Engage in a timely, and appropriate way with stakeholders, ensuring people are 
invited to engage with planning policy and development management before 
major decisions have been made;  

 Use a variety of methods to inform and engage communities in the planning 
process. The LPA understands that people with different needs and interests 
require different approaches;  

 Continue to explore new and innovative ways to engage with a wider range of 
people, especially focusing on electronic communication;  

 Avoid using jargon and strive to communicate in the clearest and simplest way 
possible;  

 Ensure public involvement is appropriate to the scale and nature of the planning 
issue being addressed in line with the resources available;  

 Treat participants with respect and ensure the safety and wellbeing of 
participants by taking account of the safeguarding frameworks, confidentiality 
and data protection guidelines; and  

 Keep under continual review the suitability and effectiveness of our methods of 
engagement, and make changes where necessary.  

2.3 It should be noted that comments do not remain confidential; it is the LPA’s 
policy to make comments public both as part of the planning application and 
planning policy consultation processes. Comments may also be made public 
during a public inquiry or examination of a document. 

 

3 Planning policy documents 

 
3.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) (as amended) requires local 

planning authorities to prepare a statutory development plan that will guide future 

development within their area. Development plans are comprised of several 

documents.  

 

3.2  The legal requirements for consultation and community involvement in plan making 

are set by the Government in legislation including The Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act (2004) (as amended), the Neighbourhood Planning Act (2017) and 

The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations (2012) (as 

amended). This legislation sets out the procedure to be followed by local planning 

authorities in relation to the preparation of local plans and supplementary planning 

documents including who is to be consulted and which documents must be made 

available at each stage of the process. However, the legislative requirements do 

not specify how communities or stakeholders should be involved and accordingly 

the Council has flexibility as to how it undertakes engagement. Furthermore, the 

scale and extent of consultation may vary depending on the subject of the planning 

document. This section of the SCI sets out how the Council will meet these legal 

requirements. 

 

46



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

 Local Plans 

 

3.3 The Local Plan sets out the vision and core policies for the future development of a 

district. Over the next few years, the Council will be reviewing the district-wide Local 

Plan which will set out the policies and proposals for the development, conservation 

and use of land and buildings in the District. Accompanying the Local Plan will be a 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA). The 

SA will make sure that social, economic and environmental considerations are fully 

considered at every stage of preparation for each development plan document. The 

HRA will determine if policies would have any significant effects on internationally 

important nature conservation sites and, if so, suggest ways in which the impacts 

could be mitigated. When a local plan is published to allow comments to be 

submitted the SA and HRA will be published for comments at the same time. 

 

 Neighbourhood Plans 

 

3.4 The Localism Act 2011 introduced the idea of Neighbourhood Planning, which 

includes the ability for a Town or Parish Council to decide whether to prepare their 

own Neighbourhood (Development) Plan.  This Plan is more detailed than a Local 

Plan; but like the Local Plan, it contains planning policies and allocations to guide 

future development and the use of land.  However, they will only operate within the 

agreed designated Neighbourhood Area.  This is normally a parish or town area in 

Breckland, but this can include more than one or part of another parish or town area. 

 

3.5 When a Neighbourhood Plan is being prepared, it must ‘take account’ of national 

policy and guidance, as well as conforming to the strategic policies of the adopted 

Breckland Local Plan.  It should also contribute to achieving sustainable 

development, as well as meeting EU environmental requirements (enshrined into UK 

legislation) and other English legislation and regulation concerning Neighbourhood 

Planning.  These are known as the ‘basic conditions’, which are tested when the Plan 

is examined. 

 

3.6 Although a Neighbourhood Plan will be written by a Town or Parish Council, or a 

working group on behalf of them, Breckland Council still has a role to play.  It has a 

statutory responsibility to provide ‘advice or assistance’ to these groups, but it is up 

to each LPA to decide what they “consider appropriate” to assist with producing a 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

3.7 The statutory stages that Breckland Council is involved with organising are: 

 Public consultation on (where required) and agreeing the Neighbourhood Plan 

area  

 Public consultation on the submission version (Reg.16) of the Plan 

 Examination of the plan including appointing the independent examiner in 

agreement with the Town or Parish Council 

 Referendum, after the Council has decided that the Plan meets the ‘basic 

conditions’ and 

 ‘Making’ (agreeing) the Referendum version of the Plan, where more than 

47



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

3 

 

 

50% of the local community has voted in favour of the plan 

3.8 In addition to the statutory stages, there are other stages of the Neighbourhood Plan 

preparation process that Breckland Council is involved with.  These are: 

 Front loading, which is support before the statutory stages  

 Environmental Assessment, involving arranging the screening, but not the full 

environmental assessment (Environmental Report) if one is required   

 Ongoing advice and discussions between Regs.14-16 consultations) before 

the plan goes out for further consultation and the Examination 

 

3.9 Neighbourhood Planning legislation indicates that it is up to each LPA to decide what 

‘advice and assistance’ is offered to help the groups with the production of a 

Neighbourhood Plan.  The type of support offered in relation to this can be 

summarised under five basic areas: 

 General guidance and information on neighbourhood planning 

 Technical support on the neighbourhood planning stages  

 Strategic advice on Neighbourhood Plan objectives and direction  

 Advice on policy content and feedback 

 Consultation activity 

 

3.10 The amount of ‘advice and assistance’ given in these areas will vary from group to 

group, according to the different group’s needs.  This advice can be provided through 

documents and information on the website, emails and phone calls, as well as face 

to face or video conference meetings.  

  Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

3.11 A local planning authority may also produce supplementary planning documents 

(SPDs). SPDs are prepared to expand policy or provide further detail to the policies 

in the development plan. They are not subject to independent examination. SPDs 

are a material consideration in planning decisions.   

 

 When can you get involved? 

 

3.12 To generate broader and richer conversations to inform more effective and 

legitimate decision making, the Council is keen to work with others such as Norfolk 

County Council to pool resources, ideas, communication channels, contacts and 

make innovative uses of new digital engagement and visualisation tools. 

 

3.13 The key informal and formal opportunities for communities to be involved in the 

preparation of planning policy documents are set out in Table 2 and Table 3 below. 

 

 

 

 

48



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

Key to Tables 2 and 3 

Informal 
engagement 

Formal 
consultation 

Referendum Final decision 

 
 

 
 

 

Table 2 - The regulations refered to come from the The Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).  For the Examination, the tests of 

‘soundness are:  

 Positively prepared, providing a strategy which meet the area’s needs 

 Justified, which considers alternatives and is based on evidence 

 Effective, by being deliverable over the plan period and based on joint working on 
cross-boundary strategic matters  

 Consistent with national policy to enable the delivery of sustainable development  

 

Table 3 - The regulations refered to come from the The Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

Regulations 2012.  For the Examination, the ‘basic conditions’ test are: 

 Have regard to national policies and advice 

 Achieving sustainable development 

 Being in in general conformity with the strategic policies in the Local Plan 

 Meeting EU environmental regulations (incorporated into UK law) 

 The legal requirements have been met and complied with 

  

49



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

3 

 

 

Table 2: The Local Plan 

Preparation 
stage 

What happens Key time to get 
involved 

Development 
of the 
evidence 
base 

Examination of 
issues and 
options, needs 
and aspirations 

Breckland Council produces background 
research and gathers evidence to inform the 
emerging plan. It informs stakeholders and the 
public that the plan is being produced. 

It also carries out extensive and inclusive 
engagement with residents and other 
stakeholders and begins a Sustainability 
Appraisal that continues throughout the 
preparation process. 

 

 

Preparation of 
the Local Plan 
(Regulation 
18) 

The Council formally consults on the preferred 
option for the draft Local Plan for six-weeks to 
allow comments (representations) to be made. 

 

Publication 
(Regulation 19) 

After taking into account the comments received 
on the (Regulation 18) preferred options draft 
Local Plan, the Local Plan is formally published 
for a six-week period to allow representations 
(comments) to be made and are considered 
during the Independent Examination). 

Any Addendum (further changes) to the 
Regulation 19 plan will be published for a further 
six-week period to allow additional comments to 
be made. 

 

 

 

 

 

Submission 
(Regulation 22) 

The Local Plan is then submitted to the 
Secretary of State for examination along with 
other key supporting evidence base 
documents. 

 

Examination 
(Regulation 24) 

An examination is held by an Inspector. The 
Inspector will assess the soundness of the 
Local Plan. Those who submitted comments at 
the (Regulation 19) stage are entitled to be 
heard at the examination. 

Any main modifications (changes) the Inspector 
considers necessary to make the plan ‘sound’ 
would be subject to a further sustainability 
appraisal and consultation. 

 

50



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

Table 2: The Local Plan 

Preparation 
stage 

What happens Key time to get 
involved 

Publication of 
Inspector’s 
Recommendations 
(Regulation 25) 

The Local Authority publish the Inspector’s 
recommendations and give notice to all those 
who requested to be notified that the 
modifications are available to make comments 
on. 

 

Adoption 
(Regulation 26) 

If the Inspector finds the Local Plan ‘sound’, the 
Council will need to agree (adopt) the Local 
Plan. This may include modifications 
recommended by the Inspector. 

 

 

 

 

Table 3: The Neighbourhood Plan 

Preparation stage What happens Key time to get 
involved 

Neighbourhood 
Area Designation 
(Reg.5-7) 

An application for neighbourhood area to be 
designated is sent to Breckland Council by the 
Parish or Town Council (Qualifying body). 

The proposal for the designated area will only 
need to be publicised for six weeks if the area 
is different from the Parish area.  

 

 

Preparing a 
Draft 
Neighbourhood 
Plan 

The Qualifying body engages and consults 
those living and working in the neighbourhood 
area, gathers baseline information, and 
prepares the draft Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Pre-Submission 
(Regulation 14) 

The Qualifying body publicises the draft 
Neighborhood Plan for a minimum of six 
weeks to bring it to the attention of those who 
live and work in the neighbourhood area to 
make comments (representations) on it.  

The Qualifying body also consults the 
“Consultation Bodies”, adjoining parish 
councils, and groups that represent voluntary 
bodies, racial, ethnic, national groups, 
religious groups, business groups and 

 

 

 

 

51



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

3 

 

 

Table 3: The Neighbourhood Plan 

Preparation stage What happens Key time to get 
involved 

disabled people in the neighbourhood area. 

A copy of the draft Neighbourhood Plan is 
sent to Breckland Council. 

 

Submission 
(Regulation 15) 

The draft Plan, including a designated area 
map, is submitted to Breckland Council by the 
Qualifying body along with a number of other 
supporting documents.  These include a 
Consultation Statement (outlining what 
consultation has carried out), a Basic 
Conditions Statement (explaining how these 
examination ‘tests’ are met), and any 
Environmental Assessment Statements 
(clarifying whether no further studies are 
required, or a full assessment is required). 

 

Publicising the 
Submission 
Neighbourhood 
Plan  
(Regulation 16) 

Breckland Council publicises the draft Plan for 
a further period of at least six weeks for 
consultation. 

Breckland Council needs to notify the 
consultation bodies and everyone else who 
made comments on the previous draft Plan, 
where they are listed in the Consultation 
Statement (one of the Submission 
documents). 

During this time, Breckland Council will agree 
with the Qualifying body, which Independent 
Examiner to appoint. 

 

Submission of the 
Plan to 
Examination 
(Regulation 17) 

Breckland Council submits the draft Plan and 
supporting documents, along with the 
Regulation 16 comments, to the Examiner.  

The Examiner will assess if the draft Plan 
meets the ‘basic conditions’ (the examination 
tests) and will issue a Report at the end of the 
examination. 

 

Decision and 
Publication of 
Examiner’s Report 
and Plan  
(Regulation 17A & 
18) 

Breckland Council will make a decision on the 
Examiners Report, regarding any modifications 
(changes) to the Plan within 5 weeks of the 
Report being issued or a date agreed between 
the Qualifying body and Breckland Council. 

This decision is then published on Breckland 

  

52



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

Table 3: The Neighbourhood Plan 

Preparation stage What happens Key time to get 
involved 

Council’s website to let those who live and 
work in the neighbourhood area know about it. 

Referendum 
(Reg.12, 
Schedule 4B, 
Town and 
Country 
Planning Act 
1990)  

Breckland Council organises the Referendum.  

This includes publishing an Information 
Statement and a number of other specified 
documents (The draft Neighbourhood Plan, 
the Examiners report, a Summary of the 
Reg.16 comments; Basic Council statement 
and a general statement about the Planning 
system and Neighbourhood Plans. 

This needs to be issued at least 28 days 
before the Referendum.  

If the majority of those who vote in a 
Referendum are in favour, then the plan must 
normally be agreed (made) by Breckland 
Council. 

 

Date Decision and 
Publicising a 
‘made’ 
Neighbourhood 
Plan (Regulation 
18A, 19 & 20)  

The decision on the Neighbourhood Plan 
should be made within 8 weeks of the 
Referendum. 

Once this is completed, Breckland Council will 
place a Decision Statement, outlining the 
reasons for that decision, and the Final 
version of the Neighbourhood Plan on its 
website.  Details of where and when these 
can be viewed will also be included.  

A copy of the Decision will also be sent to the 
Qualifying body, and any person who asked to 
be notified about this decision, as well as 
details where and when the Final 
Neighbourhood Plan can be viewed. 

 

 

 

53



 

 

Consultation on Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) 
 
3.14 As SPDs do not have development plan status, they are not subject to the same 

process of submission and independent examination as the local plan or 
neighbourhood plans. However, consultation plays an important role in the 
production of SPDs. The methods of engagement considered for planning 
documents as set out in in this Statement below also apply to SPDs. There will be a 
minimum of 4 weeks consultation. In accordance with the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) Regulations (2012) (as amended), a consultation 
statement will be prepared outlining the persons consulted during SPD preparation, a 
summary of the main issues raised during the consultation and how those comments 
have been addressed. As soon as reasonably practicable following adoption of the 
SPD, the Council will publish the Adoption Statement setting out the date adopted 
and that aggrieved persons have 3 months to apply to the High Court for judicial 
review of the decision to adopt the SPD. 

 
How will you be kept informed of the development of planning policy 
documents? 

 
3.15 Throughout the process of preparing planning policy documents, from the earliest 

stages through to adoption, community and stakeholders will be kept informed of 
progress as follows: 

 

 The Local Development Scheme2 

 The planning policy page of the Council’s website3 

 Reports to Cabinet and Council4 
 
3.16 A database of all interested parties wishing to receive information on key 

consultation stages is maintained by the Council. If you wish to be added please 
contact the Planning Policy Team at the Council by email: 
planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk 

 
3.17 When processing personal data, the LPA is required to tell people what we are doing 

with it. You have a right to know why we need it, what we will do with it and who we 
may share it with. This is set out in our privacy Notice.5 

 
3.17 Information about neighbourhood plans in Breckland is retained on the Council 

website6. 
 

Methods of consultation and engagement 
 
3.18 We will ensure all consultations are well advertised. Depending on the consultation 

stage, we will use the following techniques, as appropriate: 
 

 Advertise and promote consultations on the Council's website. 

                                                
2 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/local-plan-timetable 
3 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planningpolicy 
4 https://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx 
5 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/8649/Planning-Privacy-Notices 
6 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans 

54

mailto:planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk


3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

 Send E-mails or letters to relevant parties who have requested to be on our 
database. Place posters on notice boards and at public venues at appropriate 
locations. 

 Ask Town and Parish Councils and Councillors for their assistance in promoting 
consultations. Promote consultations in the local press or community magazines 
using adverts or press releases. 

 Use of social media and information technology: including the of social 
networking sites, such as Facebook and Twitter. 

 
3.19 The consultation and community involvement methods applied will be proportionate 

to the nature of the planning policy document being prepared. 
 
 INFORMATION: The Council will provide information on what the Council is doing, 

what stage it is at in the preparation of the documents, where documents can be 
inspected, and how people can get involved. Notices will be placed on the Council’s 
website, and advertising through other methods such as social media, news 
releases, Council publications or press adverts. 

 
 CONSULTATION: Consultation will take place informally during the research stages 

of documents and formally during the publication stages where people can comment 
on the Council’s proposed policy direction. 

  

 Written / email consultations with ‘specific consultation bodies’ and appropriate 
‘general consultation bodies’ and other relevant stakeholders (see appendix 1) 
and people who have requested to be kept informed. 

 
 PARTICIPATION: Inviting representations through: 
 

 Public workshops or exhibitions, if appropriate to the nature of the consultation 
either in person or virtual via appropriate IT platforms. Every effort will be made 
to undertake the consultation outside August and the end of year holiday period. 
However, where this is unavoidable, due to the need to make progress on 
development plan preparation we will seek to ensure that a reasonable part of 
the consultation period extends beyond these holiday periods. Printed 
documents will be placed in public venues around the District, for example public 
libraries and the Council's contact centres in the towns. 

 We can print copies of the plan for individuals, but we may have to charge a fee 
in order to cover costs. We may deliver leaflets that summarise the consultation 
to most homes in an area at certain stages of the plan making process. People 
can then drop off completed forms at set drop off points.  

 Electronic versions will be placed on the Council's website for you to download. 
We will accept email responses and letters. 

 Un-staffed displays may be used. For example, summary posters could be put 
up in accessible areas. Questionnaires can be used, either printed or online. 

 We can translate parts of documents or summary leaflets into other languages 
on request as well as provide versions in braille or large print if needed. 

 
3.20 A Consultation Strategy will be prepared setting out in detail the engagement 

programme for the whole Local Plan preparation. It will explain the methods of 
engagement, how they will be tailored to each consultation stage, the needs of the 

55



 

 

community and other consultees. It will contain the following: 
 

 The principles of community engagement on the Local Plan 

 How the Council will engage with partners, town and parish councils, key 
groups, infrastructure providers, residents, businesses and landowners and 
developers. 

 Outline the specific consultation and engagement methods of how people are 
to be involved and how they can respond. 

 Roles and responsibilities 

 Explain how feedback will be provided and how comments will be taken into 
account 

 
3.21 It is important to note that consultations are held for a set period of time. We 

will make sure that the deadline date and time is well publicised. Any 
responses must be sent to us before the deadline. Late responses are retained 
on file but are unlikely to influence the document. At the formal stages of 
publication of a Local Plan, late representations (ie: those not received by the 
closing time and date) will not be considered to be 'duly made'. 

 
Key stakeholders and community groups 

 
3.22 The Council is required under the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations (2012) (as amended) to consult ‘specific consultation bodies’ 
and other interest groups which cover the whole range of voluntary, community, 
special interest, amenity and business interests, referred to as ‘general consultation 
bodies’. 

 
3.23 The list in Appendix 1 refers to key types of groups rather than listing every individual 

group and organisation. The lists are not exhaustive; the Council maintains a 
comprehensive list of consultees which is updated regularly. 

 
3.24 The duty to co-operate was introduced in the Localism Act (2011) and amends the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004). It places a legal duty on local 
planning authorities and public bodies to engage constructively, actively and on an 
on-going basis to maximise the effectiveness of local plan preparation in the context 
of strategic cross boundary matters. This means that the Council must seek to 
actively engage neighbouring councils and a range of other agencies when preparing 
and reviewing its planning policies, particularly in relation to strategic priorities and 
cross-boundary issues. The Council will produce a Duty to Cooperate Statement of 
Compliance which will be made available for inspection as part of the Local Plan 
Examination process. 

 
Feeding information into decisions 

 
3.25 The information and comments the Council obtains through participation and 

consultation with the community and stakeholders will be used to inform the 
Council’s decisions and shape any documents produced. 

 
3.26 Formal comments will need to be made either by email or by letter. Respondents are 

required to provide their name and contact details, preferably email. They will be 

56



3 

1 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 

 

 

 

added to a database which will be used to keep people informed of the next stages 
in the plan making process. Anonymous comments will not be accepted. 

 
3.27 All comments are registered and can be viewed. Representor’s name and 

organisation, if appropriate, are shown against the comment. Contact details remain 
confidential. 

 
3.28  At the end of the consultation period, we will produce a summary document. In this 

document we will respond to the comments received and indicate how the comments 
will be taken forward. We will explain clearly why decisions have been made. This 
document will be available on the Planning Policy pages of the Council's website. As 
we need to read, consider and respond to every comment received, this report will 
be published a little while after the consultation period ends. 

 
3.29 It is the responsibility of the planning policy team to prepare planning policy 

documents, undertake consultation, consider the comments and recommend actions 
to the Local Plan Working Group (LPWG) and Cabinet, and then implement 
Members’ decisions. The recommendations will clearly explain the reasoning for the 
recommendation taking into account the views of stakeholders and consultees. We 
cannot guarantee that your comment will result in changes to the plan you are 
commenting on. However, we can guarantee that we will read every comment and 
provide a response saying what, if any, action will be taken. 

 
3.30 Cabinet is responsible for approving plans and related documents for consultation 

and submission. Full Council is responsible for approving the submission and 
adoption of the Local Plan. Any future changes to the delegation of decisions will be 
set out in the Council procedures and standing orders. 

 
3.31 All documents produced will be available at the Council’s principal office and on the 

Council’s website. Planning documents which are being consulted upon will also be 
sent to local libraries. At times of Government restrictions due to Covid-19 resulting 
in either the full or partial closure of principal office, community information centres 
and libraries, documents will be available on the website. 

57



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013 17 

 

 

4 Involving the Community at the Planning Application Stage 

Legislative Requirement to Consult 
 
4.1 As well as consulting on strategic documents Breckland Council also has to consult 

the community on planning applications. The requirements are set out in the Town 

and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 

2010. 

 
Pre-application Discussions 

 
4.2 All applicants are encouraged to discuss future development proposals with the 

Council prior to submitting a planning application. Our development management 
team can advise on the general acceptability of proposals before they are submitted 
and explain what information is likely to be required to enable the determination of an 
application. When we receive a written request for pre-application advice we will 
confirm safe receipt, tell you who is dealing with your query and when you can 
expect a response. We will provide advice in a positive and proactive manner that 
guides you in what additional work might be needed to enable us to reach a positive 
conclusion on your proposals (if it is possible to do so). Further information is 
contained in the Council’s Planning Application Guidance Notes7 and a Planning 
Application Checklist. These are available on the Council’s website8. 

 
4.3 Applicants are encouraged to involve the community, including the Town or Parish 

Council or Meeting before a formal application has been submitted as this will help to 
address issues and may help to avoid unnecessary objections being made at a later 
stage. At times of Government restrictions relating to Covid-19, applicants are 
encouraged to discuss the approach with the case officer. 

 

4.4 For all major developments but specifically residential developments of 50 or more 
dwellings and commercial developments of 2,000 square metres or more of floor 
space, applicants are strongly encouraged to agree the scope, nature and location of 
community engagement with the local planning authority in advance. The Council will 
wish to be assured that the engagement events and consultation will be – 

 

 advertised widely by a variety of means to reach as many people as possible,

 a wide variety of engagement methods are used to enable all sectors of the 
community to participate,

 that in-person engagement takes place in an easily accessible location to the 
communities effected and on days and at times to enable all sectors of the 
community to participate (subject to any Covid restrictions),

 that communities are given sufficient notice of engagement events, and

 that sufficient time is given to respond to consultations.
 
 
 
 

                                                
7 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planning-pre-application-advice 
8 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/2938/Validation-OS-Map-Service 

58



4 

18 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013 

 

 

How to comment on a planning application 
 
 

4.5 Once the application is submitted, the Council must publicise it, consult the relevant 

parish or town council, and allow people the opportunity to contribute their views in 

writing or online. The Council carries out consultation for applications, even those 

when pre-application advice has been sought to ensure there is no bias. The legal 

requirements for consultation on submitted planning applications is set by the 

Government in legislation including The Town and County Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) (England) Order (2015) as amended. These are set out in 

more detail below. All new major applications, some minor applications and certain 

householder applications are also published weekly in the Eastern Daily Press. This 

list appears in the Monday edition of the newspaper. Site notices are also used to 

publicise a planning application. These are erected for all major and minor 

applications and some householder applications (unless direct neighbour 

consultation is undertaken). Site notices are not posted for applications for 

advertisement consent and for the majority of householder applications. 

 

4.6 A consultation letter will be sent to Parish/Town Councils (or representatives of the 

Parish meeting if applicable), any other relevant body or organisation and 

neighbouring properties (who share an adjoining boundary with the application site), 

Parish/Town Councils (or representatives of the Parish meeting if applicable) and to 

any other relevant body or organization, and/or a site notice will be put up, if 

applicable. Consultation letters and site notices will include details of how to view the 

application and how to make a comment on the application. Site notices are not 

posted for the majority of applications relating to householder proposals (unless they 

are a listed building or in a Conservation Area). However, should the planning officer 

consider further notification is required a notice will be posted. 

 

4.7 Depending upon the nature and location of the application, the Council may 

consult various bodies and organisations to receive their views regarding the 

application. These include the Environment Agency, Anglian Water, Natural 

England, Norfolk County Council Highways Department, Norfolk Historic 

Environment Service, Norfolk Fire Service, Historic England, Norfolk County 

Lead Local Flood Authority and others considered pertinent to the proposal. The 

Council may also consult internal departments for their specialist views. These 

include Contaminated Land, Environmental Health, Asset Management, the 

Historic Buildings Consultant, the Tree and Countryside Consultant and the 

Housing Team. The Parish or Town Council is a statutory consultee and is always 

consulted. 

 
4.8 These organisations/departments are consulted via email (or by post if no email 

address is provided to the Council) with information as to how they can view the 

application online.  

 
4.9 On occasion, planning applications are revised after they have been submitted, 

due to concerns raised by case officers or to comments received from consultees 

or the public. Depending on the significance of the changes, the Council will re-

consult with the Parish Council, neighbours and anyone else likely to be affected 

59



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013 19 

 

 

by the changes made. The usual time for response to amendments is 10 days. 

 
4.10 Whilst some planning applications might technically be classed as 'minor', they 

may still have a major impact for a community. The Council will therefore apply 

some flexibility to the approach included in the Table 4 below.. 

 

Table 4: Notification  

 Major Applications Minor Applications Householder 
Applications 

Advertise receipt of 

application on 

website 

Always Always Always 

Erection of site 
notice 

Always unless 
neighbour consults 

have been 
undertaken 

Always unless the 

application seeks 

advertisement consent or 

neighbour consults have 

been undertaken 

Only if the 

application relates 

to a listed building 

or is in a 

conservation area 

Letters sent to 
neighbours (via email 
or in hard copy) 

Always (if adjoining 

neighbours) and 

unless a site notice 

has been erected 

Always (if adjoining 

neighbours) and unless 

a site notice has been 

erected 

Always (if 

adjoining 

neighbours) 

Copy of the 

application form sent 

to the local 

Parish/Town 

Council/Parish 

Meeting 

Always Always Always 

Letters sent to 

statutory and non-

statutory 

consultees 

As applicable As applicable As applicable 

Advert in the EDP Always Only if the application 
relates to a listed building, 
conservation area or public 

right of way. 

Only if the 

application relates 

to a listed 

building, 

conservation area 

or public right of 

way. 

Press release Dependent upon 

circumstances 

Dependent upon 

circumstances 

 

Application 
considered at 
Planning Committee 

As applicable Occasionally Occasionally 

60



4 

20 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013 

 

 

4.11  There is a statutory consultation period of 21 days. Any responses received during 

this consultation period are uploaded onto the application’s folder on the Council’s 

website. A computer is available at the Council offices at Elizabeth House, Walpole 

Loke, Dereham, to allow access to the Council's web-site. (Access to the offices 

may be restricted due to Covid 19 restrictions).   

 
4.12 You can comment on a planning application in three different ways: 
 

 via the Breckland website (preferred method) 

 via email 

 via post 
 

4.13 Members of the public can get involved during the consultation period, by informing 

the Council in writing of their views on proposals or by providing any relevant 

information they feel the Council should know. Only material planning considerations 

can be taken into consideration in the determination of the planning application – 

further information can be found on our website. 
 
4.14 Applications are also discussed at Parish/Town Council committee meetings. 

Members of the public may be able to speak at these meetings. However it is 

advised that the Parish Clerk/Representative is asked for that Parish's protocol in 

respect of its 'planning meetings' 

 
4.15 Breckland Council's Planning Committee is also a public meeting and anyone is 

eligible to register to speak on an application, or turn up on the day to sit and listen 

(subject to Covid 19 restrictions). 

 

4.16 All comments received during the consultation period will be acknowledged in writing. 

Comments must be made in writing to be taken into consideration.The Council 

displays all comments received regarding an application on its website under the 

application’s reference (although we will not include any personal information, 

inappropriate or offensive comments). These can be accessed by all members of the 

public. 

 
4.17 The planning officer responsible for an application which receives comments will take 

all comments received into consideration when making his/her recommendation. 

Where appropriate, comments received may result in amendments being made to 

the proposal and/or adding conditions to the decision notice. In some instances, 

comments received may result in the refusal of a proposal. 

 
4.18 Every planning officer will ensure that any comment received is referenced in their 

final report on the proposal, whether or not further action has been taken as a result 

of the comment.  Planning Officers will not respond directly to parties with regards to 

comments made but matters will be referenced in the planning committee or 

delegated report. 

61



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 
v1 

 

21 

 

 

 

Planning Committee 
 
4.20 The Planning Committee comprises elected Councillors and is responsible for 

making decisions on applications received by the Council, excluding those which fall 
within delegated powers. Committee reports are available seven working days before 
Committee. On applications reported to Committee the Council operates a policy of 
public speaking. Details on how to get involved in meetings can be found by 
contacting planningusher@breckland.gov.uk .At times of Government restrictions 
due to Covid-19 meetings take place virtually using Zoom and public speaking is still 
facilitated with the same rights and rules applying. If a speaker is unable to use 
Zoom, it is possible a statement can be read out on their behalf. 

 
4.21 The majority of applications are not required to go before the Planning Committee to 

be decided because they are of a nature that enables them to be determined by the 
Council's Executive Director of Place . For those applications that need to go to Planning 
Committee, The Planning Committee meeting is held approximately every 4 weeks 
at the Council offices in Dereham or via Zoom at times of Government restrictions.  

 
4.22 Members of the public, the Parish Council and ward member are eligible to speak at the 

Planning Committee, either as supporters or objectors and do not need to have 
provided comments during the initial consultation period. Attendance by the 
applicant/agent is also encouraged. 

 
4.23 Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 minutes. If more than one 

objector/supporter from a group wishes to speak, then a total of 3 minutes will be 
divided between that group. However, it is advised that a group nominate a single 
spokesperson due to the limited speaking time. The Planning Committee Usher will 
advise whether there are other interested parties who have requested to speak. A 
guide to public speaking is included with all acknowledgements of representations. 

 
4.24 Anyone who wishes to speak regarding an application must contact the Committee 

Usher at planningusher@breckland.gov.uk. The deadline is noon on the Wednesday 
before the committee meeting (if it happens on a Monday).   

 
4.25 It is advised that your speech should be brief and to the point, referring to relevant 

planning issues. Illustrative material is permitted to clarify issues but must be provided 
in advance of the meeting in accordance with the committee procedures. 

 
4.26 In determining an application the Council will ensure that: 
 

 all decisions will be made in accordance with the development plan/relevant 
legislation but also taking into account other material considerations 

 it has acted in a positive and proactive manner and look to find solutions. Where 
amendments or changes to a scheme could potentially turn an unacceptable 
proposal into an acceptable one, we will offer the applicant an opportunity to 
make these changes 

 set out how the points made at the consultation stage have been taken into 
account in reaching any decision 

 

62

mailto:planningusher@breckland.gov.uk


2
2 

22 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2013 

 

 

4.27 A decision notice will be sent to the applicant, explaining the reasons why a planning 
application has or has not been granted planning permission. Planning decisions are 
published on the Council’s website.  

 
Appeals 

 
4.28 If an application is refused or not determined within statutory timeframes, the 

applicant may exercise their right to appeal. When the Council is notified of an 
appeal by the Planning Inspectorate, the Council will notify interested parties of the 
appeal and provide a copy of comments made on the application to the Planning 
Inspectorate. Interested parties will be advised on how they can participate in the 
appeal process, including venue and time of any informal hearing or public inquiry. At 
times of Government restrictions due to Covid-19 hearings and inquiries will take 
place virtually and participants will be informed on how they can participate. 

 

5  Reviewing and Monitoring the SCI 

Reviewing and Revising the SCI 
 
5.1  The SCI will be kept under review and revised where necessary. Revisions would 

only be made if there are new groups we wish to engage with or the regulations 

relating to public consultation change. 

 
Monitoring the SCI and Data Protection 

 
5.2 It is important to note that the Council will only ask relevant questions and we only 

collect this information to monitor the effectiveness of our approach to engaging 

with the community. We will not pass information or details on to anyone else, nor 

identify anyone personally. 

 
5.3 Breckland District Council is registered under the Data Protection Act 1988 for the 

purpose of processing personal data in the performance of its legitimate business. 

The information held by the Council will be processed in compliance with the 

principles.  

 

 Complaints Procedure 

 

5.4 A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction about a service provided by the 

Council or by a contractor or partner affecting an individual resident or a group of 

residents, that requires a response. 

 

5.5 Breckland Council is committed to high standards of customer care, service delivery 

and performance. If you are unhappy with any service you have received from 

Breckland Council we want to put things right as quickly as      possible. The 

complaints procedure can be found on Breckland's website9.  

 

5.6  The following are the categories of complaints that fall within the procedure. 

                                                
9 https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/7806/Compliments-Complaints 

63



Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 
v1 

 

23 

 

 

 

 Failure to consider relevant matters in coming to a decision or implementing it 

– but not the decision itself. Inappropriate attitudes or actions by individual 

employees or Councillors (but not if the complaint is really about a Council 

policy or decision). 

 Delays in responding, or complaints about the administrative process. 

 Failure to provide a service properly or at all – for example, not doing 

something we either should do or have advised the resident we will do. An 

example could include not turning up for a pre-arranged meeting. 

 Failure to fulfil statutory responsibilities – but not disagreements with those 

powers or duties. 

 Bias or unfair discrimination 

 

5.7 If you wish to make a complaint, you can do so by using the on-line form, e-mailing 

us (complaints@breckland.gov.uk), or writing to The Standards Officer, Breckland 

Council, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE. 

 

5.8 We will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within 5 working days of receipt. All 

complaints will be investigated and responded to within 15 working days. Some 

complaints may take more time to investigate, but we will keep you informed of our 

actions and the progress we have made. 

 

5.9 If, after following the procedure as set out on the website, you remain unhappy, you 

may refer the matter to the Local Government Ombudsman for an independent 

investigation. The Ombudsman’s contact details are: 

 

 Telephone: 0300 061 0614  

 Website: www.lgo.org.uk  

 Write to: Local Government Ombudsman, P.O. Box 4771, Coventry, CV4 0EH 

 
  

64

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


24 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 
v1 

 

 

 

6 Contact details 
 
6.1  For more information on the SCI, or about planning documents or planning 

applications in the Breckland area, please contact us using the details given 

below: 
 

 Planning Policy and Neighbourhood Planning 

Write Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE 

Website https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planningpolicy 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans 

 

E - mail planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk 

NeighbourhoodPlanning@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 Development Management 

Write Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, Norfolk, NR19 1EE 

Website https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planning 

E - mail planning@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planningpolicy
mailto:planning.policyteam@breckland.gov.uk
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/planning
mailto:planning@breckland.gov.uk


Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 
v1 

 

25 

 

 

Appendix 1: Key Stakeholders 


 Adjoining county councils – Suffolk County Council 

 Adjoining district councils: North Norfolk. King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, Broadland, 
South Norfolk, West Suffolk 

 Age UK 

 Airport Operators Association 

 Ancient Monuments Society 

 Anglian Water and wastewater undertakers 

 British Geological Society 

 Civil Aviation Authority 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups and NHS providers 

 Communities and Local Government 

 Council for British Archaeology 

 CPRE Norfolk 

 Crime Prevention and Architectural Liaison Officer (Norfolk Police) 

 Crown Estate 

 Design Council 

 Disabled Persons Transport Advisory Committee 

 East of England Ambulance Service 

 Electronic Communications Operators 

 Environment Agency 

 Equity and Human Rights Commission 

 Fields in Trust 

 Forestry Commission 

 Freight Transport Association 

 Friends of the Earth 

 Gypsy Roma Traveller Achievement Service 

 Health and Safety Executive 

 Highways England 

 Historic England 

 Home Builders Federation 

 Homes England 

 Landowners, agents, developers and Housing Associations operating in the area 

 Local Enterprise Partnership (New Anglia) 

 Local Nature Partnership (Wild Anglia) 

 Ministry of Defence 

 Mobile Operators Association 

 National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups 

 National Grid 

 National Trust 

 Natural England 

 Network Rail 

 NHS Norfolk 

 Norfolk Biodiversity Partnership 

 Norfolk County Council 

 Norfolk County Fire & Rescue Service 

66



26 Breckland Statement of Community Involvement 2021 
v1 

 

 

 

 Norfolk Fire Service 

 Norfolk Geodiversity Partnership 

 Norfolk Landscape Archaeology 

 Norfolk Local Access Forum 

 Norfolk Rural Community Council 

 Norfolk Tourism Team 

 Norfolk Wildlife Trust 

 Parish and town councils, including those within the District and those that adjoin the 
District 

 Renewables East 

 RSPB 

 Secretary of State for Transport 

 Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings 

 Sport England 

 Theatres Trust 

 Train Operating Companies 

 UK Power Networks 

 Woodland Trust 



67



 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Breckland Local Plan Review 
Local Development Scheme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
September 2021 

68



1. Introduction 

Background 
 
1.1 The government requires local planning authorities to prepare a Local 

Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS is a five year project plan and this version 
covers the period 2020-2025. The purpose of a LDS includes setting out the 
timetable for the delivery of Council produced planning policy documents. These 
are often referred to as Development Plan Documents or Local Plans. During the 
period 2021-2025, the Council intends to complete a partial review relating to 
Policy INF 03 of the Breckland Local Plan (November 2019) and to complete a 
significant amount of work on a Substantive Review of the whole Plan. The 
Reviews will affect the whole of Breckland District. 

 
1.2 This LDS contains a timetable for the delivery of the 2 reviews to inform local 

people and stakeholders of the key milestones in their production. 
 
1.3 This LDS was approved by Cabinet on September 202021 and came into effect on 

the same day. This iteration of the LDS supersedes previous versions of the LDS 
and covers the period 2021-2026. 

 

2. The Existing Development Plan 
 
2.1 Development Plans are an important part of the English planning system and are 

needed to guide the local decision making process for land uses and development 
proposals. 

 

2.2 At September 2021, the Development Plan for Breckland comprised 
 

Breckland Local Plan and associated Policies Map (November 2019) 
 

2.3 Breckland District Council adopted the Breckland Local Plan on November 28th
 

2019 to replace the suite of plans produced as part of the Local Development 
Framework process and is now in the process of undertaking a Local Plan review. 
The Local Plan sets out the framework for development within the District until 
2036. It includes a spatial vision, objectives and key policies. It also includes an 
associated ‘Policies Map’ that sets out the geographical extent of key designations 
and site specific proposals set out in the local plan. 

 
Further information on the Local Plan can be found at the following link: 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/adoption 

• Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2009) (Saved 
policies) 

• Thetford Area Action Plan (2012) (Saved policies) 
 

Further information on these plans can be found at the following link: 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/previous-local-plan 

69

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/adoption
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/previous-local-plan


 Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2036 (January 2018) 

 Croxton, Brettenham and Kilverstone Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2036 
(January 2019) 

 Mattishall Neighbourhood Plan 2017 – 2036 (November 2017) 

 Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan 2016 - 2036 (May 2019) 

 Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan 2016 - 2036 (December 2019) 

 Yaxham Neighbourhood Plan 2016 – 2036 (June 2017) 
 

2.4 The Localism Act (2011) provides the opportunity for communities to prepare 
Neighbourhood Plans to guide further development that they may wish to see in 
their communities. Neighbourhood Plans, once adopted, form part of the 
Development Plan for the area and are used in the determination of Planning 

Applications. Neighbourhood Plans1 are prepared by Town and Parish Councils to 
address key local priorities. Their key milestones are specific to each document. 
The regulations do not require neighbourhood plans to be included within the 
LDS. 

 
2.5 Neighbourhood Development Plans are prepared by Parish Councils and the 

plans are subject to consultation, independent examination and referendum. The 
plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the adopted local 
plan, and should have regard to any emerging Local Plan. 

 
2.6 A neighbourhood area has to be designated for a Neighbourhood Development 

Plan to be produced. In total, 13 Parish Councils (1 joint with 3 parishes) have 
designated Neighbourhood Areas. To date, 6 Neighbourhood Plans have been 
made and the remaining 7 are at various stages of preparation. 

 
 Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following 

link: 
 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans 
 

Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-2030 (July 2016) 
 
2.8 The adopted Norfolk Minerals and Waste Development Framework contains the 

following three minerals and waste planning policy documents and a policies 
map. These documents contain policies for use in making decisions on planning 
applications for mineral extraction and associated development and waste 
management facilities, and in the selection of specific site allocations in Norfolk: 

 

 Core Strategy and Minerals and Waste Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document 2010-2026 (adopted September 2011) 

 Minerals Site Specific Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) 
(adopted October 2013, amendments adopted December 2017) 

 Waste Site Specific Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) (adopted 
October 2013) 

 

70

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans


 Revised PDF policies map and the revised interactive policies map which 
includes the Site Specific Allocations and an interactive map of Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas. 

 
Further information on these neighbourhood plans can be found at the following 
link: 

 
https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans 

 
2.10 The County Council is preparing a Norfolk Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

Review, to consolidate the three adopted plans into one Local Plan, ensure that the 
policies within them remain up-to-date and to extend the plan period to the end of 
2036. 

 
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance- 
and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning- 
policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review 

 
Other Planning Documents 

 
2.11 In addition to the above components of the Development Plan, there are other 

key planning documents that the Council can produce. These include: 
 

 Supplementary Planning Documents – these set out further information, 
interpretation or clarification regarding existing planning policies and are 
produced and adopted by the Council in accordance with government 
requirements 

 Planning policy guidance – these set out further information, interpretation or 
clarification regarding existing planning policies but have not been produced 
to meet government Supplementary Planning Document requirements 

 Statement of Community Involvement – a procedural document that sets out 
the methods for consultation and engagement with the public and 
stakeholders. This includes consultation and engagement during the 
production of Local Plans, the production of Neighbourhood Development 
Plans, and the Development Management process. 

 Authority Monitoring Reports – a procedural document, produced on an 
annual basis that monitors performance against the Local Plan. 

 
2.12 In Breckland the Planning Team are currently preparing a supplementary 

planning document on Affordable Housing (in conjunction with the Council’s 
Housing Team).  

 
2.13 The Council also prepares two additional documents: a Statement of Community 

Involvement detailing how people will be involved in the planning system; and a 
Monitoring Report that considers how effectively the Local Plan policies are being 
implemented. 

71

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4284/Neighbourhood-Plans
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-how-we-work/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policies/norfolk-minerals-and-waste-local-plan-review


3 Overview of Local Development Documents to be produced  

 
Partial Review 

 
3.1 The Local Plan was found sound following independent examination and was 

adopted by Full Council on 28 November 2019. The Plan contains Policy INF 
03. This requires an immediate review of the local plan covering 4 key areas. 

 

3.2 The Policy states: 
 

 

 

3.3 The Partial Review relates solely to Policy INF 03 and supporting text seeking 
amendments to extend the ‘November 2022 date to match the agreed Local 
Development Scheme for the Substantive Review (once completed).  Officers 
consider that this approach provides for a more robust approach. This option 
includes also continuing to work on a more Substantive Review which will extend 
the plan period beyond 2036 to 2041. Work will continue in parallel to the 
substantive review.  

 
3.4 The partial Review must follow the same statutory stages as a full review. This 

would be a truncated process comprising: 
 

• Publication of the Council’s intent to Review Policy INF 03, making it clear 

that it has reviewed whether the Policy needs updating and the reasons 

why it does in accordance with paragraph 33 of the NPPF.  

• A clear statement that the approach will be twin tracked, considering Policy 

INF 03 in the shorter term and the Plan, as a whole, by the date agreed in 

the new Local Development Scheme for the completion of the Substantive 

Review. 

• Compiling the appropriate Evidence base 

Policy INF 03: Local Plan Policy Review 
 
The Council will undertake an immediate partial review of the Plan, with 
regard to the following matters 

 

 Policy HOU 01 Development Requirements (minimum): To 
consider housing need and the subsequent strategy for meeting 
the identified need. 

 Policy HOU 08 Gypsy and Travellers: To consider the needs of 
nontravelling gypsy and travellers and identify suitable provision 
to meet such a need. 

 Policy HOU 10 Technical Design Standards for New Homes: To 
consider the accessibility of homes standards. 

 Policy EC 01 Economic Development: To consider the effect of 
the dualling of the A47 on the Plan’s economic strategy. 

 

The partial review of the Plan will be submitted for examination 3 years 
after the date of adoption of this Plan or by November 2022, whichever 
is soonest. In the event that the review is not submitted for examination 
by this time, then the Council’s policies that relate to the supply of 
housing, economic development and gypsy and travellers will be 

deemed to be out-of-date. 

72



• The publication of its intentions with appropriate supporting documentation 

and an updated Local Development Scheme will form the Regulation 18 

stage. This will require notifying various bodies and persons of the subject 

of a local plan which they propose to prepare and invite representations 

from them on what a plan with that subject ought to contain.  This will 

require setting out how Policy INF 03 would be modified.   

• Preparation and consultation on the Regulation 19 Plan including 

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality 

Impact Assessment work 

• Examination  

• Adoption 

 
3.5 There is a greater likelihood of the suggested approach being found ‘sound’ if the 

Council can demonstrate that it is making significant progress on a wider review. 
Therefore, a timetable for both reviews have been prepared and are set out in this 
Local Development Scheme.  

 
 Substantive Review 
 
3.6  The Substantive Review must, under the current process, follow these statutory 

stages:  
 

• The first stage of plan-making (Regulation 18 Notification) requires the 

notification to interested parties of the proposed subjects to be included in 

the Local Plan, and to invite comments. 

• Identification and consultation on the scope of the Plan by identifying 

issues and opportunities, and translating these into aims, objectives and an 

overall vision for the District and each of the larger settlements.  

• Appraisal of a range of policy and site options and publication and 

consultation on preferred choices for inclusion in the First Draft Local Plan 

consultation document. This includes all alternative options considered to 

enable people to see why a particular approach has been chosen. 

• Regulation 18 also includes preparation and consultation on Plan including 

Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment and Equality 

Impact Assessment work 

• Regulation 19 is where the proposed policies and site allocations are 

published in a Final Draft Local Plan document.  

• Following consultation, the Final Draft Local Plan will be submitted to the 

Secretary of State for independent examination. 

• Regulations 22-26 of the Local Planning Regulations involve the 

submission of the Draft Local Plan to the Secretary of State for 

independent examination, the examination hearings and subsequent 

consultation on any required changes to the Plan before it can be adopted 

for use - if it is found to be ‘sound’ by the Inspector. 

 
Future Resources and Timetable 

 
3.7 In order to agree a robust timetable for the substantive review it will be critical to 

have sufficient financial and staffing resources in place by 2022. To minimise the 
risk of the Partial Review being found unsound at examination, it will be critical for 
the Council to agree a robust timetable for the completion of the Substantive 
Review, at the same time as the timetable for the preparation of the Partial 73



Review. It will be important for the Council to have submitted the Partial Review 
for examination before the November 2022 date set out in Policy INF 03.  

 
3.8 In accordance with the NPPF local plans should be reviewed every 5 years. This 

needs to be balanced with the fact that both the process for preparing and content 
of the Plan will change over the next 2 – 3 years and the timetable should be 
flexible enough to take account of these changes. Over the next year it is likely 
that the Council will have better information on the implications of the planning bill 
and likely content of the plans and processes including greater digitisation and 
methods of community engagement. This can be fed into a review of the Local 
Development Scheme as required. 
 

4 Timetable and Resources 

4.1 The timetables for both the partial and substantive reviews need careful 
consideration. Critical factors in agreeing timetables are as follows: 

• Available financial resources 

• Available staffing resources 

• It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that is supported by both a 
financial and staff resource committed appropriate to minimise risks to 
delivery.  

• It is also critical that the Council sets a timetable for the substantive Review 
that can satisfy an inspector, considering the partial review, that the council 
is committed to completing a substantive review within a reasonable 
timeframe.  

4.2     It is critical that the Council sets a timetable that reflects possible changes to the 
planning system and does not commit to potentially abortive and costly work too 
early in the preparation process or seek to progress the Review too quickly. This 
needs to be balanced with the current expectation in the NPPF that requires Plans 
to be reviewed every 5 years (November 2024).   

 
4.3 The production of the new Local Plan will follow the full statutory processes, 

including the preparation of a Sustainability Appraisal, public participation and 
other regulatory requirements. The Local Plan will be subject to Examination by an 
independent Inspector. 

 

4.4 The documents that Breckland Council proposes to prepare are as follows: 
 

(1) The new Local Plan, 
(2) Policies Maps, 
(3) A Statement of Community Involvement 

(4) A 5 Year Housing Land Statement in accordance with the requirements of 

the NPPF.  

 
4.5 Appendix 1 sets out the timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan Review. 
 

Availability of the LDS 
 
4.2 The Council is required by the regulations to make the LDS available to the 

public. Copies are available for inspection at the Council’s offices in Dereham. 74



The LDS is also available to view on the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s 
website [www.breckland.gov.uk]. 

75

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/


Appendix 1: Timetable 
 
Coverage: District Wide Partial Substantive 

Governance: Local Plan Working Group / 
Cabinet / Full Council 

  

A Commencement of Preparation Q3 2021 Q3 2021 

 Time Taken 1 month 1 month 

B Scoping of the Review Q3 2021  Q3 2021 – Q1 
2022 

 Time Taken 1 month 3 months 

C Prepare revised local development 
scheme (Cabinet approval) 

Q3 2021  Q3 2021  

 Time Taken 2 months 2 months 

D Prepare and consult on Statement of 
Community Involvement (Cabinet 
approval) 

Q3- Q4 2021 Q3- Q4 2021 

 Time Taken 2 months 2 months 

E Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
and preparation (including consultation) 
(Prepared externally) 

Q4 2021 -Q4 2022 Q1 2022 -Q3 2026 

 Time Taken Throughout 
process 

Throughout 
process 

F Collation of evidence base Q3 2021 -Q4 2021 Q3 2021 -Q1 2024 

 Time Taken 1 month 3 years 

G Prepare Call for Sites (Working Group 
and Cabinet) 

 Q4 2021 

 Time Taken  2 months 

H Consult on Call for Sites and 
processing of responses 

 Q1 2022 

 Time Taken  3 months 

I First Conversation Consultation (Issues 
and Options) preparation and Cabinet 
approval (Regulation 18) 

Q1 2022 Q2 2022 – Q3 
2022 

 Time Taken 1 month 6 months 

J First Conversation Consultation (Issues 
and Options) consultation and 
processing of responses (Regulation 
18) 

Q1 2022 – Q2 
2022 

Q1 2023 -Q2 2023 

 Time Taken 2 months 6 months 

K Preferred Options and draft Plan 
preparation and Council approval 
(Regulation 18) 

 Q2 2023 -Q4 2023 

 Time Taken  9 months 

L Preferred options and draft Plan 
consultation and processing of 
responses (Regulation 18) 

 Q1 2024 – Q3 
2024 

 Time Taken  9 months 

M Publication Draft Council preparation 
and approval for Submission 
(Regulation 19) (working Group and 
Cabinet 

Q2 2022  Q4 2024 -Q2 2025 

 Time Taken 2 months 9 months 76



N Publication Draft consultation and 
processing of responses (Regulation 
19) 

Q3 2022 Q4 2025 – Q2 
2026 

 Time Taken  6 months 

O Approval of Submission Draft  (working 
Group and Cabinet 

Q3 2022 Q4 2026 

 Time Taken  2 months 

P Submission for examination 
(Regulation 22) 

Q3 2022 Q4 2026 

 Time Taken  1 month 

Q Examination / Modifications 
(Regulations 23, 24) 

Q4 2022 Q2 2027 

 Time Taken 1 month 3 months 

R Adoption (Regulation 26) (Council) Q1 2023 Q4 2027 

 Time Taken 1 month 2 months 

 
 
 
 
 
 

77



 
BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Report of:  Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Waste and Environment 
 
To:  Cabinet – 20 September 2021 
 
Author:   Ralph Burton, Assistant Director Property & Projects 
 
Subject:   Norfolk Strategic Flood Alliance - Strategy 
 
Purpose:   To provide Members with an update on the Norfolk Strategic Flood Alliance and 

endorse the Norfolk Strategic Flood Alliance Strategy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1.  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Norfolk Strategic Flood Alliance (NFSA) formed earlier in 2021 under the chairmanship 

of Lord Dannant.  The purpose of the NFSA is for its members to work together to ensure  
Norfolk’s communities and water infrastructure is safer and more resilient to the risks of 
inland and coastal flooding. 

 
1.2 The NFSA was formed following recognition that the county-wide response to flooding and 

flood-related risks was incoherent and improvements were required to protect and reassure 
Norfolk communities.   Therefore the members of the NSFA are seeking to work 
collaboratively and transparently and across boundaries and structures to improve the 
response of flooding and increase the coherency and consistency of flood risk.   

 
1.3 The NSFA now represents a single point of focus and collaboration strategically for all 

flood-related challenges facing Norfolk.  Success of the NSFA will be determined when 
there is a higher level of confidence amongst Norfolk residents (through the coordinated 
actions of the statutory authorities) that there is reduced fear of flooding and drought. 
 

1.4 Given the increasing occurrence of flooding incidents in Breckland communities and the 
heightened awareness to the management of flood risk, the Council is currently 
represented on the NFSA by the Leader and an Executive Director. 

 
1.5 Strategy: The NFSA members have developed an initial strategy (Appendix 1) that 

provides a framework for how the NFSA will operate and how it will interact with the 
appropriate statutory and non-statutory bodies.  The strategy sets out its objectives and 
importantly an action plan which can be used to measure success.  Members of the NFSA 
have been asked to approve the NFSA Strategy.  Approving the strategy confirms strategic 
support for the objectives of the NFSA. 

 
1.6 One-Number: There are a number of public bodies who are involved in supporting the 

alleviation of flooding and response to flooding when it occurs.  This complex structure and 
knowledge of who does what was flagged early in the development of the NFSA.  To give 
residents and businesses one clear route to seeking help, one of the early outputs of the 
NFSA is that is has created a single telephone number for the reporting of all for the 
reporting of all flooding incidences whether emergency or not.    Any resident or business 
can now call 0344 800 8013 to quickly receive assistance.  This single one-number will 
make sure there is a single place to report flooding and seek help.  To support the launch of 
this single one-number the Council has created a dedicated web-page on flooding and will 
be instigating a communications campaign to Breckland residents and businesses to 
highlight the new one-number and also outline the responsibilities of land owners to support 
the need to keep drains and ditches well maintained before the winter months. 

 

Recommendation(s): 
 

Option 1 – Endorse the Norfolk Strategic Flood Alliance Strategy. 

78

Agenda Item 10



1.7 Focused Sites: Part of the NSFA’s Strategy is a target to focus attention on a set of 
specific sites that require more dedicated assistance to alleviate flood risk.  In the first 
tranche of 16 sites there were six location in Breckland which were, Watton/Saham Toney, 
Cranworth, Yaxham, Mattishall, Necton and Kenninghall.  All of these locations in Breckland 
have suffered with flooding for specific reasons in those communities.  The NFSA provides 
a focused point to obtain greater traction from the organisations involved in reducing flood 
risk (subject to funding availability) on these specific sites.  At the time of writing this report 
tranche 2 is in development and further locations have been submitted in Breckland for 
inclusion. 
 

1.8 In September 2019, the council declared a climate emergency and then set out its 
Sustainability Strategy in February of this year. One of the three strands of the strategy is 
for the council to use its powers to influence and lead positive change. It would therefore be 
in keeping with the council’s policy position to support and promote the successful delivery 
of this strategy. 

 
 

2.0  OPTIONS 
 
2.1  Option 1: The Council endorses the NFSA strategy and the work being undertaken by the 

members of the NFSA to support communities in Norfolk to lessen the threat of flood risk. 
 
2.2 Option 2: The Council does not endorse and support the NFSA strategy. This is not 

recommended as it is not in keeping with its policy position on climate change and 
sustainability. 

 
 
3.0  REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 It is recommended that the Council endorses the NFSA strategy and work programme 

outlined within it.  If the Council were not to do so it would be in contradiction to the 
Council’s policy position on sustainability and its climate emergency declaration. Positively 
supporting the NFSA strategy provides a strategic commitment to assist the important need 
to help Breckland’s communities with the alleviation of flood-risk and in-time improve the 
infrastructure needed in the face of the environmental changes occurring. 

 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The endorsement of this strategy will support the Council’s policy position on becoming a 

more sustainable and environmentally conscious organisation. It will also set out a 
proactive and unified position regarding flooding across Norfolk that is transparent to our 
residents. 
 
 

5.0  IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues  
 
5.1.1 The themes of the NFSA strategy directly link to the Breckland Sustainability Strategy 

which sets out how the Council will reduce its own environmental impact, use the powers 
that it has to influence others across the district to lessen their impact and work with 
communities across the district to make positive changes. 

 
5.2  Corporate Priorities 

 
5.2.1 This strategy is directly links and supports the aims and objectives to the ‘Breckland 2035’ 

strategic theme as set out in the new corporate plan agreed by Council in July 2021. 
 
 
 

 79



6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 All wards. 

 

Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Ralph Burton, Assistant Director Property & Projects 
Telephone Number: 07786 716309 
Email: ralph.burton@breckland.gov.uk 

 
Key Decision: No 
 
Exempt Decision: No decision 
 
This report refers to a Discretionary Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1 – NFSA Strategy 
 
 

80



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

1 
 

NORFOLK STRATEGIC FLOODING ALLIANCE – OVERALL STRATEGY 
 

The purpose of the constituent members of the Norfolk Strategic Flooding Alliance (NSFA) 
is to work together so that Norfolk communities and infrastructure are safer and more 

resilient to the risks of inland and coastal flooding and better placed to ensure adequate 
water supplies during droughts. 

 

1. Introduction.  The NSFA was formed following recognition that the county-wide response to 
flooding and flood-related risks is incoherent and improvements are required to protect and 
reassure Norfolk communities.  Members of the NSFA are united in their determination to work 
collaboratively and transparently across boundaries and structures to improve the response of 
flooding and increase the coherency and consistency of flood risk management.  The unique selling 
point of the NSFA is that it represents a single point of focus and collaboration for all flood-related 
challenges facing the County of Norfolk.  Our Action Plan is at Appendix A and the record of actions 
achieved, so far, is at Appendix B. 
 

OUR GOALS 
 

2. Our Vision.  The NSFA will be successful through the coordinated actions of the statutory 
authorities from central to local government, through to commercial companies, land and property 
owners large and small, their communities and individuals themselves. As a result, the people of 
Norfolk will have high level of confidence that flood risks are as low as reasonably practicable and 
are being managed within the overall context of improved water management. 
 

3. Our Objectives.  Our objectives are:1 
 

a. Achieve a transparent, collaborative, integrated and sustainable approach to water 
management issues across the County of Norfolk that is applied coherently.2 
b. Provide a cooperative approach to local, regional and national funding opportunities 
to mitigate Norfolk’s flood risks. 
c. In accordance with Shoreline Management Plan governance, establish a strategic 

group (or Groups) for the coastal areas from the Yare to the Wash/Ouse to help mitigate 

coastal erosion and coastal flooding. 

d. Examine how to implement whole river management best practice for inland 
waterways from catchment areas to the sea. 
e. The planning system across the County is coherently applied and does not 
exacerbate the flood risks to new and existing residents and communities. 
f. When preparing and delivering their statutory or lead-agency responsibilities, 
category one responders and other relevant bodies will, where appropriate, collaborate 
through the Norfolk Resilience Forum (NRF) to: 

I. enable the Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) to compile a common flood risk 
picture, 

II. develop a consolidated action plan that maps multi-agency activities and 
progress, 

III. ensure local flood resilience and the response to flooding events, which is 
streamlined and cohered across the County, 

IV. achieve synchronised initiatives across Norfolk that mitigate the risk of 
flooding and enhance communities’ local resilience, and 

V. deliver a programme of exercises to confirm NSFA effectiveness and assure 
progress development.3  

 
1 These are distilled further into a series of actions and tasks in Annex A. 
2 This will include an understanding of other water management strategies and activities already in practice through other bodies and 
organisations. 
3 We will do this in partnership with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) or the Cabinet Office, partner 
authorities in the region and the Emergency Planning College, in the design, training, work up and delivery of the exercise. 

81



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

2 
 

 
g. Enhance the confidence of Norfolk communities through regular public 
communications and engagement on flood risks, mitigation measures and resilience / self-
reliance initiatives. 
h. Produce an Integrated Norfolk Water Management Strategy.4 
i. Deliver a united Norfolk view on flooding and water management issues to Central 
Government. 

 
OUR APPROACH 

 
4. Our Principles.  Our guiding principles are: 
 

a. We will work together in a collaborative and transparent manner through the 
statutory duties established by the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA) (2004) and its supporting 
doctrine and guidance as well as making maximum use of Public Sector Cooperation 
Agreements, where appropriate. 
 
b. Extant statutory or lead responsibilities remain with the relevant agency. 
 
c. We will share information and manage knowledge intelligently. 
 
d. We will focus on delivering the best outcome for Norfolk communities. 
 
e. We will speak with one voice and communicate clearly, coherently and consistently 
to Norfolk communities. 
 
f. We will exploit pre-existing structures and multi-agency fora to reduce duplication 
and ensure our activities are efficient and effective. 
 
g. We will ensure a balanced approach – delivering quick wins and set the conditions 
for achieving longer-term success. 
 
h. We will make evidence-based decisions and anticipate future risk through 
collaborative analysis and data sharing. 
 
i. We learn from others and our own experiences and seek to identify and share ‘best 
practice’ as appropriate. 

 
5. Strategic Collaboration – Threats and Opportunities.  It is unlikely that any single entity will 
be able to develop projects or solutions alone to mitigate the threats of flooding or to promote the 
opportunities of better water management.  Collaboration (not duplication) between NSFA and 
Water Resources East (WRE) is essential to a coherent approach across the County of Norfolk.  From 
a water management perspective, WRE and its strategic partners will identify opportunities in the 
short, medium and long-term to connect fluvial flood risk reduction with water scarcity 
opportunities, ideally delivering water quality benefits at the same time.  This will predominantly 
focus on the opportunities to capture and store flood water and make it available for use for 
example for irrigation, energy production and to drive environmental improvement and natural 
capital net gain.  Key partners in this work, alongside Norfolk local authority colleagues and WRE’s 
Norfolk Water Strategy partners (Anglian Water and The Nature Conservancy) will be landowners, 
internal drainage boards, local community leaders and environmental Non-Governmental 
Organisations (NGO). 

 
4 To include an integrated approach to resource planning that considers all potential requests for funding to develop a single and 
prioritised statement of desired outcomes that all can work to deliver. 

82



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

3 
 

 
6. How we Function.  The NSFA will operate across 3 levels (using Civil Contingencies Act 
doctrinal definitions for each level) – Strategic, Tactical and Operational/Delivery – a schematic 
representation of how this will be achieved, with broad roles and responsibilities, is shown below:5  
The NSFA recognises that member organisations and authorities have different priorities, funding 
arrangements, regulators and statutory obligations. It is incumbent on NSFA members to highlight to 
the NSFA their constraints to help the NSFA appreciate how best to work around these for the 
benefit of local communities.  While the NSFA will determine its priorities, it accepts the need to use 
the statutory and funding frameworks of other bodies in order to realise these priorities.  The 
Norfolk County Council (NCC) communications team would use this strategy and action plan to 
develop a proactive communications and engagement plan. 
 

 

ASSESSING SUCCESS 
 

7. What will success look like?  Achieving the stated vision will be the ultimate assessment of 
success for the NSFA.  On our journey to achieving this vision, the NSFA will assess performance 
against the individual objectives (para 3), the specific actions and tasks (annex A) and our ways of 
working / guiding principles (Appendix B).  On an annual basis (July NSFA meeting) members will in 
invited to affirm their commitment to the NSFA and the delivery of collaborative working in 
accordance with our guiding principles. 
 
8. Universal Stakeholder Buy In.  On an annual basis – commencing in July 2021 - the 
stakeholders, who are the constituent members of the NSFA (details at Appendix C), will commit to 
work together by formally signing off the annual NSFA Overall Strategy, of which this is the first.  

 
5 For local operational/delivery groups to be successful, there will need to be multiple (to spread the load), probably covering either the 
district council areas (with a number amalgamated to ensure there aren’t too many groups for those of us that cover the whole of Norfolk) 
or Anglian Water water recycling collection areas.  Discussions are underway to see if KL&WN might consider joining Coastal Partnership 
East and therefore remove the need for a bilateral arrangement between the NSFA and KL&WN on coastal flooding matters. 

83



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

4 
 

APPENDIX A - ACTION PLAN 
 
Code: RED: Significant issues to be resolved or task/outcome/action not commenced, Amber: Significant issues identified and plan to resolve developed 
– no target date set, Yellow: minor issues or progress to achieve goal is on track, Green: desired task/action/outcome achieved. 
 

SER TASK ACTION PROGRESS LEAD/OWNER ASSESSMENT 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Task 1. Develop 
closer working 
between all agencies 
and better co-
operation 

1.1  More effective collaboration to ensure 
clearer multi-agency emergency response, 
recovery and remediation actions.  

Agreement to this strategy signifies a 
commitment from members to adopt the 
principles and objectives in their own 
programmes, plans and strategies and a 
commitment to work collaboratively to achieve 
the NSFA’s objectives.  

 
 

All 

 

 
2 

1.2  The need to have a single consolidated 
approach to flooding across Norfolk so there is 
no ‘post code lottery’ (e.g. removal of the 
confusion about the utility and availability of 
sandbags). 

To be addressed through the NSFA Inland 
Flooding Group.  The NRF is developing a picture 
of what districts provide in terms of flooding 
support during both response and recovery 
phases.  The NRF (via the Multi-Agency Fusion 
Group (MAFG)) will provide a formal update on 
who does what to the next Inland Flooding 
Group meeting in September. 
 
Explore the role of the Severe Weather and 
Flood Risk working group and how this might 
inform the working of the coastal and inland 
flooding groups. 
 
This work should recognise the roles and 
responsibilities of all 3 tiers of local government 
and consider how we balance locallly derived 
needs with autonomy of decision-making and 
resourcing (especially finance) while achieving  
appropriate county-wide consistency. 

 
 
 
 
 

Chair NSFA 
Inland Flooding 

Gp 
 

NRF Chair 

 

   

84



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

5 
 

3 1.3  Develop in partnership with others  (such 
as Water Resources East (WRE) and the 
Broadland Futures Initiative (BFI) options for 
how flood water might be used to alleviate 
drought risks or managed in a more integrated 
multi-agency approach. 

First formal meeting between NSFA and WRE 
programmed for 17 May.  It discussed 
opportunities for shared working and what 
‘plugs and sockets’ are required between the 2 
structures to ensure opportunities to deliver a 
holistic approach to water management might 
be achieved.   
 
Develop an appropriate ‘plug and socket’ 
approach with existing flood and drought 
initiatives to ensure an integrated approach 
while not duplicating effort.   
 
The BFI should be reviewed by the NSFA and 
areas of collaborative opportunity identified and 
factored into the NSFA Action Plan.  The BFI 
considers existing and new plans that will 
emerge and impact upon the BFI plan area. It is 
expected that the BFI will inform the Norfolk 
Strategic Flooding Alliance (NSFA). 
 
Ensure the Current Shoreline Management Plans 
for the County are referenced in relation to the 
strategic flood (and erosion) management on the 
coast.   

 
 
 

Chair NSFA 
 

MD WRE 
 

Chair BFI 

 

 
 

4 

1.4  Develop a prioritised list of known flooding 
risk areas to guide initial collaborative working 

NSFA members will share their capital and 
maintenance plans with each other to ensure the 
maximum opportunities possible for the 
development of synchronised and mutually 
supporting work and to help communicate our 
work with Norfolk Communities. 
 

 
 

Chair 
NSFA 

 
Chairs of Inland 

and Coastal 

 

85



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

6 
 

An initial prioritised list comprises 16 flood sites 
that have been identified as complex and 
requiring multi-agency involvement to resolve. 
Outline costed solutions will be worked up, with 
a lead agency for each site. These solutions can 
then be delivered when the necessary funding 
has been secured. 
 
A second tranche of flood risk sites is being 
considered. 

Working 
Groups 

 
5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Task 2. Clarify roles 
and responsibilities 
both amongst 
partners themselves 
and for the general 
public. 

2.1  Education of Riparian owners, homeowners 
and businesses on their responsibilities, how to 
be more resilient in the face of severe weather 
and who to reach out to in times of flooding. 

Flyer produced and to be distributed to all 
properties (business and private across Norfolk).  
It provides basic advice and linkages to where 
specific advice can be found.   
 
NFRS, NRF and NALC exploring ways to improve 
local resilience and self-reliance through 
education and advisory programmes. 
 
Riparian owners need to be updated on their 
responsibilities to watercourse maintenance.  
This might be led by the CLA and NFU. 
 

 
 

CFO, NFRS 
 

NALC 
 

CLA 
 

NFU 
 
 

 

 
6 

2.2  The potential for a Memorandum of 
Understanding to provide greater clarity and 
the need to undertake a gap analysis of areas 
not covered by agencies. 

To be considered by the NCC as the LLFA.  
Consideration should be given to the NRF to lead 
on developing this. 

NCC as LLFA 
(through NRF) 

 

 
7 

2.3  Encourage local support groups to help 
improve community resilience through 
provision of support, education and 
information. 

Consideration should be given to the Coastal and 
Inland groups leading on this with NRF liaison for 
delivery of engagement and education 
programme.  These groups might want to 
explore the role of the Coastal Flood Wardens as 

 
 
 
 

 

 

86



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

7 
 

a resource that might be developed for other 
scenarios. 
 
Consider the development of dashboard, to 
guide planning and response, in which flood data 
and the current picture is made accessible to all 
stakeholders. 
 
Consider the Introduction of a web-based portal 
to help householders and businesses identify 
who is responsible for what drainage asset. 
 
Integration of data feeds by the NCCC Norfolk 
Office of Data Analytics (NODA) to create an 
more holistic appreciation of risk and situational 
awareness. Intention to embed this in an open 
forum website (Norfolk Prepared) to ensure 
agencies and public maintain situational 
awareness and can prepare and response more 
effectively 

Chairs of Inland 
& Coastal 

Groups 
 

CFO, NFRS 
 

NALC 
 

NRF 

 
8 

2.4  Maintain regular communications with 
Norfolk communities on flooding related issues 
to ensure communities are as well informed on 
NSFA activities as is practicable. 
 

This recognises the need for direct (NSFA to 
communities) and indirect (through a third party) 
communications.  Parish Councils will have a key 
role to play here. 
 
Requires close collaboration and coordination on 
flooding related communications.  NCC will lead 
on the development of a coordinated NSFA 
Communications Plans (including agreed, 
immediate lines to take in times of crisis). 
 
Utilise Norfolk Prepared website, tactical 
delivery through inland and coastal NSFA groups.  

 
Chair NSFA 

 
Chair Inland 
and Coastal 

Groups 
 

NCC as LLFA 
 

NRF 
 

NALC 

 

87



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

8 
 

The Norfolk Prepared website was advertised in 
the flood flyer and the website provides broad 
resilience and self-reliance advice. 
 

 
9 

2.5  Consider what flood protection and 
mitigation capabilities are required and how 
they might be supported and supplied. 

Item needs to be addressed by the inland and 
coastal flooding groups to identify most 
appropriate capabilities to mitigate flooding.  
Once the 2 groups have considered the issue for 
their respective remits, the NSFA should consider 
a consolidate view including how capabilities 
might be resourced 

 
NSFA 

 
Chairs of inland 

and Coastal 
groups 

 

 
10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Task 3. Determine 
and implement 
appropriate 
mechanisms for 
funding flood-related 
initiatives. 

3.1  A shared resilience fund to help agencies 
and authorities better react to emergency 
situations in a collaborative manner. 

The Chairs of the Inland and Coastal working 
groups should consider what additional 
resources they required.  This detail should be 
submitted to the NSFA who would fuse the 
requirements into a single submission for the 
LLFA to consider.  This should be completed by 
end of July 21.  
 
CPE is also exploring a coastal adaptation 
mechanism to support those affected by erosion 
which could be linked 

 
 

Chairs of the 
inland and 

Coastal 
working groups 
 
 
 

 

 
 

11 

3.2  Maximising the capital, maintenance and 
revenue funding streams of NSFA members , as 
well as resource and skills, jointly to agree 
common priorities and funding for proactive 
water management initiatives.   

A more collaborative approach to funding-
streams, utilising Regional Flood and Coastal 
Committees (RFCC), and a more coordinated 
approach to the Business Plans of NSFA 
members should be the preferred method to 
operationalise the water management outcomes 
we seek for Norfolk. 
 
The NSFA will work integrally with Anglian ( 
Eastern) and Anglian (Gt Ouse) RFCCs to ensure 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid capital and other 

 
All 

 

88



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

9 
 

funding opportunities are maximised for all 
RMAS in Norfolk. 

 
 
 

12 

3.3  Lobbying DEFRA regarding the funding 
criteria for retro-fitting SuDS and drainage 
improvement works, as current model 
undervalues the damage caused by surface 
water flooding and the costs of mitigation 
schemes 

   

 
 

13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Task 4. Improve the 
coherency of 
planning processes 
across the County to 
ensure that new 
developments do not 
exacerbate the flood 
and coastal erosion 
risks or act as a 
barrier to the 
development of 
options. 

4.1  Removal of the automatic right to connect 
surface water from new developments to the 
sewerage system, which should be replaced 
with a more conditional approach to ensure all 
parties work together to assess and approve 
connections to the sewer network. 

Anglian Water is already involved in this work 
nationally with Water UK. 
 
Lord Dannatt and George Freeman MP wrote, on 
23 Jun 21, to SofS EFRA and SofS HCLG to express 
concerns over 2 planning policy matters. The first 
regarding the automatic rights for developers to 
connect surface water from new developments 
to the sewerage system.  Second, The ongoing 
responsibility of developers for drainage and 
water management on their developments. 

 
Chair NSFA 

 
Anglian Water 

 

 
 

14 

4.2  Planning policy and guidance to be updated 
and strengthened to require flood risk 
betterment in areas of high flood risk and to 
reflect new environment policy objectives and 
new SuDs National Non-Statutory Technical 
Standards. 

CPE is working with our 3 LA planning teams and 
those at KLWNBC and south into Essex to ensure 
we have integrated coastal planning policy in 
relation to erosion and coastal change.  we have 
a shared Supplementary Planning Document 
which we are currently reviewing in line with 
new and emerging Local Plans. We are also 
exploring spatial planning and development in 
Coastal Change Management areas with 
planners locally and nationally. 
 
Farmers and landowners perceive planning to be 
a barrier to the development of on-farm 
reservoirs, which will play a crucial role in 

 
 

Chair NSFA 
 

NCC and 
District / 
Borough 
Councils 

 

89



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

10 
 

connecting flood risk with water resources, 
delivering economic and environmental benefits. 
The group needs to consider what is most 
needed, is it formal policy changes, guidance to 
landowners submitting applications or is internal 
guidance for planners needed to help them with 
reviewing an application? It would also be 
helpful to identify a number of ‘shovel-ready’ 
projects and test them through the planning 
system. 
 
The NSFA would consider forming a focused 
working group to understand the breadth of 
planning-related challenges and recommend a 
programme of work to address these. 

 
 

15 

4.3 LLFA to review thresholds for bespoke 
responses to consultations on Major 
Development and LPAs to review provision of 
drainage advice for Minor Development to 
improve the technical expertise in flooding. 

  
 

NCC / LLFA 

 

 
 

16 

4.4  A clear process to remove and replace 
misconnections to sewers through Building 
Control, or re-classification of foul sewers into 
combined sewers. 

Seems a logical for Anglian Water to lead, given 
their role (this might ensure that foul sewer are 
not reclassified as combined sewers). 
 
Building Control at the local authorities with 
regards to spotting and addressing 
misconnections, working with Anglian Water to 
ensure that foul sewers are not reclassified as 
combined sewers). 

 
 
Anglian Water 
 

and local 
authority 
Building 

Control teams 

 

 
 
 

17 

 
 
Task 5.  Improve 
collective 

5.1  Develop a shared surface water flood risk 
mapping resource and asset register, and 
provide districts with access to the LLFA’s GIS 
system. 

Encourage wider use of EA flood map to increase 
awareness of surface water flood risks in the 
County. Information can be found on 
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/  

 
EA 

 
Anglian Water 

 

90

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/


20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

11 
 

understanding of the 
flood risks through 
the development of 
multi-agency 
situational 
awareness and data 
sharing protocols, 
establishing a 
commonly accessible 
mapping resource 
and modelling 
function. 

 
Anglian Water is developing something similar 
for all flood risk partners across the region, so no 
need to reinvent the wheel. 
 
CPE is also keen to develop a shared asset 
register for coastal locations so they can develop 
integrated asset investment strategies with their 
partners (similar to that with AW). 

 
18 

5.2  Establishing local community champions to 
support communities to map out relevant 
water management assets. 

Potentially incorporated in LRF Stronger 
Community Resilience pilot. LRF to work with 
NALC, Community Resilience, PH etc to help 
identify local champions. 

 
NRF Strategic 

Support Officer 

 

 
 

19 

5.3  Develop and then monitor the concerns of 
Norfolk communities affected by flood and 
drought risks and realities – a form of persistent 
audience sentiment and analysis. 

The development of a prioritised list is based 
upon inputs from local communities and historic 
data.  It is addressed by the Local Issues Working 
Group.  Discussions have taken place with NCC 
Comms to explore a proactive approach to 
communications and with sentiment analysis. 
 
CPE is holding its first join Suffolk and Norfolk 
Coastal Community conference this autumn to 
discuss coastal change.  They have held a Suffolk 
event for several years and invited schools and 
guest speakers as well as the community leads 
and partners.  It’s a very effective event for 
sharing information, networking and supporting 
peoples understanding of risks and solutions. 

 
 
 
 

Nick Tupper 
NSFA 

 

 
 

20 

 
 
 
 

6.1  A coordinated effort from all RMAs to 
ensure that all their assets are regularly and 
proactively maintained, to lead by example. 

EA and Anglian Water have an established, 
mature risk-based maintenance programme and 
could support others developing the same. 

 

 
 
 

Anglian Water 
 

 

91



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

12 
 

Task 6.  Creation of a 
sustainable approach 
to drainage through 
a coherent county-
wide programme of 
improvements, 
prioritised 
maintenance and 
through the planning 
of new 
developments. 

CPE conducts regular inspections of all its coastal 
assets and this informs their annual maintenance 
programmes.  They also have a £150M capital 
delivery programme for 10 years: they have 
already delivered the Bacton Sandscaping 
project and are in the process of progressing 
Lowestoft tidal flood walls and barrier.  They will 
have a capital scheme for Cromer and 
Mundesley online early next year. 
 

EA 

 
21 

6.2  The maintenance regimes of delivery 
agencies and authorities are shared between 
NSFA partners to facilitate closer cooperation in 
areas of mutual interest / responsibility. 
 

  
Anglian Water 

EA 
IDBs 

 

 
 

22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Task 7.  Effective 
management of the 
multi-agency 
response to improve 
consistency of 
delivery across the 
County to ensure we 
retain the confidence 
of Norfolk 
communities. 

7.1  Sharing mobile numbers of all first 
responders to reduce the time it takes to 
contact the appropriate person who can make 
decisions with the skills and knowledge on the 
ground. 

Services with 24hr response - contact should 
always be through established arrangements - 
not to individuals - relying on individual contacts 
more likely to impede and not enhance response 
- eg leave, change of roles, assigned to other 
events etc.  Item closed – to be transferred to 
Appendix B. 

 
 
 

NRF Chair 

 

 
23 

7.2  Explore the creation of Community 
Resilience Team at Parish Council level able to 
respond to flooding events. 

Being considered by NRF, NFRS and NALC. To be 
assisted and enabled by increased situational 
awareness from data embedded in Norfolk 
Prepared website.  
 
Norfolk ALC is already doing work in this area to 
gather names into a ‘register’. 
 
Learn from and make links with any COVID 
support groups set up at county, district or 
Parish level. 

 
NRF Chair 

 
CFO, NFRS 

 
NALC 

 

92



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

13 
 

 
 
 

24 

7.3  Explore potential roles for the NRF and 
local resilience planners in advising, preparing 
and supporting mitigation measures (such as 
education). 

Being considered by NRF. Will require 
identification of risks specific to geographical 
location. NRF assessing options for 
education/training of community champions. 
Norfolk Prepared to be used as a platform to 
inform public on pre-emptive actions that can 
improve their resilience to local risks. 
 
 
 

 
NRF Strategic 

Support Officer 

 

 
 

25 

7.4  Consider how the NCC Resilience Hub 
might lead in the setting up of initial 
coordination function of flooding events (what 
resources are required to enable this?) 

NRF assessing options for an improved cascade 
call system for setting up initial response groups. 
Confirmation of Local Coordination Group (LCG) 
roles and responsibilities being amended in 
Norfolk Emergency Response Guidance (NERG). 
 

 
NRF Chair 

 

 
 
 

26 

7.5  Consider how regular exercise events might 
be used to prove and improve NSFA 
functionality and effectiveness trough the use 
of a series of testing scenarios involving coastal 
and inland flooding events (and explore how 
these might mitigate drought risks). 

Training and assessment exercises are a key 
indicator of progress and to drive learning and 
development. 
 
A NSFA Flood exercise planning meeting will take 
place on 8 Jul (details to follow) to determine 
scope and objective for the NSFA autumn 
exercise.  It will also explore options for the 
Norfolk contribution for the National Flood 
exercise in Oct 22. 
 
An exercise is being developed by NRF’s multi-
agency fusion group (MAFG) that will test our 
response to inland and coastal flood challenges. 
Expected to be delivered 26-28 Oct 21. 
 

 
 

NRF Chair 

 

93



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

14 
 

 
 

27 

7.6  Ensure the Current  Shoreline Management 
Plans for the County are referenced in relation 
to the strategic flood ( and erosion) 
management on the coast.  Can be accessed via 
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/  
 

CPE will be developing this further with EA and 
our coastal partners and communities through 
the SMP action plans and via our IRF bid. 
 
An education campaign about climate change 
and SL rise at a regional/county level would help 
all RMA’s in the discussions we have to have with 
communities. 

  

 
28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Task 8.  Improving 
the oversight of and 
managing delivery of 
riparian 
responsibilities. 

8.1  An education campaign to educate 
landowners and homeowners in terms of their 
responsibilities around keeping ditches and 
culverts cleared. 

The EA are considering developing some 
guidance on this nationally but some local 
guidance could perhaps be developed more 
quickly with a Parish Council as a test area and 
involving local engagement from riparian owners 
about what support, knowledge, H&S 
considerations and equipment a riparian owner 
needs. 
Cambridgeshire County Council are developing 
riparian guidance asap on this so perhaps you 
could collaborate with them for efficiency and 
speed? 
Charles Krolik-Root is the lead on this at CCC. 
 

 
NCC as LLFA 

 

 
 

29 

8.2  Explore the practicalities and benefits of a 
single lead organisation for managing all 
watercourses in the County.  How would this be 
resourced and what authorities would it require 
(how might these impact on the statutory 
obligations of other NSFA elements)? 

   

 
 
 

30 

8.3 The NSFA partners will review existing 
responsibilities of the EA, LLFA, Broads 
Authority and IDBs across the County to assess 
if there is a better balance of those 
responsibilities in managing and maintaining 

   

94

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/


20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

15 
 

the County’s watercourses alongside riparian 
owners, and to look at mechanisms for 
achieving that, including new legislation. 

 
31 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Task 9.  Improve 
understanding of the 
policy framework 
across all NSFA 
members and 
improve the 
consistency of its 
delivery across the 
County of Norfolk 

9.1  Need to better understand EA’s policy 
around river dredging and whether this is being 
undertaken. 

EA provides their current policy position: 
 
Dredging means removing accumulated material 
in waterways, such as gravel or soil (often 
referred to as silt).  Dredging in certain locations 
may improve land drainage by lowering the river 
level to allow water to flow from the land or 
from drains, however it may sometimes cause 
unintentional flooding downstream. Dredging 
may also be ineffective in reducing flooding, as 
the natural processes in many rivers can cause 
silt to build up again quickly.  Dredging may also 
damage wildlife and ecosystems in certain areas. 
In extreme flooding events, the small increases 
in width and depth achieved by dredging a 
waterway do not provide enough capacity to 
contain the excess flood water.  This means 
dredging is not always the best solution to 
managing flood risk, and we may suggest other 
measures instead.  When the EA dredges they 
focus work on locations where the risk of 
flooding, economic loss and risk to life are the 
greatest.  They may dredge an area if there is 
evidence that: 
 

• dredging will reduce flood risk to local 
properties will not increase flooding 
downstream it is affordable to do so 
(disposal of silt may be expensive). 

 
 
 
 
 
 

All 
 
 
 
 

Item closed.  
Will be 
transferred to 
the record of 
completed 
actions in Jul 
21. 

95



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

16 
 

• it is compatible with restrictions around 
protected species. 

 
32 

9.2  Need to better understand the 
Declassification of Infrastructure Programme 
being undertaken by Anglian Water. 

Anglian Water does not have a declassification 
programme, but they will review assets that are 
incorrectly classified when they are made aware.  
Anglian Water to lead this work and 
communicate it comprehensively with the NSFA.  

 
 
Anglian Water 

 

 

  

96



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

17 
 

APPENDIX B – RECORD OF ACHIEVEMENTS 

SER ACTION OUTCOME ACHIEVED 

1 Consider the need for a single, centralised flood line 
number that provides a mechanism through which 
flooding can be reported, specific triage advice can 
be provided and generic flood prevention and 
resilience guidance can be sought. 

Single flood line number in place to provide 24/7 hub for flood advice 
and support.  Flyer produced that covers advice and provides details on 
organisational flood roles and responsibilities.  Flyer will be distributed 
to all properties and business and properties across Norfolk by the end 
of May 21 

27 May 21 

2 Production of clear comms tools (leaflet/website) for 
householders and businesses with emergency 
contact numbers. 

Flyer produced by the NRF (MAFG) and NCC Comms that has been 
distributed to all addresses across the County.  This flyer provided 
details on the single flood line number, the roles and responsibilities of 
various agencies and authorities and provided link to other advisory / 
resilience websites. 

27 May 21 

3 Develop a prioritised list of flood work that can be 
used to galvanise a collaborative approach to 
complex flooding sites 

First tranche comprises a list of 16 flood sites that have been identified 
as complex and requiring multi agency involvement to resolve. Outline 
costed solutions will be worked up, with a lead agency for each site. 
These solutions can then be delivered when the necessary funding has 
been secured. 

 

 

  

97



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

18 
 

APPENDIX C – NSFA MEMBERSHIP 

SER ORGANISATION REPRESENTATIVE COMMENT 

1 NSFA Executive Lord Richard Dannatt Chair 

2 NSFA Executive Nick Tupper Local Authorities POC 

3 NSFA Executive Philip Lester Strategy, NRF and Exercising POC 

4 NCC / LLFA Cllr Andrew Proctor Leader County Council 

5 NCC / LLFA Tom McCabe ED Paid Services 

6 NCC / LLFA Graham Bygrave Highways 

7 NCC / LLFA Mark Ogden Flood and Water Management 

8 NCC / LLFA Duncan Merren Communications 

9 Inland Flooding Group Trevor Holden MD Broadland & South Norfolk 
District Council 

10 Coastal Flooding Group Sheila Oxtoby CEx Great Yarmouth Borough 
Council 

11 Breckland District Council Cllr Sam Chapman-
Allen 

Leader District Council 

12 Breckland District Council Maxine O’Mahony ED District Council 

13 Broadlands District Council Cllr Shaun Vincent Leader District Council 

14 Borough of Gt Yarmouth 
Council 

Cllr Carl Smith Leader Borough Council 

15 Borough of Kings Lynn & 
West Norfolk Council 

Cllr Stuart Dark Leader Borough Council 

16 Borough of Kings Lynn & 
West Norfolk Council 

Lorraine Gore CEx District Council 

17 North Norfolk District 
Council 

Cllr Sarah Butikofer Leader District Council 

18 North Norfolk District 
Council 

Steve Blatch CEx District Council 

19 Norwich City Council Cllr Alan Waters Leader City Council 

20 Norwich City Council Stephen Evans CEx City Council 

21 South Norfolk District 
Council 

Cllr John Fuller Leader District Council 

22 Anglian (Great Ouse) 
Regional Flood and Coastal 
Committee (ARFCC) 

Richard Powell  

23 Anglian Eastern Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee (AERFCC) 

Brian Stewart  

24 Association of Drainage 
Authorities (ADA) 

Innes Thompson  

25 Anglia Water (AW) Jonathan Glerum  

26 Broads Authority (BA) Marie-Pierre Tighe  

27 Coastal Partnership East 
(CPE) 

Karen Thomas  

28 Environment Agency (EA) Mark Johnson  

29 Highways Agency (HA) Simon Amor  

30 National Farmers Union 
(NFU) 

Rob Wise  

31 Norfolk Resilience Forum 
(NRF) 

Stuart Ruff Also Chief Fire Officer, NFRS 

98



20210727-Ratification Draft-V3 

19 
 

32 Norfolk Association of 
Local Councils (NALC) 

John Pennell  

33 Water Resources East 
(WRE) 

Robin Price  

34 Water Management 
Alliance (WMA) 

Phil Camomile  

 

 

99



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member for Finance Revenues and 

Benefits  
 
To: Cabinet, 20 September 2021 
 
Author: Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
 
Subject:  Quarter 1 Financial Performance Report 2021-22 
 
Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 

of the Council as at 30 June 2021 
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the report and appendix be noted. 
 

 
1.0  BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance for revenue, capital and treasury, with the detail being 
included in the attached appendix.   

 
1.2 Revenue 

The full year out-turn based on current projections at this early stage of the year is an 
above budget spend within services of £388k, which increases to £531k when the 
efficiencies are included.  These forecasts are based on information held at quarter one 
and are therefore subject to change as the year progresses.  Full details of variances are 
shown in appendix A. 
 
Progress against achieving our efficiencies has been strong in the first quarter, with £285k 
(49%) achieved to date.  Some of the remaining target will not be achieved until next 
financial year, but where this is the case alternative efficiencies will be sought to offset.  
Work is continuing to realise the remaining target before the end of the year. 
 

1.3  When the budget was set, we allocated £500k of the general Government Covid grant to 
services, leaving £231k to offset general additional costs across the Council.  These cost 
pressures were not known at the time as the impacts of the Covid pandemic cannot easily 
be forecast. 

 
1.4  We are in discussions with colleagues at Norfolk County Council to utilise COMF (Control 

Outbreak Management Fund) budget for our new cost pressures in this area and the 
outcome of this will be included in the quarter 2 report. 

 
1.5  Capital 
 
  The forecast out-turn shows spend of £16,205k (65%) against the budget and appendix A 

details the main variances.  Below budget spend of £9,076k is requested to be carried 
forward as the projects will run into future years, these carry forward requests will be 
included in the budget setting report to Council in February 2022 and £7,100k of this 
relates to grant funded projects. 

100

Agenda Item 11



1.6  Treasury 
 
 The investment interest budget is forecasting below budget income of £142k as detailed in 

the appendix to this report.  This partly relates to external loans to a 3rd party which are 
still expected to be made, but the timing is later than when budgeted.  Alongside the 
reduced interest rate environment we are currently operating in.   

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1  That the report and appendix be noted . 
2.2 Do nothing. 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1  To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 

enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary and protecting the General 
fund balance. 

 
3.2 To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial year. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1  To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 

financial position. 
 

4.2   To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and to protect the General 
fund minimum balance. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 
 Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 
 Management;  Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 
 Transformation Programme;  Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 
 implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 
 
5.2  Corporate Priorities 
5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities. 
 
5.3  Financial  
5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications. 
 
5.8 Risk Management  
5.3.1 Financial risks are included within the report. 
  
5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those     

variances. 
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 N/A 
 

101



7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 DFG – Disabled Facilities Grant 
7.2 LIBID - London Inter-Bank Bid Rate. 
7.3 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates 
7.4 COMF – Control Outbreak Management Funding 
 

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Alison Chubbock, Assistant Director Finance 
Telephone Number: 07967 325037 
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk 
 
Key Decision: No 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to Mandatory Service and Discretionary Services 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A Forecast financial report for 2021-22 full year. 
 
 

102

file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://///BDCVMMGOV01/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Breckland Council 
Financial report for the year ended 31 March 2022 

 
This report has three sections 

o Section 1 – Revenue budget 
o Section 2 – Capital budget 
o Section 3 – Treasury update 

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income. 
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income. 

Section 1 - Revenue 
 
Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn  

  Budget 
Forecast  
Out-turn 

Forecast 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost of Services     

1) Place and Delivery (P&D) 6,343 6,433 90 

2) Strategy and Resources (S&R) 10,833 11,153 320 

3) Housing Benefits (HB) 34 173 139 

4) Total Cost of Services before reserves 17,210 17,759 549 

5) Contributions to/from reserves (RES) (3,544) (3,543) 1 

6) Total Cost of Services 13,666 14,216 550 

Funding & Appropriations    

7) Appropriations (APP) 1,801 1,833 32 

8) Government grants (GRA) (5,778) (5,741) 37 

9) Council Tax (CT) (4,429) (4,429) - 

10) Retained Business Rates (NDR) (5,117) (5,117) - 

11) Total Funding (13,523) (13,454) 69 

12) Un-allocated Covid-19 funding - (231) (231) 

13) Net Cost of Services 143 531 388 

14) Efficiencies to be achieved (296) - 296 

15) Remove General Fund contribution 153 - (153) 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 531 531 

 
Significant variances are detailed over the page. 
 
Salaries 
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2020-21 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues 
Partnership (ARP) staff. 
The achieved vacancy factor for this year is currently on target for both Breckland and for 
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) staff.   

103



 

Table 2 - Significant Variances 
 
 
Cost Centre 

 
Port-
folio 

Total 
Budget 

£ 

Total 
Variance 

£ 

 
 
Comments 

1) Efficiencies All (295,745) 295,745 
This is the remaining efficiency to be achieved throughout the year, with £285k (49%) 
achieved to date (see detail below) 

2) Housing Benefit Claims HB 34,457 138,935 
Covid-19 impact: Increased demand in temporary accommodation through national initiatives 
such as ‘Everybody In’ combined with increased costs of that accommodation. 

3) Corporate Finance S&R 305,608 138,362 

Loans made to Breckland Bridge have been delayed, however the schemes requiring loans 
are still part of the approved 5 year business plan so the forecasted loan income is still 
achievable albeit later than originally budgeted. 

4) BTS S&R (53,869) 136,727 
One off in year costs as a result of the decision already made regarding ceasing BTS, future 
years are cost neutral. 

5) Commercial Property P&D (2,202,967) 94,326 

Covid 19 Impact: Shortfall in rental income is mostly due to the continued economic situation 
relating to the impact of Covid and maintaining the pre-Covid income target of 98%.  The long 
term strategy is to support businesses by offering deferred rental support where requested to 
ensure longevity of business survival. 

6) New Homes Bonus (NHB) GRA (1,629,911) 42,572 Government policy change on the distribution of returned NHB compared to previous years. 

7) Appropriations APP 1,801,166 31,977 Prior year shortfall on Renewable Energy NNDR income. 

8) Elizabeth House P&D 189,019 23,380 

Covid-19 impact: Conference centre letting income shortfall due to remaining Covid 
restrictions and efficiency target which is programmed to be achieved through a service 
review currently in progress. 

9) Legal Services S&R 175,368 22,817 

Increased levels of work combined with below budget income generation due to lack of 
resource available.  The service will be undertaking a review of its external Legal costs 
alongside internal casework demand, to identify areas where spend could be reduced: either 
by using our internal resource differently, or by reviewing how external work is commissioned. 

10) Land Management P&D 121,845 19,258 
Shortfall in income due to lower receipts from sales than budgeted.  A new programme of 
disposals has been established with a new approach to achieve the required income. 

11) ICT S&R 1,049,936 18,415 
PSN Network penetration costs are above budget, combined with increased data use on 
mobiles as a result of Covid-19 restrictions which has increased virtual meetings. 

12) Enabling S&R 220,538 (20,609) Salary savings due to current vacancy, which contributes to the Council’s vacancy factor. 

13) Housing Option S&R 347,963 (27,330) Salary savings due to current vacancy, which contributes to the Council’s vacancy factor. 

14) Other Miscellaneous All (216,195) (202)  

15) Covid-19 funding  - (230,869) 
Remaining balance of the Government general Covid grant of £731k, which is covering the 
additional Covid-19 related costs detailed in the other variances in this table. 

16) Contrib’n to General Fund  - (152,786) The contribution to the General Fund will not be made until all efficiencies are achieved 

TOTAL  (152,787) 530,718  

104



 

Table 3 – Progress Against Efficiency Targets 
 
The original efficiency target for the year was £581k and to date £285k has been achieved (49%). 
 

 
 
 
Collection Funds 
 
Council Tax 
The Council Tax collection fund account had a residual deficit of £400k overall at the end of 2020-21, 
with Breckland’s share being £45k.  The forecast for 2021-22 is a small surplus currently, however 
this value could be impacted by any increases in Localised Council Tax Support (LCTS) over the 
remaining few months of the year. 
 
Retained Business Rates 
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account had a residual deficit of £16,073k 
overall at the end of 2020-21, with Breckland’s share being £6,431k.  This balance was unusually 
high due to the Covid retail and hospitality reliefs and the Government have provided grants to offset 
this cost to the Council.   
The forecast deficit for 2021-22 will be calculated later in the year once the Government have 
provided further information on the new reliefs expected in the autumn for businesses impacted by 
Covid-19.   
 

 
 
 
 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

Original Target Achieved to Date

2021-22 Progress Against Efficiencies

105



 

Section 2 - Capital 
 

Table 1 - Progress against 21-22 approved capital programme 

  

 
Budget   

£ 

Forecast 
Out-turn 

£ 

Forecast 
(under)/overspend 

£ 

Place and Delivery     

   Property (Land & Buildings) 1,114,485 1,188,070 73,585 

   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 2,075,149 2,075,149 - 

   Capital grants 15,837,918 8,737,918 (7,100,000) 

   Not yet released 2,058,500 83,000 (1,975,500) 

Total Place and Delivery 21,086,052 12,084,137 (9,001,915) 

Strategy and Resources    

   Property (Land & Buildings) 1,283,038 1,441,038 158,000 

   ICT and Vehicles & Equipment 87,000 87,000 - 

   Capital grants 2,232,662 2,232,662 - 

   Not yet released 203,438 203,438 - 

Total Strategy and Resources 3,806,138 3,964,138 158,000 

   Capital Loans 157,188 157,188 - 

TOTAL 25,049,379 16,205,464 (8,843,915) 

Forecast outturn  £16,205,464 or 65% 

 
Table 2 - The variance is shown below: 

 
 
Project 

(under)/ 
over spend 

£ 

Carry over 
to Future 

£ 

 

Place and Delivery 

Snetterton Power - (1,100,000) Fully funded project.  Start on site expected around 
October 2021. 

Thetford HIF - (6,000,000) Fully funded project.  Contract and land agreement 
work is in progress.  Start on site not expected 
before Q3. 

Public lighting 73,585 - Programme of work has been brought forward, a 
report to validate the budget provision will be later 
in the year. 

Property re-investment - (1,975,500) Re-investment of capital receipts deferred until next 
financial year. 

S106 affordable 
housing 

158,000 - Additional S106 funding to be allocated to the Elm 
Road project 

Strategy and Resources 

    

Total £231,585 (£9,075,500) = (£8,843,915) Total 

 
 

106



 

Section 3 – Treasury 
 
Security 
The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns. 

 
Maximum 
risk level 

Actual 
risk level Variance 

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.007% 0.053% 

 
Liquidity 
The Council had an average of £7.6m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
was slightly higher than our usual requirement of £5m due to large cash outflows expected but they 
did not take place.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting period.  The weighted 
average life (WAL) of investments was 38 days. 

 
Yield 

 Budget Forecast Variance 

Interest receivable 2021-22 £235,666 £93,885 £141,781 

Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.042% 0.286% (0.244%) 

 
The below budget income relates to expected loans to 3rd parties at market rates which will not be 
made this year due to timing delays.  
 
Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below. 
 

   
 

                                                 
1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate 

26,614,000 , 
70%

270,000 , 1%

9,000,000 , 24%

2,000,000 , 5% Counterparty Exposure

banks - UK

Loans to 3rd
Parties

building
societies

Local
authorities

Currently 
46% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week. 

107



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:  Sarah Suggitt, Executive Member for Planning, Leisure and Contracts  
 
To: Governance and Audit Committee – 28 July 2021 
 Cabinet – 20 September 2021 

Council – 14 October 2021 
 
Author: Anton Bull, Procurement and Contracts Manager 
 
Subject:  Contract Procedure Rules and the Log of Contracts Delegation to Officers 
 
Purpose: To consider proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules and 

the associated log of delegations to officers.  
 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 

(1)  That the proposed amendments to the Log of Delegations to officers relating to 
contracts, detailed in Appendix A, be approved; and 

 
(2)  That the proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules, detailed in Appendix 

B, be approved; and 
 

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:  
 

(3) That the Constitution be amended in accordance with Appendix B and so that the 
Contract Procedure Rules are inserted after the Financial Management Standards. 

 

 
BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 In May 2019 Council approved changes to the Contract Procedure Rules to provide clarity 

on the delegations from Cabinet to officers.   
 
1.2 A recent review of procurement and contract management has identified the need to 

update the Contract Procedure Rules particularly in relation to changes resulting from the 
UK’s departure from the EU.  In addition, the Contract Procedure Rules have been 
reviewed to identify other areas to update.   

 
1.3 As a consequence of the updates to the Contract Procedure Rules, the delegations to 

officers also need to be updated, primarily because the numbering of some of the Contract 
Procedure Rules has changed.   

 
1.4 Appendix A shows the proposed changes to the delegations to officers, with words to be 

removed shown as strikethrough and in italics while new words inserted are shown in bold 
underlined.   

 
1.5 Appendix B shows the proposed changes to the Contract Procedure Rules again with 

words to be removed shown as strikethrough and in italics while new words inserted are 
shown in bold underlined.   

 
1.6 Members should also note that the Cabinet retains decision-making power in respect of 

contracts and procurement, regardless of the delegations. As such, there will be occasions 

108

Agenda Item 12



where officers choose not to exercise their delegated authority, and instead refer the 
decision to executive members.  

 
1.7 All substantive officer decisions must be published and will therefore be subject to scrutiny. 

Many will also be subject to potential call-in. 
 
2.0 Proposed changes to delegations to officers 
 
2.1 There are no new delegations to officers.  Overall, the existing delegations remain but the 

delegations have been updated to reflect the change in numbering of some of the Contract 
Procedure Rules as a result of changes made to those rules.  The changes to the Contract 
Procedure Rules are explained in the next section.   

 
2.2 The delegation for waivers/exemptions to Contract Procedure Rules (current rule 7.1, 

proposed changes rule 3.1) is a far-reaching delegation that allows any of the named 
officers to waive or exempt requirements from Contract Procedure Rules. However, the 
way the current delegation is written, there are no restrictions or parameters around this 
delegation and the named officers could waive or exempt requirements (after consulting 
with the Monitoring Officer or S151 Officer) from Contract Procedure Rules without any 
reason.  It seems unlikely that this was the intention.  Current rule 7.2, proposed changes 
rule 3.2, adds another option to waive or exempt requirements from Contract Procedure 
Rules but this requires certain conditions to be met.  It therefore makes more sense that 
Cabinet retains the right to waive or vary the Contract Procedure Rules under current rule 
7.1, proposed changes rule 3.1 whilst delegating to officers the authority to waive or vary 
the Contract Procedure Rules under current rule 7.2, proposed changes rule 3.2.  This 
would allow functional working of waivers and exemptions through delegations to officers 
whilst rare exceptional reasons for waivers and exemptions would still require Cabinet 
authorisation.   

 
2.3 Standing lists have been removed from the Contract Procedure Rules (current rule 12) and, 

as a consequence, it is proposed that the delegation for standing lists has been removed as 
well.  Standing lists have, in effect, been replaced by framework agreements and these are 
also covered in the Contract Procedure Rules so this removes duplication.   

 
2.4 Tenders and quotations are received electronically and Contract Procedure Rules have 

been updated accordingly, current rule 18.2, proposed changes rule 14.2.  The proposed 
changes to Contract Procedure Rules remove the detailed requirements for the receipt of 
hard copy tenders and quotations and instead replace these with a catchall statement 
allowing the Contracts and procurement Team after consulting with the Monitoring Officer 
to make arrangements for receiving hard copy tenders or quotations in the unlikely event 
that this is ever required.  This removes the need for the delegation regarding hard copy 
tenders.   

 
3.0 Proposed changes to Contract Procedure Rules 
 
3.1 The basic requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules remain the same but a number of 

changes are proposed to update the Contract Procedure Rules to reflect changes as a 
result of the UK’s departure from the EU, to incorporate internal audit recommendations 
and generally to update the Contract Procedure Rules to reflect current practice.  The table 
below details the proposed changes along with the rationale for the change. The full 
proposed changes are shown in Appendix B. 

 
3.2 The Contract Procedure Rules currently start at page 108 of the Constitution and are 

sandwiched between the Financial Procedure Rules and the Financial Management 
Standards.  The Financial Management Standards actually comprise an appendix to the 

109



Financial Procedure Rules, and so the Contract Rules should be inserted after the Financial 
Management Standards, and the numbering should begin at 1.  The table below therefore 
also shows the amended numbering.   

 

Current rule 
number 

Proposed Rule 
number  

Details of and rationale for the change  

5.7.1 1.1.1 Updated to reflect the Public Contracts Regulations 2016 
and link to corporate objectives 

5.7.4 1.1.4 Added to highlight conflicts of interest early in the rules 

5.7.5 1.1.5 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

5.7.6 N/A Removed as this is implicit in proposed rule 1.1.1 and 
has been superseded by the Social Value Act.  

5.7.8 N/A Removed as there is no Procurement Guide for Officers.  
Advice and guidance is given by the Contracts and 
Procurement Team but is constantly evolving and a 
written guide would quickly become out of date and add 
little value.  

N/A 1.2 Added to ensure the Contract Procedure Rules are in line 
with current practice and the requirements of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 to conduct tenders 
electronically.   

6.1.1 (d) 2.1.1 (d) Updated to remove EU references.  Reg 57 reference 
removed as there is no reason to single out this particular 
regulation. 

6.1.2 (a)  2.1.2 (a)  Broadened to cover all records under these Contract 
Procedure Rules 

6.1.2 (c) 2.1.2 (c) Amended to tidy up the wording and reflect the current 
team name 

6.1.3 2.1.3 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

6.1.4 2.1.4 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

6.2.1 (b) 2.2.1 (b) Updated to reflect current transparency requirements to 
publish contracts over £5,000 and reflect the current 
team name 

6.2.1 (c) 2.2.1 (c) Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

6.2.1 (h) 2.2.1 (h) Updated to highlight use of electronic tendering 

6.2.1 (i) N/A Removed to reflect current practice 

6.2.1 (j) 2.2.1 (i) Updated to reflect current level for contracts to £5,000 

6.2.1 (l) 2.2.1 (k) Updated to reflect the current team name 

6.2.1 (m) 2.2.1 (l) Updated to be consistent with the words used in the rest 
of the rules. 

6.2.2 (b) 2.2.2 (b) Updated to reflect the current team name 

7.1 3.1 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

7.2 3.2 Updated to reflect the current team name 

7.2.3 N/A Removed as this is already covered in 7.2.1 (3.2.1) 

7.2.4 N/A Removed as not necessary as the original contract would 
cover this so would not need an exemption.   

7.2.5 3.2.3 Added legislation references to ensure extensions do not 
allow contracts to go over thresholds that would require a 
different procedure.   

7.2.6 N/A Removed as this is already covered in 7.2.1 (3.2.1) 

7.2.7 3.2.4 Amended to add a qualification that there must be a 
significant risk to the council caused by the urgency 

7.2.10 3.2.7 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

7.2.11 3.2.8 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

110



7.3 3.3 Updated to reflect the current team name 

7.3.1 3.3.1 Removed purchasing consortiums as these have 
become common practice that do not need Monitoring 
Officer consultations.   

7.4 3.4 Updated to reflect the current team name 

7.5 3.5 Updated to reflect the current team name 

7.6 N/A Removed as other updates remove the need to refer to 
e-procurement separately 

7.8 N/A Removed as unlikely to grant exemptions for more than 
one year and any exemption of this nature would have a 
review considered as part of the exemption.   
 

7.9 3.7 Updated to reflect the current team name and tidy up the 
reference to rule 9.  

7.10 3.8 Updated to reflect the current team name 

9.1 5.1 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

9.1A 5.1A Updated to include extensions to contracts and to allow a 
conditional notification to be given to the successful 
tenderer.  As the current wording stands, there is a 
possibility that a tenderer could find out that they have 
been successful or unsuccessful via a Call-in notice 
which would put the council at risk of breaching the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016.  Removed requirements for 
reports to the Contracts and Procurement Team as this 
soes not happen in practice but the Contracts and 
Procurement Team work with service managers and 
officers to maintain an up to date contracts register. Rule 
9.2 (5.2) has also been updated to reflect this.   

9.2 5.2 Updated to include notifying the Contracts and 
Procurement Team and increasing the records kept in 
line with current practice.  Also restricted requirements to 
contracts between £25,000 and £75,000.  New 
paragraph to allow less records to be kept for contracts 
up to £25,000 that are proportionate to the value of the 
contract. 

9.3 5.3 Updated to include requirement to keep all records as 
required by 9.2 (5.2) and any other records as advised by 
the Contracts and Procurement Team.  

9.4 5.4 Updated to remove requirement to scan or microfilm 
unsuccessful tender details and instead require that 
these are kept for 12 months.   

9.5 5.5 Removed reference to 9.1A (5.1A) as changes to 9.1A 
(5.1A) mean this reference is no longer required.   

10 6.1 Updated as the original text was not clear about what it 
was trying to achieve but seemed to be focussed on 
skills and resources for procurement so has been 
updated to reflect that.   

11 7 Updated to reflect the current team name and to reflect 
current legal requirements 

12.1 N/A Removed references to Standing Lists as no longer used 
and have been replaced by Framework Agreements. 

111



12.2 8.1 Updated to reflect current legal requirements for 
Framework Agreements.  Updated award notification 
(same as 9.1A/5.1A above) 

13.1.1 to 
13.1.3 

9.1.1 to 9.1.3 Updated to reflect current legal requirements.  Removed 
separate reference to consultants as covered by services 
so no need to separate out.   

13.1.5 9.1.5 Removed as already covered by 13.1.2 (9.1.2)  

13.1.7 9.1.7 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

13.1.8 9.1.8 Removed as consultants as covered by services 

13.2.2 9.2.2 Added new procedure to deal with items where the cost 
of disposal is likely to outweigh the value of the asset for 
disposal.   

14 10 Updated to reflect current legal requirements and the 
current team name 

15 11 Updated to reflect current legal requirements and the 
current team name 

16.1 12.1 Removed specific rule references as not clear why these 
rules have any more importance than any of the other 
rules.  

16.3.2 12.3.2 Updated to clarify that it is the tender submitted by the 
candidate.   

16.3.5 12.3.5 Updated to include percentage weighting for evaluation 
criteria 

16.5 12.5 Updated to clarify that all candidates must receive 
clarification questions and answers. 

17 13 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

18.1 14.1 Removed specific reference to the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 as this is already covered by the words 
“adequate period” and the Contracts and Procurement 
Team will advise on above threshold contracts.  

18.1.2a 14.1.2a Added a line to allow for an explanation of any Health 
and Safety breaches as remedial action can often 
indicate a safer working environment.   

18.2 14.2 Updated to make electronic tenders the norm and to 
confirm they will be opened by the Contracts and 
Procurement Team.   

18.3 14.3 Simplified the hard copy tender arrangements to remove 
detailed instructions and replaced with arrangements to 
be made in the unlikely event that this is ever needed.   

19 15 Updated to add legislation references as this a key area 
of risk for procurement challenges.  Updated to reflect 
the current team name 

20.1.1 16.1.1 Updated to reflect the current team name 

20.2 16.2 Updated to include contract extensions and to remove 
reference to standstill periods which will be dealt with by 
the Contracts and Procurement Team.   

20.2.4 16.2.4 Removed as this is a repeat of 5.1A 

21 N/A Removed as not used  

22.1.2 17.1.2 Added electronic invoices to ensure this becomes the 
default position 

22.1.3 17.1.3 Removed specific reference to consultants as this is 
covered by services.  Combined reference to works, 
supplies of goods, materials or services as the threshold 
is the same.   

112



22.3 17.3 Updated to reflect current legal requirements 

23 N/A Removed as would be considered as a non- commercial 
consideration and the Local Government Act 1988 
Section 19 specifically prohibits this unless it is to 
facilitate compliance with the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012.  This will need to be considered on a 
case by case basis rather than having a blanket 
requirement.    

27.2 N/A Removed as no guidance exists.  The Contracts and 
Procurement Team will provide support for contract 
managers.   

28.1 22.1 Updated to refer to the Contract Manager and included 
social value and other obligations in the list of items to be 
monitored. 

N/A 24.3 New section added to monitor contract spend that may 
increase during the life of the contract which if that value 
had been known at the start, a different procedure would 
have been adopted.   

30 24 Updated to reflect the current team name 

31.2 25.2 Removed requirement for a limit on the excess for 
professional indemnity insurance as this will vary by 
supplier.  The actual excess would need to be 
considered as part of any risk or financial evaluation as 
this would vary by supplier.   

31.3 25.3 Updated to include consultants in services 

32 26 Updated to remove annual review and leave as updated 
when necessary 

N/A Index Index added for ease of use 

 
4.0 OPTIONS  
 
4.1 Cabinet can approve or decline to approve any of the proposed amendments to the 

delegations detailed in Appendix A and any of the proposed amendments to the Contract 
Procedure Rules set out in Appendix B.  

 
5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
5.1 The proposed amendments to in Appendix B will comply with audit requirements.  
 
6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
6.1 The proposed delegations to officers relate directly to the current Contract Procedure 

Rules. The proposed amendments to the Contracts Procedure Rules will secure 
compliance with the audit requirements. 

 
7.0 IMPLICATIONS  
 
7.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional & 
Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below. 

113



 
Constitution & Legal  

 
7.2 As the award of contracts is an executive function, delegation of part of that function is 

reserved to the Leader and the Cabinet.  
 
7.3 The Contract Procedure Rules relate to the contracts function and Cabinet therefore has an 

opportunity to consider proposed amendments to the Rules, but as the Contract Procedure 
Rules form part of the Constitution full Council approval is required. 

 
Contracts  

 
7.4 The delegations will correlate and comply with the proposed amendments to the  Contract 

Procedure Rules. The proposed amendments to the Contract Procedure Rules will allow 
compliance with the audit requirements.  

 
Risk Management  

 
7.5 Full compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules and the relevant Officer delegations 

should lower any risk of challenge to any contracting procedure.  
 
8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED  
 
8.1 None  
 
9.0  ACRONYMS   
 
9.1 CPM means the Contracts and Procurement Manager  
 
9.2 CX means Chief Executive  
 
9.3 ED means Executive Director 
 
9.4 AD means Assistant Director 
 
9.5 SM means Service Manager 
  
9.6 SLO means the Senior Legal Officer  
 

Background papers:- Constitution which can be found online 

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Anton Bull   
Telephone Number:  
Email: anton.bull@breckland.gov.uk   
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
 

114

mailto:anton.bull@breckland.gov.uk


APPENDIX A – Proposed amended delegations to officers in relation to contracts  
APPENDIX B – Proposed amended Contract Procedure Rules 

115



APPENDIX A – Proposed amended delegations to officers in relation to contracts  
 
 

Abbreviation Meaning 

  

CX Chief Executive 

ED Executive Director 

AD Assistant Director 

SM Service Manager 

SLO Senior Legal Officer 

CPM Procurement and Contracts Manager 

 

Officer(s) Subject Delegation 
From 

Power 

CX, COs and DCOs CX, 
EDs and ADs following 
consultation with the MO 
or S151 Officer 

Contracts - 
contracting activities 
of any partnership for 
which the Council is 
the accountable body 

Cabinet (Note to Contract Procedure 
Rule 5.7 1) Authority to 
agree that Contract 
Procedure Rules do not 
apply to contracting 
activities of any partnership 
for which the Council is the 
accountable body 

CX, Cos, DCOs CX, EDs, 
ADs and SMs subject to 
consultation with the 
appropriate portfolio 
holder (consultation is not 
required for (i) routine 
contracts (eg routine 
ongoing or annual 
maintenance contracts, 
routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; 
routine servicing of 
vehicles etc); (ii) contracts 
for 1-off schemes where 
the scheme has been 
formally approved and 
where sufficient money 
has been allocated within 
the budget for the 
contract; and (iii) indirect 
services such as legal 
services or consultants for 
schemes which have been 
formally approved and 
where sufficient money 
has been allocated within 
the budget for the contract 
as such contracts are not 
closely connected to the 
discharge of the function.) 

Contracts – letting 
(awarding) of 
contracts through 
framework agreement 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 
62.1.4 and 12.2 8) Authority 
to let (award) a contract 
through any framework 
agreement to which the 
Council has access where 
considered expedient by a 
CO or a DCO subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget which 
includes the approved 5 
year capital programme. (A 
decision notice must be 
published for each award of 
contract unless 
administrative or minor or 
not closely connected to 
discharge of function.) (The 
signing of contracts is dealt 
with separately below.) 

CX, COs and DCOs CX, 
EDs and ADs following 

Contracts - variation 
or waiver (exemption) 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
7.1 3.2) Authority to vary or 

116



consultation with the MO 
or S151 Officer 

of Contract 
Procedure Rules 

waive any Contract 
Procedure Rules subject to 
complying with all relevant 
requirements of Rule 7, and 
subject to the scheme 
falling within the approved 
budget which includes the 
approved 5 year capital 
programme. 

CX, COs, DCOs and SMs Contracts - Standing 
(Approved) Lists 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 
12.1.2 and 12.1.3) Authority 
to determine that a Standing 
(Approved) List shall be 
kept of persons suitable for 
undertaking contracts for 
the execution of specified 
categories of work or for the 
supply of specified 
categories of goods, 
materials or services within 
such values or amounts as 
may be specified, in 
accordance with Contract 
Procedure Rule 8, and to 
use such Lists, subject to 
full compliance with Rule 8. 
(The awarding and signing 
of contracts are dealt with 
separately below) 

CX, Cos, DCOs CX, EDs, 
ADs and SMs 

Contracts - assets for 
disposal 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
13.2 9.2) Authority to 
dispose of obsolete stocks, 
stores or assets, other than 
land, subject to complying 
with Contract Procedure 
Rule 9.2. 

CX, Cos, DCOs CX, EDs, 
ADs, SMs and any other 
officer with the written 
approval of the 
CX/EDs/ADs/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations 
lasting more than 6 
months must be reported 
to the SLO) 

Contracts - pre tender 
market testing and 
consultation 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
14 10.1) Authority to consult 
potential suppliers prior to 
issue of the Invitation to 
Tender or Request for 
Quotation subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget which 
includes the approved 5 
year capital programme 

CX, COs, DCOs, EDs, 
ADs, SMs and any other 
officer with the written 
approval of the 
CX/EDs/ADs/CO/DCO/SM 
(any sub-delegations 
lasting more than 6 
months must be reported 
to the SLO) 

Contracts – all values 
– seeking, receiving 
and evaluating 
quotations/tenders for 
contracts for works, 
goods materials and 
services, and hiring of 
consultants 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 
12.1.7(a), 12.2 8.1 (where a 
competition is required), 
139.1.3 and 139.1.4, 
1511.0, 1612.0, 1814.0, 
14.3, 2016.1, 21.2). 
Authority to request and 
receive tenders and 
quotations, and to evaluate 

117



tenders and quotations 
subject to compliance with 
the Contract Procedure 
Rules (as amended by any 
authorised variation or 
waiver) and subject to the 
scheme falling within the 
approved budget which 
includes the approved 5 
year capital programme. 
(The awarding and the 
signing of contracts are 
dealt with separately 
below.) 

CX, COs, DCOs, EDs, 
ADs and SMs following 
consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 
(consultation is not 
required for (i) routine 
contracts (eg routine 
ongoing or annual 
maintenance contracts, 
routine purchasing of 
goods and equipment; 
routine servicing of 
vehicles etc); (ii) contracts 
for 1-off schemes where 
the scheme has been 
formally approved and 
where sufficient money 
has been allocated within 
the budget for the 
contract; and (iii) indirect 
services such as legal 
services or consultants for 
schemes which have been 
formally approved and 
where sufficient money 
has been allocated within 
the budget for the contract 
as such contracts are not 
closely connected to the 
discharge of the function.) 

Contracts - awarding 
of contracts and 
extensions to 
contracts 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 
12.2 5.1A, 20.2 16.2) 
Authority to award contracts 
subject to compliance with 
the Contract Procedure 
Rules (as amended by any 
authorised variation) and 
subject to the scheme 
falling within the approved 
budget which includes the 
approved 5 year capital 
programme. (Decision 
notices must be published 
for each award of contract 
unless administrative or 
minor or not closely 
connected with discharge of 
function.) (The signing of 
contracts is dealt with 
separately below.) 

The CPM plus the CX, 
COs, DCOs, EDs, ADs 
and SMs 

Contracts – signing of 
contracts which are 
not under seal 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
2217.2) Authority to sign 
contracts which are not 
under seal and which come 
within the jurisdiction of the 
officer concerned. 
(Contracts under seal must 
be signed only by officers 
who have specific authority 
to do so.) 

118



CX, COs, DCOs, SMs and 
any other officer with the 
written approval of the 
CX/CO/DCO/SM (any sub-
delegations lasting more 
than 6 months must be 
reported to the SLO) 

Contracts - refusal of 
hard copy tenders 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
18.3) Authority to refuse to 
accept hard copy tenders 
which do not comply with 
the Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

Officers of the Contracts 
team 

Contracts - 
Authorised Officer of 
relevant team 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 
14.2 18.2.2 and 18.3) 
Officers appointed as 
"Authorised Officer of 
relevant team" 

CX, COs, DCOs, EDs, 
ADs, SMs and any other 
officer with the written 
approval of the 
CX/EDs/ADs/CO/DCO/SM  
(any sub-delegations 
lasting more than 6 
months must be reported 
to the SLO) 

Clarification of an 
invitation to tender 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
1915.1) Authority to provide 
clarification of an Invitation 
to tender 

CX, COs, DCOs, EDs, 
ADs, SMs and CPM 

Post tender 
negotiations 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rules 
1915.2 to 1915.6) (at least 2 
officers are required – see 
rule 1915.6) Authority to 
undertake post tender 
negotiations 

CX, COs, DCOs, EDs, 
ADs and SMs  
In consultation with the 
relevant portfolio holder 
(consultation is not 
required for termination of 
low value or minor 
contracts) 

Authority to terminate 
contracts 

Cabinet (Contract Procedure Rule 
33  27) Authority to 
terminate contracts subject 
to consultation with the MO 
and S151 Officer 

 
  

119



 
APPENDIX B – Proposed amended Contract Procedure Rules 

 
CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

BASIC PRINCIPLES 
1.1 All procurement procedures must: 

1.1.1 realise value for money by achieving the optimum combination of whole life costs, 
and quality of outcome awarding contracts that have the most economically 
advantageous contribution to delivering the Council’s objectives, 

1.1.2 be consistent with  the highest standards of integrity, 
1.1.3 operate in a transparent manner, 
1.1.4 ensure fairness in allocating public contracts including managing conflicts of 

interest, 
1.1.5 comply with all legal requirements including European Union (EU) treaty principles 

but not limited to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 or successor legislation, 

1.1.6 ensure that non-commercial considerations do not influence any contracting 
decision, 

1.1.7 support all relevant Council priorities and policies, including the Medium Term 
Financial Plan, and 

1.1.8 comply with the Procurement Guidance for Officers. 
NB: These Rules shall be applied to the contracting activities of any partnership for which the Council 
is the accountable body unless the Council expressly agrees otherwise (see the Log of Delegations 
to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 
 

1.2 “written” or “in writing” means any expression consisting of words or figures 
which can be read, reproduced and subsequently communicated, including 
information transmitted and stored by electronic means. 

 
 
2. OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1 Officers 
2.1.1 Officers will comply with: 

(a) these Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs), 
(b) the Council’s Constitution,  
(c) the Log of Delegations to Officer; and 
(d) all UK and EU legal requirements (including ensuring that any Contractors are 

mandatorily excluded from participation in a procurement procedure where 
Regulation 57 of the Public Contracts regulations 2015 applies). 

Officers must ensure that any agents, consultants and contractual partners acting on their 
behalf also comply. 

2.1.2 Officers will: 
(a) keep the any necessary records required by Rule 5 of these Contract 

Procedure Rules, 
(b) take all necessary procurement, legal, financial and professional advice, taking 

into account the requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules, 
(c) prior to letting a contract on behalf of the Council, check whether: 

(i) the Contracts Register lists an appropriate contract in place for 
the Council already has an appropriate contract in place in the 
Contracts Register, or: 

(ii) an appropriate national, regional or other collaborative contract is 
already in place. 

Where the Council already has an appropriate contract in place, then 
this must be used unless it can be established that the contract does 
not fully meet the Council’s specific requirements in this particular 

120



case, and this is agreed following consultation with the Contracts and 
Procurement Team. 
Where an appropriate national, regional or collaborative contract is 
available, consideration should be given to using this, provided the 
contract offers value for money. 

(d) ensure that when any employee, either of the Council or of a service provider, 
may be affected by any transfer arrangement, then any Transfer of Undertaking 
(Protection of Employment) issues are considered and legal and HR advice 
from within the Council is obtained prior to proceeding with the procurement 
exercise. 

2.1.3 Failure to comply with any of the provisions of these Contract Procedure Rules, 
the Council’s Constitution or UK or EU any legal requirements may be brought to 
the attention of the Monitoring Officer, Head of Internal Audit, or relevant Officer 
as appropriate. Depending on the nature of the non-compliance this may result in 
disciplinary action being taken. 

2.1.4 A contract may, where considered expedient by a Chief Officer/Deputy Chief 
Officer, be let through any framework agreement to which the Council has access. 
Where the contract to be let is subject to the EU Procurement Rules Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Concession Contracts 2016, use of such 
framework agreement shall be subject to compliance with EU Procurement Rules 
those regulations  (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers 
who may action this rule). 

2.2 Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officers 
2.2.1 Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officers will: 

(a) ensure their Service Grouping complies fully and are familiar with the 
requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules; 

(b) ensure contracts with a value over £5,000 are recorded in on the Contracts 
Register as held and maintained by Contracts and Procurement Team; 

(c) ensure compliance with English Law, and U.K. and EU legislation and Council 
policy (including ensuring that any Contractors are mandatorily excluded from 
participation in a procurement procedure where Regulation 57 of the Public 
Contracts regulations 2015 applies). 

(d) ensure value for money and optimise risk allocation in all procurement matters; 
(e) ensure compliance with any guidelines issued in respect of these Contract 

Procedure Rules 
(f) take immediate action in the event of a breach of the Contract Procedure Rules 

or any Code of Practice within their directorate or service area; 
(g) ensure that all existing and new contracts anticipated during the forthcoming 

financial year are clearly itemized in the Budget supporting documentation; 
(h) make appropriate arrangements for the opening of tenders and their secure 

retention using secure electronic means; 
(i) submit to the Contracts Team tender forms  as required by these Contract 

Procedure Rules; 
(j) ensure original contract documents with a total value over £5,000 are 

forwarded to Shared Executive Manager (Governance) the Senior Legal 
Officer for safekeeping; 

(k) ensure effective contract management, contract reviews and monitoring during 
the lifetime of all contracts in their areas; 

(l) seek and act upon advice from the Contracts and Procurement Team and 
Performance team where necessary to ensure compliance with these 
responsibilities; and 

(m) keep records of waivers/variations and exemptions of any provision of these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

2.2.2 Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officers must keep a register of 
(a) contracts entered into by or on behalf of the Council, and 

121



(b) exemptions recorded under Rule 3 and satisfy themselves that the use of 
exemptions has been monitored by the Contracts and Procurement Team. 

3. VARIATIONS AND EXEMPTIONS 
3.1 Except where the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts 

Regulations 2016 apply, the Cabinet has the power to waive any requirements within 
these Contract Procedure Rules for specific projects. An exemption under this Rule 3 
allows a contract to be placed by direct negotiation with one or more suppliers rather than 
in accordance with Rule 9. 

3.2 Additionally, these Contract Procedure Rules may be waived or varied where the 
circumstances are certified by the Contracts and Procurement Team as meeting any of 
the following criteria: 

3.2.1 for works, supplies or services which are either patented or of such special 
character that it is not possible to obtain competitive prices; 

3.2.2 for supplies purchased or sold in a public market or auction; 
3.2.3 for the execution of works or services or the purchase of supplies involving 

specialist or unique knowledge or skills; 
3.2.4 with an organisation which has won a contract for an earlier phase of work via a 

competitive process and where the work forms part of a serial programme and has 
previously been identified as such; 

3.2.5 with an organisation already engaged by the Council for a similar and related 
procurement and where there is significant benefit to extending the contract to 
cover this additional requirement that does not breach legal requirements such 
as the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts 
Regulations 2016, without exposing the Council to unacceptable risk; 

3.2.6 for works, supplies or services which are only available from one organisation; 
3.2.7 involving such urgency that it is not possible to comply with the Contract Procedure 

Rules and there is a significant risk to the council of not acting with urgency; 
3.2.8 for the purchase of a work of art or museum specimen, or to meet the specific 

requirements of an arts or cultural event which cannot be procured competitively 
due to the nature of the requirement; 

3.2.9 in relation to time-limited grant funding from an external body, where the time 
limitations will not allow a competitive procurement process to be completed and 
where the grant conditions allow this; 

3.2.10 where relevant UK or EU legislation not otherwise referred to in these Contract 
Procedure Rules prevents the usual procurement process from being followed;  

3.2.11 goods, works or services contracts may be awarded directly to a legal 
person where that legal person meets the criteria as set out in Regulation 12 
of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or Regulation 17 of the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 (formerly known as "Teckal" companies)goods 
works or services contracts may be awarded directly to companies which can be 
legally defined as a “Teckal” company.  The control the local authority exercises 
over the company must be similar to that which it exercises over its own 
departments; at least 80% of the function of the company’s activities must be with 
the controlling local authority or authorities. 

3.3 In addition to approval by the Contracts and ProcurementTeam: 
3.3.1 the Monitoring Officer must be consulted where purchases are to be made using 

standing arrangements with another local authority, government department, 
health authority, primary care trust, or statutory undertaker or public service 
purchasing consortium. 

3.3.2 The Monitoring Officer must be consulted where the contract is an extension to an 
existing contract and a change of supplier would cause: 

(a) Disproportionate technical difficulties 
(b) Diseconomies 
(c) Significant disruption to the delivery of Council services. 

122



3.4 Every variation/exemption form will be recorded on a master register to be maintained by 
the Contracts and Procurement Team. 

3.5 Where a variation/exemption is being applied for by the Contracts and Procurement 
Team, it must also be scrutinised by the Monitoring or S151 Officer, to ensure the 
robustness of the procedure. 

3.6 The use of e-procurement does not negate the requirement to comply with all elements 
of these Contract Procedure Rules. The circumstances under which an exemption to the 
use of e-procurement can be requested are detailed in Rule 11. 

3.7 Where a variation/exemption is necessary because of an unforeseeable emergency 
involving immediate risk to persons, property or serious disruption to Council services, 
Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer may approve the exemption but must prepare a report 
for the next meeting of the Cabinet to support the action taken. 

3.8 Any exemption granted for more than one year must be reviewed annually and either 
reconfirmed or amended. 

3.9 Where grant conditions require expenditure to be incurred within a financial year, and 
notification of grant is received so late as to prevent compliance with CPR Rule 9, an 
exemption may be approved by the Contracts and Procurement Team on receipt of a 
report from the Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer 

3.10 The Contracts and Procurement Team must monitor the use of all exemptions. 
4. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

4.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules.  A Relevant 
Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council for the carrying out of 
works, supplies, goods, materials or services. These include arrangements for: 

4.1.1 the supply or disposal of goods or materials, 
4.1.2 the hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment, 
4.1.3 execution of works, 
4.1.4 the delivery of services, including (but not limited to) those related to: 

(a) the recruitment of staff 
(b) land and property transactions 
(c) financial and consultancy services 
(d) the supply of staff by employment agents, consultants or any other companies 

4.2 Relevant Contracts do not include: 
4.2.1 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the 

authority, 
4.2.2 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (to which the 

Financial Procedure Rules apply), or: 
4.2.3 the payment of grants to third parties. 

NB: While grants are not covered by these Contract Procedure Rules, there are rules 
on the awarding of grants which do need to be observed.  The Council cannot simply 
choose to treat procurement as a grant in order to avoid conducting a competitive 
process. 
 

5. RECORDS 
5.1 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession Contracts Regulations 

2016 require contracting authorities to maintain the following comprehensive records of 
procurement activities: 

5.1.1 contract details including value 
5.1.2 selection decision 
5.1.3 justification for use of the selected procedure 
5.1.4 names of bidding organisations, both successful and unsuccessful 
5.1.5 reasons for selection 
5.1.6 reasons for abandoning a procedure 

95.1A Most contracts and extensions to contracts will be awarded by Officers making a 
decision under delegated authority (see the Log of Delegations to Officers).  All such 
Officer decisions must be published unless the decision is administrative, minor or not 

123



closely connected to the discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be 
subject to Call-in.  Where Call-in applies, the winning contractor must not be advised of 
the outcome of the process that the award of contract is subject to Call-in and will 
not be confirmed until the Call-in period has expired. 

The outcome of any competitive procurement process must be recorded in a Report and 
submitted to the Contracts Team.  The Contracts Team will maintain a register of all such 
Reports. Information from these Reports will also be used for the tracking of procurement 
savings, sustainability benefits, and other data. 
5.2 The Contracts and Procurement Team should be made aware of any procurement 

requirements at the earliest opportunity to assist with this process. Where 
advertising is required by these rules, competitive procurement processes must 
be advertised on the Council's e-Tendering portal.  Where the total value is greater 
than £25,000.00 but less than £75,000.00 for works, and £75,000.00 for supplies of 
goods materials or services, the following documents records must be kept: 

5.2.1 invitations to quote/tender; 
5.2.2 all communication with suppliers; 
5.2.3 all tenders/quotes returned; 
5.2.4 a completed evaluation sheet with scores and comments justifying the score 

awarded; 
5.2.5 feedback letters to the unsuccessful bidders; 
5.2.6 all communications with the successful contractor; 
5.2.7 the contract; 
5.2.8 a written record of: 

(a) any exemptions and reasons for it; and 
(b) the reasons if the lowest price is not accepted 

5.2.9 written records of communications with the successful contractor. 
5.3 For contracts up to £25,000 records should be kept following the principles as 

above but the actual record kept should be proportionate to the value of the 
contract.   

5.4 Where the total value exceeds £75,000.00 for works, and £75,000.00 for supplies of 
goods, materials or services, the Officer must record the same details as in Rule 5.2 
above and any further records as advised by the Contracts and Procurement Team. 

5.4.1 pre-tender market research; 
5.4.2 the method of obtaining bids 
5.4.3 any contracting decision and the reason for it 
5.4.4 any exemption under Rule 3 together with the reasons for it 
5.4.5 the award criteria 
5.4.6 tender documents sent to and received from candidates 
5.4.7 the contract documents 
5.4.8 clarification and post-tender negotiation (to include minutes of meetings) 
5.4.9 written records of communications with candidates and with the successful 

contractor throughout the period of the contract 
5.5 Written records required by this Rule 5 must be kept for six years (twelve years if the 

contract is under seal) after the final settlement of the contract.  All documents which 
relate to unsuccessful candidates (tender responses, feedback letters etc.) must 
be kept for 12 months from award of contract provided there is no dispute about 
the award or where there is a dispute, once the dispute is resolved, 12 months from 
resolution of the dispute. However, documents which relate to unsuccessful candidates 
may be microfilmed or electronically scanned or stored by some suitable method after 
twelve months from award of contract, provided there is no dispute about the award. 

5.6 Subject to complying with Rule 9.1A, Prospective candidates must be notified 
simultaneously in writing and as soon as possible of any contracting decision.  If a 
candidate requests in writing the reasons for a contracting decision, the officer must give 
the reasons in writing within 15 days of the request. 

124



5.7 The Freedom of Information Act 2000 gives a general right of public access to all types 
of ‘recorded’ information held by public authorities, sets out exemptions from that general 
right, and places a number of obligations on public authorities with regard to the 
disclosures of information.  The Council will, as a general rule, allow public access to 
recorded information where possible and the contractor shall agree to the Council making 
any disclosures in accordance with the Act. 

6. RISK ASSESSMENT 
6.1 Officers must consider any risks in the procurement process including the skills 

and capacity within the Council to manage the procurement process.  Where any 
risk assessment identifies a need for further specialist advice that specialist advice 
must be procured in accordance with these rules.   

6.2 All procurements via Invitation to Tender, and Requests for Quotation where appropriate, 
must be supported by a risk assessment.  This risk assessment must be carried out at 
the start of the procurement process. 

6.3 The risk assessment process will identify where further specialist advice should be 
sought. 

6.4 Full details of the process to be followed, including the approved risk log and matrix, are 
available in the Procurement Guidance for Officers. 

7. ADVERTISING 
The Procurement Officer Contracts and Procurement Team will ensure that the minimum 
advertising requirements in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 , in line with EU treaty principles and as outlined in the 
Procurement Guidance for Officers, Rule 9 are met. 

8. APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
8.1 Approved Lists 

8.1.1 Approved lists must not be used where they are prohibited under the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2006. 

8.1.2 This Rule shall have effect where the Council has determined that a Standing List 
or Lists shall be kept of persons suitable for undertaking contracts for the execution 
of specified categories of work or for the supply of specified categories of goods, 
materials or services within such values or amounts as may be specified (see the 
Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule).  

8.1.3 Standing Lists should be used where recurrent transactions of a similar type are 
likely but where such transactions need to be priced individually and cannot easily 
be aggregated and priced in a single tendering exercise. Standing Lists cannot be 
used where the EU Procedure applies (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for 
details of Officers who may action this rule). 

8.1.4 Standing Lists shall: 
(a) be compiled following the procedure stipulated in this Rule 8 
(b) contain the names and addresses of all persons whose requests to be included 

have been approved by the Deputy Chief Officer in consultation with the 
Contracts Team. 

(c) no persons may be entered on a Standing List until there has been an adequate 
investigation into both their financial and technical ability to perform the contract, 
unless such matters will be investigated each time tenders are invited from that 
list. 

(d) no persons shall be precluded from inclusion on a Standing List other than for 
good reasons. 

(e) indicate whether a person whose name is included is approved for contracts of 
all or only some of the specified categories, values or amounts. 

(f) be kept by the relevant Deputy Chief Officer who will co-ordinate all enquires in 
respect of the list. 

(g) Standing Lists must be drawn up after an advertisement inviting applications for 
inclusion on the list.  The advertisement must be placed to secure widest 
publicity amongst relevant suppliers and not less than four weeks before the list 

125



is first compiled.  Persons may be entered on a list between the initial 
advertisement and re-advertisement provided the requirements of Rule 8.1.4 
are met. 

8.1.5 Standing Lists and shortlisting criteria must be reviewed at least annually and re-
advertised at least every three years.  Review means: 

(a) the reassessment of the financial, technical ability and performance of 
those persons on the list unless such matters will be investigated each time 
Candidates are invited from that list, and 

(b) the deletion of those persons no longer qualified, with a written record kept 
justifying the deletion. 

8.1.6 On re-advertisement, a copy of the advertisement must be sent to each person on 
the list, inviting them to apply at least four weeks before each review. 

8.1.7 All Standing Lists must be open to public inspection. 
(a) Where invitation to tender for a contract is limited to persons whose names 

appear on a Standing List maintained under this Rule 8, an invitation to tender 
for that contract shall be sent to at least four of those persons.  Each person 
invited to tender must be approved for a contract for the category, value or 
amount selected. If there are insufficient suitably qualified persons to meet the 
competition requirement, all suitably qualified persons must be invited (see the 
Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 

8.2 Framework Agreements (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers 
who may action this rule): 

8.2.1 Framework Agreement has the same meaning as in the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 - "Framework Agreement means an agreement between 
one or more contracting authorities and one or more economic operators, 
the purpose of which is to establish the terms governing contracts to be 
awarded during a given period, in particular with regard to price and, where 
appropriate, the quantity envisaged.Framework Agreements are agreements 
between the Council and one or more suppliers for the provision of goods, works 
or services on agreed terms for a specific period, for estimated quantities against 
which orders may be placed if and when required during the contract period. 

8.2.2 The term of a Framework Agreement must not exceed four years and, while an 
agreement may be entered into with one provider, where an agreement is 
concluded with several organisations, there must be at least three in number. 

8.2.3 Where Frameworks are awarded to several organisations, Contracts based on 
Framework Agreements may be awarded in one of two ways, as follows: 

(a) where the terms of the agreement are sufficiently precise to cover the particular 
call-off, by applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement without 
re-opening competition, or 

(b) where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not precise or 
complete enough for the particular call-off, by holding a further competition in 
accordance with the following procedure: 

(i) inviting the organisations within the Framework Agreement, that are 
capable of executing the subject of the contract, to submit bids, with 
an appropriate time limit for responses, taking into account factors 
such as the complexity of the subject of the contract, 

(ii) awarding each contract to the bidding organisation who has 
submitted the best bid most economically advantageous tender 
on the basis of the relevant Award Criteria set out in the Framework 
Agreement. 

Where a Framework Agreement is used and the arrangements under that Agreement 
include mini competition, the Log of Delegations to Officers details which 
Officers may seek, receive and evaluate quotations/tenders. 

12.2.5    Most contracts will then be awarded by Officers making a decision under 
delegated authority.  All such Officer decisions must be published unless the 

126



decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected to the discharge of an 
executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-in.  Where Call-in 
applies the winning contractor must not be advised of that the outcome of the 
process award of contract will not be confirmed until the Call-in period has 
expired.    

9. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS / ASSETS FOR DISPOSAL 
9.1 Competition Requirements 

9.1.1 The Procurement Officer Chief Officers/Deputy Chief Officers must establish 
the total value of the procurement including whole life costs and incorporating any 
potential extension periods which may be awarded.  Where EU Procurement the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Concession Contracts Regulations 
2016 rules apply, Chief Officers/Deputy Chief Officers must also ascertain the 
value of a contract in accordance with those rules. 

9.1.2 Contracts must not be artificially under or over-estimated or divided into two or 
more separate contracts where the effect is to avoid the application of Contract 
Procedure Rules, the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, or the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 /EU Regulations and UK legislation. 

9.1.3 Where the estimated total value for a purchase or concession is within the values 
in the first, and second and third columns of the table below, the tendering 
procedure in the fourth  third column must be followed (see the Log of Delegations 
to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 

Works and Concessions  Supply of 
Goods, 
Materials and 
Services 

Consultants Tendering 
Procedure 

up to £4,999 Below 
£5000 

up to 
£4,999 
Below 
£5000 

up to £4,999 One quote - 
this should 
be a local 
provider 
unless not 
appropriate 
wherever 
possible. A 
purchase 
order should 
must be 
raised 

£5,000 to £24,999 £5,000 to 
£24,999 

£5,000 to 
£24,999 

At least 
three quotes 
shall be 
sought. 
Local 
providers 
must have 
been given 
an 
opportunity to 
provide a 
quote. Local 
providers 
must be 
given an 
opportunity 
to provide a 
quote, 

127



wherever 
possible. A 
purchase 
order should 
must be 
raised 

£25,000 to £74,999 £25,0000 to 
£74,999 

£25,000 to 
£74,999 

At least five 
written 
quotations 
shall be 
sought. 
Local 
providers 
must have 
been given 
an 
opportunity to 
provide a 
quote. Local 
providers 
must be 
given an 
opportunity 
to provide a 
quote, 
wherever 
possible. A 
purchase 
order should 
must be 
raised  

£75,000 up to £ 
4,733,252 (Public 
Contracts 
Regulations 
2015/Concessions 
Contracts 
Regulations 2016 
threshold*) EU 
Procurement 
Threshold 

£75,000 up to 
£189,330 
(Public 
Contracts 
Regulations 
2015 
threshold*)EU 
Procurement 
Threshold 

£75,000 up 
to EU 
Procurement 
Threshold 

Open tender   
via E-
Tendering 
Portal 
including 
Contracts 
Finder. A 
social value 
clause must 
be built into 
the 
specification 
and 
contract. A 
purchase 
order should 
must be 
raised 

Above £4,104,394 (EU 
threshold*) £ 4,733,252 
(Public Contracts 
Regulations 
2015/Concessions 

Above £164,176     
(EU threshold) 
Above £189,330 
(Public 
Contracts 

Above £164,176 (EU 
threshold) 

EU UK 
Public 
Procurement 
Procedure – 
via E-

128



Contracts Regulations 2016 
threshold*) 

Regulations 
2015 threshold*) 

Tendering 
Portal & 
OJEU Find a 
Tender 
notice. Local 
social value 
clause must 
be built into 
the 
specification 
of the 
contract. A 
purchase 
order should 
must be 
raised 

* Latest published EU Cabinet Office Procurement thresholds February 2015 January 
2021.  These amounts will need to be updated as and when EU Cabinet Office 
thresholds change. 

9.1.4 Where it can be demonstrated that there are insufficient suitably qualified 
candidates to meet the competition requirements, all suitably qualified candidates 
must be invited (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who 
may action this rule). 

9.1.5 An officer must not enter into separate contracts nor select a method of calculating 
the total value in order to minimize the application of the Contract Procedure Rules. 

9.1.6 Where services are currently purchased internally, i.e. from within the Council, for 
internal provision, the requirement to obtain other quotations or tenders does not 
apply. However, the purchaser may choose to seek alternative quotations/tenders 
for the purpose of market testing. 

9.1.7 Where the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Concession Contracts 2016 
apply, the procuring Officer shall consult the Contracts and Procurement Team 
to determine the procedure for conducting the procurement exercise. 

9.1.8 External consultants and other professional advisers shall only be appointed if the 
process of tendering as prescribed for contracts in Parts B or C above has been 
followed except: 

(a) where the nature of the work is deemed by a Chief Officer/Deputy Chief 
Officer/Assistant Director to be so specialised as to preclude quotations or 
tenders being received from more than one source; or 

(b) where the advice or work of a consultant is in the opinion of the Chief 
Officer/Deputy Chief Officer/Assistant Director required as a matter of urgency; 
or 

(c) the appointment is made from a list approved by the relevant Cabinet Member 
and the fee involved does not exceed £10,000 

9.1.9 After the exercise of this power a report shall be made to the relevant Cabinet 
Member and if they so require a further report shall be made to the Cabinet 

9.2 Assets for Disposal (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who 
may action this rule): 

9.2.1 Assets for disposal must be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules. 

9.2.2 Assets for disposal must be sent to Public Sale except where better value for 
money is likely to be obtained by inviting quotations and tenders. In the latter event, 
the method for disposal of surplus or obsolete stocks/stores or assets other than 
land must be determined as follows: 

Total Value Procedure 

129



Where the cost of disposal is 
likely to outweigh the value of the 
asset for disposal 

By (in order of preference) 
1. gifting to a local 

organisation if they can 
make use of the asset;  

2. disposal for recycling; or  
3. disposal by the most 

environmentally friendly 
option possible.   

Up to £5,000 Two written quotations or public 
sale 

£5,000.01 and above At least three written quotations 
or public sale, or an invitation to 
tender 

 
10. PRE-TENDER MARKET TESTING AND CONSULTATION 

10.1 The Council may consult potential suppliers, prior to the issue of the Invitation to Tender 
or Request for Quotation, in general terms about the nature, level and standard of the 
supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters, provided this does not prejudice 
any potential organisation (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers 
who may action this rule). 

10.2 When engaging with potential suppliers, the Council may use any advice in the 
planning and conduct of the procurement procedure, provided that it does not have 
the effect of distorting competition and does not result in a violation of the 
principles of non-discrimination and transparency.  must not seek or accept technical 
advice on the preparation of an Invitation to Tender or Quotation from anyone who may 
have a commercial interest in them, and where this may prejudice the equal treatment of 
all potential bidding organisations or distort competition. 

10.3 The council shall take appropriate measures to ensure that competition is not 
distorted by the participation of a candidate or tenderer who has provided any 
advice by ensuring all other candidates and tenderers are provided with all of the 
information the advising candidate or tenderer has received or given and that all 
candidates or tenderers are given sufficient time to respond to the tender or quote. 

10.4 In undertaking any market testing activities, the Officer responsible should refer to any 
guidance contained in the Procurement Guidance for Officers must seek advice from 
the Contracts and Procurement Team . 

11. EVALUATION CRITERIA AND STANDARDS (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details 
of Officers who may action this rule): 
11.1 Evaluation Criteria 

11.1.1 In any procurement exercise the successful bid should be the one which: 
(a) offers the lowest price where payment is to be made by the Council, or offers 

the highest price if payment is to be received, or: 
(b) offers the most economically advantageous balance between quality and price. 

In the latter case, the Council will use criteria such as qualitative, 
environmental and/or social aspects, linked to the subject matter of the 
contract to determine that an offer is the most economically advantageous. 
Such criteria  may include: for example: price, service, quality, technical 
merit, aesthetic and functional characteristics, environmental characteristics, 
running costs, cost effectiveness, safety, after-sales service, technical 
assistance, delivery date, delivery period and period of completion. 

(i) quality, including technical merit, aesthetic and functional 
characteristics, accessibility, design for all users, social, 
environmental and innovative characteristics and trading and 
its conditions; 

(ii) organisation, qualification and experience of staff assigned to 
performing the contract, where the quality of the staff assigned 

130



can have a significant impact on the level of performance of 
the contract; or 

(iii) after-sales service and technical assistance, delivery 
conditions such as delivery date, delivery process and delivery 
period or period of completion. 

 
 

11.1.2 Issues that are important to the Council in terms of meeting its corporate objectives 
can be used to evaluate bids.  The criteria can include, for example sustainability 
considerations, support for the local economy, or the use of subcontractors.  The 
bidding organisations’ approaches to continuous improvement and setting targets 
for service improvement or future savings could also be included.  All criteria must 
relate to the subject matter of the contract, be in line with the Council’s corporate 
objectives and must be objectively quantifiable and non-discriminatory. 

11.1.3 The procurement documentation should clearly explain the basis of the decision to 
bidding organisations, making clear how the evaluation criteria specified in the 
process will be applied, the overall weightings to be attached to each of the high-
level criteria, how the high-level criteria are divided into any sub-criteria and the 
weightings attached to each of those sub-criteria. 

11.1.4 The evaluation criteria must not include: 
(a) Non-commercial considerations 
(b) Matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic Area 

or who are signatories to the Government Procurement Agreement. 
(c) Matters which are anti-competitive within the meaning of the Local Government 

Act 1988. 
11.2 Standards 

11.2.1 Relevant British, EU and International standards which apply to the subject matter 
of the contract and which are necessary to properly describe the required quality 
must be included with the contract.  The Monitoring Officer must be consulted if 
the officer proposes to use standards other than European standards. 

11.2.2 Officers should refer to any further guidance outlined in the Procurement Guidance 
for Officers.  Officers should refer to the Procurement and Contracts team if 
they have any queries or require further guidance. 

12. INVITATION TO TENDER / REQUEST FOR QUOTATION (see the Log of Delegations to 
Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule) 
12.1 Invitations to Tender/Requests for Quotation must be issued in accordance with the 

requirements of these Contract Procedure Rules, with particular attention to Rule 7, Rule 
9 and Rule 17. 

12.2 The Invitation to Tender shall state that no tender will be considered unless it is received 
by the date and time stipulated in the Invitation to Tender. No tender delivered in 
contravention of this Rule 12 shall be considered. 

12.3 All Invitations to Tender shall include the following: 
12.3.1 A specification that describes the Council’s requirements in sufficient detail to 

enable the submission of competitive offers, together with the terms and conditions 
of contract that will apply. 

12.3.2 A requirement for candidates to declare that the tender content, price or any other 
figure or particulars concerning the tender submitted by the candidate has  have 
not been disclosed by the candidate to any other party (except where such 
disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary purpose). 

12.3.3 A requirement for candidates to complete fully and sign all tender documents 
including a form of tender and certificates relating to canvassing and non-collusion. 

12.3.4 Notification that tenders are submitted to the Council on the basis that they are 
compiled at the candidate’s expense. 

131



12.3.5 A description of the award procedure and, unless defined in a prior advertisement, 
a definition of the award criteria in objective terms and the percentage weighting 
of each criteria in the evaluation if possible in descending order of importance. 

12.3.6 The method by which arithmetical errors discovered in the submitted tenders are 
to be dealt with. In particular, whether the overall price prevails over the rates in 
the tender or vice versa. 

12.4 The Invitation to Tender or Requests for Quotation must state that the Council is not 
bound to accept any tender or quotation. 

12.5 All candidates invited to tender or quote must be issued with the same information at the 
same time and subject to the same conditions. Any supplementary information must be 
given on the same basis. Where a candidate asks a clarification question regarding 
the tender or quote, the question and the answer will be provided to all candidates. 

13. SHORTLISTING 
Any shortlisting (i.e. supplier selection or pre-qualification) must have regard to the economic 
and financial standing and the technical and professional ability of the candidates to 
deliver the required goods, services or works.  must have regard to the economic, financial 
and technical standards relevant to the contract and the Evaluation Criteria. Special rules apply 
to contracts covered by the Public Contracts Regulations 2006. 

14. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS / QUOTATIONS (see the Log of 
Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule): 
14.1 Tenders 

14.1.1 Bidding organisations must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and 
submit a proper quotation or tender, consistent with the complexity of the contract 
requirements. Where the Public Contract Regulations 2015 apply, Part 3 of the 
Regulations lays down specific minimum time periods for tenders. 

14.1.2 Tender Contents: 
Each tender must contain: 

(a) An undertaking signed by the tenderer that to the best of their knowledge and 
belief they have complied with all the relevant provisions of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974 and regulations made under it or where they have 
not complied, an explanation of the remedial action they have taken to 
ensure compliance; 

(b) A statement that the tenderer will comply with all current relevant British 
Standard Specification or Code of Practice or equivalent European Union or 
international standards offering guarantees of safety, reliability and fitness for 
purpose; 

(c) A statement by the tenderer that they will not try to obtain or receive by whatever 
means any information which gives or is intended to give the tenderer or another 
party any unfair advantage over any other tenderer (including the Council’s own 
workforce) in relation to the tendering for and award of any works/services 
contract; 

(d) A statement that the Council shall not be liable for expenses incurred in the 
preparation of tenders; nor shall the Council be bound to accept the lowest or 
any tenders submitted; nor shall the Council have to give reasons for the 
rejection of any tender and shall have reserved to them the right to invite fresh 
tenders should they consider that course desirable. 

14.2 Electronic Arrangements 
14.2.1 Tenders, Quotations, Further Competition bids and Pre-Qualification Selection 

Questionnaires which are will be received electronically and will be opened by the 
Contracts and Procurement Team. The system will not allow any quotations to 
be opened until the allocated return date / time has passed. (see the Log of 
Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule) 

14.2.2 Tenders which are received electronically via the e-tendering system will be 
opened by a representative from the Authorised officer of relevant team (see the 
Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 

132



14.3 Hard Copy Arrangements (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers 
who may action this rule): 

14.3.1 In the limited circumstances where a Quotation, Further Competition  bid or 
Tender cannot be received electronically, the Contracts and Procurement 
Team will consult with the Monitoring Officer to agree a suitable way to 
receive the  Quotation, Further Competition  bid or Tender. In the event that 
‘hard copy’ tenders are to be accepted these must be submitted, sealed, in the 
envelope provided with the procurement documents and addressed to the 
Monitoring Officer without any mark revealing the bidding organisation’s identity. 

14.3.2 All hard copy tenders will be held by the Monitoring Officer until the tender opening 
date/time has been reached.  The Monitoring Officer must not disclose the names 
of candidates to any staff involved in the receipt, custody or opening of tenders. 
Receipt of each tender must be: 

(a) Date stamped; 
(b) Initialled by the receiving officer or the Monitoring Officer; and 
(c) Logged immediately upon receipt in the tender register. 
(d) All hard copy tenders for the same contract will be opened at the same time by 

a representative of the Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer who invited the 
tenders and a representative from the Authorised officer of relevant team.  A 
register of tenders received will be kept by the Authorised officer of relevant 
team and will be initialled on each occasion by the officers who are present at 
the opening of the tenders. 

14.3.3 In the event that hard copy quotations are to be accepted these must be submitted 
in a plain envelope marked ‘Quotation for....’ followed by a description of the goods, 
works or services being procured. 

14.3.4 Hard copy quotations will be received directly by Service staff.  All quotations must 
be opened together once the official return date / time has been passed in the 
presence of at least two persons who shall comprise the Chief Officer/Deputy Chief 
Officer or their authorised representative (on Principal Officer grade or above) and 
in the presence of at least one other officer. 

15. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES AND POST TENDER NEGOTIATIONS 
15.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender to potential or actual candidates or 

Seeking clarification of a tender received whether in writing or by way of a meeting is 
permitted.  However, any such clarification must not involve changes to the basic features 
of the bidding organisation’s submission and all tenderers must be treated equally (see 
the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 

15.2 Post tender negotiation means negotiations with any tenderer after submission of a 
tender and before the award of the contract with a view to obtaining an adjustment in 
price, delivery or content.  It must not be conducted in an EU Procedure where this might 
distort competition particularly with regard to price. Where the value of the Tender is 
above the threshold in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 advice must be sought from the Contracts and 
Procurement Team.   Where post tender negotiation results in a fundamental change to 
the specification (or contract terms) the contract must not be awarded but re-tendered 
(see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 

15.3 If post tender negotiations are necessary after a single stage tender or after the second 
stage of a two stage tender, then such negotiations shall only be undertaken with the 
tenderer who has previously been identified as submitting the best tender.  Tendered 
rates and prices shall only be adjusted in respect of a corresponding adjustment in the 
scope or quantity included in the tender documents.  Officers appointed by the Chief 
Officer/Deputy Chief Officer to carry out post tender negotiations should ensure that there 
are recorded minutes of all negotiation meetings and that both parties agree actions in 
writing. 

15.4 Post tender negotiation must only be conducted in accordance with guidance given by 
the Monitoring Officer and the Contracts and Procurement Team. 

133



15.5 The Monitoring Officer and the Contracts and Procurement Team must be consulted: 
15.5.1 Wherever it is proposed to enter into post tender negotiation 
15.5.2 About whether negotiation is with all tenderers. 

15.6 Negotiations must be conducted by a team of at least two officers, one of whom must be 
from a section independent to that leading negotiations (see the Log of Delegations to 
Officers for details of Officers who may action this rule). 

16. EVALUATION, AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND DEBRIEFING OF ORGANISATIONS 
16.1 Evaluation (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action 

this rule): 
16.1.1 The evaluation of bids must be conducted in accordance with the evaluation 

criteria set out in the procurement documents provided to bidding organisations, 
and in line with any guidance detailed in the Procurement Guidance for Officers 
given by the Contracts and Procurement Team. 

16.1.2 The arithmetic in compliant tenders must be checked.  If arithmetical errors are 
found they should be notified to the tenderer, who should be requested to confirm 
or withdraw their tender.  Alternatively, if the rates in the tender, rather than the 
overall price, were stated within the Invitation to Tender as being dominant, an 
amended tender price may be requested to accord with the rates given by the 
tenderer. 

16.1.3 Deputy Chief Officers must ensure that submitted tender prices are compared with 
any pre-tender estimates and that any discrepancies are examined and resolved 
satisfactorily. 

16.2 Award of Contract and Contract Extensions (see the Log of Delegations to Officers 
for details of Officers who may action this rule): 

16.2.1 The Council is required to notify successful and unsuccessful bidders of the 
outcome of a procurement process, in writing, in as timely a fashion as possible. 

16.2.2 Where a contract was advertised with an extension option and that extension 
option forms part of the contract, the decision to extend the contract may be 
made after ensuring that taking up the extension option delivers value for 
money.   Where procurement has been subject to the Public Contract Regulations 
2015, the Alcatel Standstill (a 10 day standstill period before a contract can be 
awarded to allow an unsuccessful bidding organisation an opportunity to challenge 
the proposed contract award) will need to be included in the procurement timetable 
before the contract can be awarded. 

16.2.3 Decisions on award of contract and contract extensions must be made in 
accordance with the scheme of delegations in Part 3 of the Constitution. 

16.2.4 Most contracts will be awarded by Officers making a decision under delegated 
authority (see the Log of Delegations to officers).  All such Officer decisions must 
be published unless the decision is administrative, minor or not closely connected 
to the discharge of an executive function.  Some decisions will be subject to Call-
in.  Where Call-in applies the winning contractor must not be advised of the 
outcome of the process until the Call-in period has expired. 

16.3 Debriefing 
16.3.1 The debriefing of organisations will be sent by the Contracts and 

Procurement Team, in line with the relevant Officer's evaluation comments.  
The debriefing of organisations must be carried out in line with any guidance 
detailed in the Procurement Guidance for Officers. 

17. NOMINATED SUB CONTRACTS 
17.1 The following provision shall have effect where the Council proposes to enter into a 

contract for the execution of work with a person (‘the main contractor’) and also proposes 
to nominate the main contractor one or more sub-contractors or suppliers for the 
execution of work or the supply of goods, materials or services within the main contract. 

17.2 Tenders for the nomination shall be invited in accordance with the relevant provisions of 
Rule 9 (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who may action this 
rule): 

134



17.2.1 The terms of the invitation shall require an undertaking by the tenderer that if 
selected they will be willing to enter into a contract with the main contractor on 
terms which indemnify the main contractor against their own obligations under the 
main contract in relation to the work or goods, materials or services in the sub-
contract; 

17.2.2 The Chief Officer/Deputy Chief Officer concerned or their authorised 
representative shall nominate to the main contractor a person whose tender is in 
their opinion most suitable.  Provided that where the tender is other than the lowest 
received, the circumstances shall be reported appropriately. 

17.3 Tenders received under this Rule 17 must comply with Rules 12 and 14. 
18. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

18.1 Format of Contract Documents 
18.1.1 Every formal written contract for the supply of goods or materials shall provide that 

should the contractor fail to deliver the goods or materials or any portion thereof 
within the time or times specified in the contract.  The Council, without prejudice to 
any other remedy for breach of contract, shall determine the contract either wholly 
or to the extent of such default and to purchase other goods, or materials, as the 
case may be, of the same or similar description to make good: 

(a) such default; or 
(b) in the event of the contract being wholly determined the goods or materials 

remaining to be delivered. 
The clause shall further secure that the amount by which the cost of so 
purchasing other goods or materials exceeds the amount which would have 
been payable to the contractor in respect of the goods or materials, if they had 
been delivered in accordance with the contract, shall be recoverable from the 
contractor. 

18.1.2 Every Relevant Contract/must be in writing and must state clearly: 
(a) what is to be supplied (description and quality) 
(b) payment provisions (amount and timing and seeking electronic invoices) 
(c) when the Council will have the right to terminate the contract 
(d) that the contract is subject to the law as to prevention of corruption 

The Council's standard terms and conditions must be used where possible. 
18.1.3 In addition, every Relevant Contract for purchases over £25,001.00 £25,000.00 for 

works, £25,001.00 for supplies of goods, materials or services and £10,000.00 for 
consultants must also as a minimum state clearly: 

(a) that the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior written consent 
(b) any insurance and liability requirements 
(c) health and safety requirements 
(d) ombudsman requirements 
(e) data protection requirements if relevant 
(f) that charter standards are to be met if relevant 
(g) requirements under the Equalities Act 2010 
(h) obligations under the Care Act 2014 in safeguarding adults and children 
(i) a right of access to relevant documentation and records of the contractor for 

monitoring and audit purposes, including obligations under the FOI Act 200 and 
2015 Transparency Code 

(j) requirements under the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and Prevent 
Strategy where applicable 

(k) obligations under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 including employee 
whistleblowing. 

(l) Statement requirements under the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
18.1.4 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing before the supply, service or 

construction work begins, except in exceptional circumstances, and then only with 
the written consent of the Monitoring Officer.  An award letter is insufficient. 

18.1.5 All contracts must include the following paragraph: 

135



‘The Contractor recognises that the Council is under a duty to act in a 
manner which is compatible with the Convention rights as defined by 
Section 1(1) of the Human Rights Act 1998 ('Convention Rights').  This duty 
includes a positive obligation on the Council to ensure that contractors 
providing services on the Council's behalf act in a way which is compatible 
with the Convention Rights.  The Contractor therefore agrees to provide the 
Services and comply with its other obligations under this contract in a 
manner which is compatible with the Convention Rights.' 

18.1.6 The Officer responsible for securing the signature of the contractor must ensure) 
that the person signing for the contracting party has authority to bind it. 

18.2 Contract Signature (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers who 
may action this rule): 

18.2.1 A contract entered into by or on behalf of the Council must: 
(a) Where the contract is in the form of a deed (see below), be made under the 

Council’s seal and attested as required by the Constitution, or: 
(b) Where the contract is in the form of an agreement, either: 

(i) be signed by at least two officers of the Council authorised as 
required by the Constitution, or: 

(ii) be formalised by the sending of an award letter and the subsequent 
issuing of a purchase order. 

18.2.2 A contract must be in the form of a deed (see below) and sealed where; 
(a) The Council wishes to enforce the contract for more than six years after it ends; 

or 
(b) The price paid or received under the contract is a nominal price and does not 

reflect the value of the goods or services; or 
(c) Where there is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the 

contracting party; or 
(d) Where the total value is expected to exceed £75,000.00. 

A contract in the form of a deed must state in the signature pages that the Contractor and the Council 
are executing the contract as a deed. 

18.3 Legal Services Review of Tenders and Contracts 
18.3.1 To ensure the integrity of the procurement process: 

(a) All proposed Invitations to Tender, where they are not in compliance with the 
Council’s harmonised contract documentation or standard terms and conditions 
issued by a relevant professional body, will be reviewed by the Deputy Chief 
Officer. 

(a) Any proposed Invitations to Tender which are subject to the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006 2015 or the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016, or 
which are deemed to be of high risk, must be reviewed by the Deputy Chief 
Officer. 

(b) Any proposed contract where there is any deviation from the contract terms 
included in the invitation to tender must be reviewed by the Deputy Chief Officer 

19. DIRECT EMPLOYMENT OF LABOUR 
Every formal written contract for the execution of work shall incorporate the following conditions: 
19.1 The Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring that all persons employed by them, and 

by any Sub-Contractor in the work, are in the Contractor’s or Sub-Contractor’s direct 
employment and it is expressly agreed between the parties hereto that the Contractor 
and Sub-Contractor shall not use ‘lump labour’ on or about the work. 

19.2 The expression ‘lump labour’ shall mean the practice of individual workpeople or groups 
of workpeople contracting as independent labour only sub-contracts and not being in the 
direct employment of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor. 

19.3 The Contractor will use their best endeavours, utilising the appropriate Government 
employment agencies if necessary, to employ local persons in the execution of the work. 

136



20. LIQUIDATED DAMAGES, BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 
20.1 Every formal written contract which exceeds £75,000.00 in value or amount and is for the 

execution of works shall provide for liquidated damages to be paid by the contractor in 
case the terms of the contract are not duly performed. 

20.2 The Officer must consult the Deputy Chief Officer when a tenderer is a subsidiary of a 
parent company and the officer does not think that a parent company guarantor is 
necessary, and: 

20.2.1 The total value exceeds £75,000.00. 
20.2.2 Award is based on evaluation of the parent company, or 
20.2.3 There is some concern about the stability of the tenderer. 

20.3 The officer must consult the Deputy Chief Officer about whether a bond is needed: 
20.3.1 Where the total value exceeds £75,000.00. 
20.3.2 Where it is proposed to make stage payments or other payments in advance of 

receiving the whole of the subject matter of the contract. 
21. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 

21.1 Rules and regulations pertaining to the prevention of corruption are outlined in the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and must be adhered to. 

21.2 The following clauses must be put in every written Council contract: 
‘The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the Contractor, its 
employees or anyone acting on the Contractor’s behalf do any of the following things: 

21.2.1 Offer, give or agree to give anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this or 
any other Council contract (even if the Contractor does not know what has been 
done); or 

21.2.2 Commit an offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or Section 117(2) of the 1972 Act; 
or 

21.2.3 Commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council contract whether 
alone or in conjunction with Council members, contractors or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this cause.’ 
21.3 Any suspected irregularity shall be referred to the Audit Manager who shall notify the 

Monitoring Officer where necessary.  Any examination of contractors’ or tenderers’ books 
and records as a result of any such suspected irregularity shall be conducted by the Audit 
Manager.  If, in the investigation of any irregularity, the Monitoring Officer considers that 
disciplinary procedures may need to be invoked, the appropriate Chief Officer/Deputy 
Chief Officer shall also be notified. 

22. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
Rules and regulations pertaining to the Declaration of Interests are outlined in the Code of 
Conduct for Employees within the Constitution and must be adhered to. 

23. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT / MONITORING 
23.1 All contracts must have an appointed Contract Manager for the entirety of the contract.  

The responsible Deputy Chief Officer must ensure a Contract Manager is designated 
prior to award. 

23.2 Contract management, monitoring, evaluation and review must be conducted in line with 
any guidance detailed in the Procurement Guidance for Officers. 

24. POST CONTRACT MONITORING AND EVALUATION 
24.1 During the life of the contract the Contract Manager Officer must monitor in respect of: 

24.1.1 performance 
24.1.2 compliance with specification and contract 
24.1.3 cost 
24.1.4 any Best Value requirements 
24.1.5 user satisfaction and risk management 
24.1.6 social value or any other contractual obligations to deliver additional value 

arising from the contract 
24.2 Where the Total Value of the contract exceeds £75,000.00 the Officer must make a 

written report evaluating the extent to which the purchasing need and contract objectives 
were met by the contract.  This should be done normally when the contract is completed.  

137



Where the contract is to be re-let, a provisional report should also be available early 
enough to inform the approach to re-letting of the subsequent contract. 

24.3 For contracts awarded under £75,000, if, at any point during the delivery of the 
contract, the cost looks likely to exceed £75,000 the Contract Manager must notify 
the Contracts and Procurement Team.  The Contracts and Procurement Team and 
the Contract Manager will consider the following options: 
Where the amount by which the total contract value exceeds £75,000 is not 

significant,  allow the contract to run to its natural conclusion; 
Where the amount by which the total contract value exceeds £75,000 is significant 

and the contract allows termination, terminate the existing contract and 
retender.   

Where the amount by which the total contract value exceeds £75,000 is significant 
and the contract does not allow termination, or, continuing with the 
contract represents value for money, allow the contract to run to its natural 
conclusion     

25. INTERNAL PROVIDERS 
Where an in-house Service is bidding in competition for the provision of goods, works or 
services, care must be taken to ensure a fair process between the in-house provider Service 
and external bidding organisations. 

26. EXTERNAL BODY GRANT FUNDING 
26.1 Where a procurement process is funded, in whole or part, by grant funding which has 

been awarded to the Council by an external funding body, the Procurement Officer 
Contracts and Procurement Team must ensure that any rules or conditions imposed 
by the funding body are adhered to, in addition to the requirements of these Contract 
Procedure Rules. 

26.2 Where there is any conflict between these Contract Procedure Rules and the rules or 
conditions imposed by the funding body, the stricter requirement should be followed. 

27. APPOINTMENT OF CONSULTANTS 
27.1 The engagement of consultant architects, engineers and surveyors or other professional 

consultants including Counsel shall be subject to completion of a formal letter, contract 
of appointment or brief. 

27.2 Consultants shall be required to provide evidence of and maintain professional indemnity 
policies to the satisfaction of the relevant Deputy Chief Officer for the periods specified in 
the respective agreement. The excess for any one claim shall be no more than £1,000.00. 

27.3 Consultants shall be selected and commissions awarded in accordance with the values 
and procedures recorded in the table in Rule 9.1.3 above for services. 

27.4 Records of consultancy appointments shall be maintained in accordance with Rule 5. 
28. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CPRS 
These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated, as necessary, on an annual basis 
as part of the annual review of the Constitution. 
33. TERMINATION OF CONTRACTS (see the Log of Delegations to Officers for details of Officers 
who may action this rule) 
The Log of Delegations to Officers details which Officers may terminate a contract.  Any 
termination must be strictly in accordance with the terms of the contract and subject to consultation 
with the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer and in some cases with the relevant Portfolio 
Holder. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

138



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of:   Paul Claussen: Executive Member for Economic Development & Growth  
 
To: Cabinet: 20th September 2021 
 
Author: Rob Walker, Executive Director 
 
Subject:  Thetford Town Centre Thriving Places Programme and the Maharajah Ranjit 

& Duleep Singh Park 
 
Purpose: To update Cabinet on progress with the Thetford Town Centre activity 

programme, and seek approval to progress the name change of “Butten 
Island” in Thetford to “Maharajah Ranjit & Duleep Singh Park” 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) To note the recent progress in supporting the ongoing regeneration and growth in Thetford 

Town centre under the Council’s Thriving Places programme, and future plans to support 
the Town.  
 

2) To approve the renaming of Butten Island in Thetford to “Maharajah Ranjit & Duleep Singh 
Park” in recognition of the important cultural and historical connections to Thetford  

 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

“Thriving Places” in Thetford Town Centre, recent programme highlights  
 

1.1 Thetford is one of Norfolk’s most important centres, the fourth largest settlement in the 
county, the biggest single economy in Breckland, and home to a range of nationally 
significant industries and specialisms. With significant housing growth already underway, 
it also represents one of the strongest growth potential sites in the region and is of key 
strategic importance to the district. Under the Council’s ‘Thriving Places’ agenda we are 
working with partners to bring forward a programme of complimentary activity to continue 
to enhance the Town and support its positive, inclusive, economic growth. Key highlights 
in the recent success of the Town Centre include:   
 

1.2 Riverside Complex – an £8m asset, constructed in 2015 via Breckland Bridge, which has 
shown remarkable resilience despite tough trading conditions nationally. As of September 
2021 the complex is 100% let, and home to a mix of vibrant regional businesses.   

 
1.3 Private Sector Investment – The Town Centre is currently benefitting from over substantial 

investment from the private sector, with significant new activity including the renovation 
and reimagining of the Former M&Co site into 5 new river-facing units and workshops 
facing a redeveloped customer car park. which is due for completion early 2022. At a time 
of wider disinvestment from high streets nationally this is an incredibly positive sign for 
confidence in Thetford and the future opportunities it will generate.  

 
1.4 Market Towns Initiative Investment & Public Realm Enhancements – The Council uses 

the Market Town’s Initiative to unlock local opportunities and provide impactful locally 
directed investment. Under the current programme, since 2021, MTI has invested almost 
£70k in important new public facilities in and around the Town Centre Including new 
heritage-style footway lighting columns on Spring Walk, soon to be extended with a further 

139

Agenda Item 13



9x columns on Butten Island, as well as new recreational street furniture providing chess 
and table tennis tables for public use 

 
1.5 River Clean Up Programme – Recognising the important role of the river in the vibrancy of 

the Town Centre, the Council has invested over £40k in activity to clean up and improve 
public realm along the river corridor. This includes the removal of the disused river boat 
café which had fallen into disrepair and become an eyesore on the river, enhanced public 
realm and an intensive programme of weeding, painting, planting and street cleaning. 

 
1.6 Thetford Place Branding Project – Securing the services of the nationally renowned 

Hemingway Design agency, who have delivered exceptional place branding projects in 
York, Berwick-upon-Tweed, Crewe, Andover and many others, and delivered bold, large-
scale events in Redcar, Lowestoft, Liverpool, Blackburn and London’s Southbank Centre. 
They are currently working on new place branding vision for Thetford due for winter 2021.  
 
Proposed Maharajah Ranjit & Duleep Singh Park 
 

1.7 Thetford has a close and highly significant connection with Duleep Singh, the last 
Maharajah of the Punjab, and the first Sikh to settle in Britain in Norfolk in 1854. Duleep 
Singh’s second son, Frederick, was one of Thetford’s most prominent benefactors, giving 
the town Ancient House as well as his personal collections. This connection continues 
today, with Thetford remaining a prominent cultural site for the British-Punjabi community, 
and for Punjabi visitors from overseas.  
 

1.8 Situated by the Little Ouse River, Butten Island is the largest of the river islands within 
Thetford Town centre and offers an accessible and useable leisure and recreational area 
for local communities and visitors. It is also home to a life-size bronze statue of Maharajah 
Duleep Singh which was commissioned by the Maharajah Duleep Singh Centenary Trust 
and unveiled by the Prince of Wales in 1999. This was the first major piece of Sikh public 
art outside India, the statue is seen to symbolise bringing together history and culture. 

 
1.9 Butten Island is owned by Breckland District Council, and as owner the Council can 

formally apply any name suitable to the site. Its current moniker is believed to link to 
several local family connections and is variously referred to as both Butten and Button 
Island locally and in print.  

 
Future Programme highlights and proposals  

 
1.10 Whilst there are significant reasons to be positive, and celebrate the activity underway and 

delivered in Thetford, there remains both significant opportunity and challenge. The Town 
is home to some of the most deprived neighbourhoods nationally, and there are several 
challenges relating to skills, access to employment opportunity, and social mobility. There 
are also identified significant investment needs to help unlock opportunity and enable the 
Town to achieve its full potential. As a result, the Council is committed to a continued, and 
enhanced, set of activity to help meet the challenges and unlock the potential of the Town. 
Current plans and activity include (although are not limited to):  

 
1.11 Future Breckland and Thetford – The year-long Future Breckland programme is helping 

define, at a detailed spatial level, the evidence base and game-changing projects which 
will help unlock future potential. The expert team leading this commission are due to 
commence the Thetford activity end 2021 and conclude March 22. This work will be 
critical in helping shape investment opportunities for the future.  
 

1.12 Thetford Investment Programme – Linked to the Future Breckland Project, the Council is 
already seeking support for a nationally funded programme of investments worth almost 

140



£20m in the centre of Thetford. These would include projects around urban 
transformation, connectivity, public realm and transport. If approaches are successful, a 
full report will be brought to Council for approval.  
 

1.13 Thetford Events – Working with partners to help generate a substantial event or series of 
events following the success of the Hemmingway Design Project. This would seek to 
capitalise on some of Thetford’s unique assets and strengths and help provide compelling 
activity for both residents and visitors alike which helps anchor Thetford’s rightful place in 
the regions cultural map. 

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 Note the report, and progress the proposed renaming of Butten Island (Recommended) 

 
2.2 Note the report, and do nothing, keeping the current name of Butten Island 
 
3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
3.1 The Council’s “Thriving Places” agenda prioritises innovations at a local level which help 

enhance local areas, increase public and visitor engagement, and increases investment in 
local areas. It is believed this change, whilst modest in scale, could have significant 
positive impacts in regard to all these elements.  
 

3.2 The renaming of the island will enhance the Punjab history and culture and the 
significance to the town of Thetford, encouraging visitors. It will also provide a further 
national-level point of interest to highlight the strength and diversity of Thetford’s culture, 
and significance within historic and modern UK.  

 
4.0         EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The cultural legacy of Duleep Singh is a significant for the Thetford/Elveden area, so the 

renaming of Butten Island provides a unique opportunity to recognise and engage people 
in the cultural heritage. 
 

4.2 The Maharajah Duleep Singh Family have left important and valuable legacies, embedded 
in the people, buildings and landscape of the area. A number of trails and festivals have 
been recognised over the years taking you across Thetford, Norfolk and beyond, to follow 
in the footsteps of these significant historical figures, highlighting influences and bringing 
their stories to life. 

 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1  Corporate Priorities 

 
5.1.1 This proposal clearly supports our Corporate Plan’s Thriving Places objective of developing 

our local economy to be vibrant with continued growth. 
 
5.2  Financial  

 

5.2.1 There are no identified costs because of this proposal. The name change will not generate 
any direct costs and all printed references to the island within the Council will be replaced 
naturally through their own lifecycle requirements following implementation.   

 
 
  

141



5.3 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 

5.3.1 Key stakeholders and leaders have been involved in the development and concept behind 
the renaming, including all local Ward Members.  
 

5.3.2 Following Council approval a celebratory renaming event will be scheduled to help promote 
the new name and work with community members to celebrate and recognise its new title.   

 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 This specific proposal should directly impact all Thetford wards through increased footfall 

within local communities and visitors. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  None 
 

Background papers:- None  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post: Andrew Holdsworth, Assistant Director Economy & Growth   
Telephone Number: 07500856675  
Email: andrew.holdsworht@breckland.gov.uk   
 
Key Decision: No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Discretionary Service  
 
 

142


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	8 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2022 - 2023
	Appendix 1 for Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 2022 - 2023

	9 Local Plan Review
	LPR Cabinet report Apps 1 2 4
	LPR Cabinet Appendix 3 SCI
	LPR Cabinet Appendix 5 Local_Development_Scheme_september 2021

	10 Norfolk Strategic Flood Alliance - Strategy
	Appendix 1 NSFA Draft Strategy

	11 Quarter 1 financial performance report 2021-22
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 1 financial performance report 2021-22

	12 Constitution – Contract Procedure Rules
	13 Thetford Town Centre Thriving Places Programme and the Maharajah Ranjit & Duleep Singh Park

